
County Offices
Newland

Lincoln
LN1 1YL

1 March 2018

Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee

A meeting of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee will be held on 
Friday, 9 March 2018 at 10.00 am in Committee Room One, County Offices, 
Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YL for the transaction of the business set out on the attached 
Agenda. 

Yours sincerely

Tony McArdle
Chief Executive

Membership of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 
(11 Members of the Council and 4 Added Members)

Councillors R L Foulkes (Chairman), R J Kendrick (Vice-Chairman), M D Boles, 
Mrs W Bowkett, Mrs K Cook, S R Dodds, M T Fido, C Matthews, A P Maughan, 
L Wootten and R Wootten

Added Members

Church Representatives: Reverend P A Johnson and Mr S C Rudman

Parent Governor Representatives: Mrs P J Barnett and 1 Parent Governor Vacancy

Public Document Pack





CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AGENDA
FRIDAY, 9 MARCH 2018

Item Title Pages

1 Apologies for Absence / Replacement Members 

2 Declarations of Members' Interests 

3 Minutes of the meeting of the Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee held on 19 January 2018 

5 - 14

4 Announcements by the Chairman, Executive Councillor for 
Adult Care, Health and Children's Services and the Executive 
Director of Children's Services 

5 Proposal to amend the age ranges of Grainthorpe Primary 
School and Marshchapel Primary School (Final Decision) 
(To receive a report from Matthew Clayton, Admissions and 
Education Provision Manager, regarding the proposal to amend 
the age ranges of Grainthorpe Primary and Marshchapel Primary 
Schools (Final Decision), which will be considered by the 
Executive Councillor for Adult Care, Health and Children's 
Services on 23 March 2018)

15 - 48

6 Annual Complaints Report 2016-17 
(To receive a report from Carolyn Knight, Quality and Standards 
Manager, which provides the Committee with information on the 
Compliments, Comments and Complaints received by Children's 
Social Care for the period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017)

49 - 68

7 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service 
(To receive a report from Jonas Gibson, Commissioning 
Manager, which asks for the Committee's views on Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services, which will be considered by 
the Executive Councillor for Adult Care, Health and Children's 
Services on 16 March 2018) 

69 - 84

8 Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub-Group - 
Update 
(To receive an update from Councillor S R Dodds, Chairman of 
the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub-Group)  

85 - 92

9 Lincolnshire Religious Education Agreed Syllabus 
(To receive a report from Jill Chandar-Nair, Inclusion and 
Attendance Manager, which asks for the Committee's views on 
the Lincolnshire Religious Education Agreed Syllabus, which will 
be considered by the Executive Councillor Adult Care, Health and 
Children's Services on 19 March 2018)  

93 - 192



10 Pupil Exclusions - Proposal for a Working Group 
(To receive a report from Tracy Johnson, Senior Scrutiny Officer, 
which sets out a proposal to establish a working group to look into 
the work being undertaken by officers and schools to reduce pupil 
exclusions in Lincolnshire)

193 - 194

11 Performance - Quarter 3 2017/18 
(To receive a report from Sally Savage, Chief Commissioning 
Officer – Children's Services, which provides key performance 
information for Quarter 3 2017/18 relevant to the work of the 
Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee.
NOTE: Appendix D to this report contains exempt information 
under Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, and discussion of this information could 
result in the exclusion of the press and public)

195 - 222

12 Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee Work 
Programme 
(To receive a report from Tracy Johnson, Senior Scrutiny Officer, 
which provides the Committee with an opportunity to consider 
and comment on its work programme for the coming year)

223 - 230

Democratic Services Officer Contact Details 

Name: Katrina Cope

Direct Dial 01522 552104

E Mail Address katrina.cope@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Please note:  for more information about any of the following please contact 
the Democratic Services Officer responsible for servicing this meeting

 Business of the meeting
 Any special arrangements
 Copies of reports

Contact details set out above.

All papers for council meetings are available on: 
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/committeerecords

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/committeerecords


1

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

19 JANUARY 2018

PRESENT:  COUNCILLOR ROBERT LLOYD FOULKES (CHAIRMAN)

Councillors R J Kendrick (Vice-Chairman), M D Boles, Mrs K Cook, S R Dodds, 
M T Fido, C Matthews, A P Maughan, L Wootten, R Wootten and S P Roe

Councillors: Mrs P A Bradwell attended the meeting as observers

Officers in attendance:-

Michelle Andrews (Service Manager Early Years and Childcare Support), Debbie 
Barnes (Executive Director, Children's Services), Simon Evans (Health Scrutiny 
Officer), Mary Meredith (Head of Children's Service Manager, Inclusion), Mark 
Popplewell (Head of Finance (Children's Services)), Heather Sandy (Chief 
Commissioning Officer for Learning) and Rachel Wilson (Democratic Services 
Officer)

47    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE / REPLACEMENT MEMBERS

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Mrs W Bowkett and Mrs P 
Barnett (Parent Governor Representative).

The Chief Executive reported that having received a notice under Regulation 13 of 
the Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990, he had 
appointed Councillor S P Roe as a replacement member of the Children and Young 
People Scrutiny Committee in place of Councillor Mrs W Bowkett for this meeting 
only.

An apology for absence was also received from Councillor D Brailsford (Executive 
Support Councillor for Children's Services) 

48    DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS

Councillor M Boles requested that it be noted in relation to agenda item 8, that he 
was in receipt of thirty hours free child care.

49    MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE HELD ON 1 DECEMBER 2017

In relation to Minute 39 (Building Communities of Specialist Provision for Children 
and Young People with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities in Lincolnshire), it 
was queried why the explanation on the funding arrangements, contained in the 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
19 JANUARY 2018

minute, had not been carried forward into the agreed comments of the Committee to 
the Executive.  It was noted that the Executive had already considered the item on 5 
December 2017 and had made the decision to consult.  However, the Committee 
would be considering the outcome of the consultation, including the decision on the 
proposals at a later date.  The Committee would have a further opportunity to 
consider the funding arrangements and could pass on comments at that stage.

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting held on 1 December 2017 be signed by the 
Chairman, subject to the above being taken into account.

50    ANNOUNCEMENTS BY THE CHAIRMAN, EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR 
AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

The Chairman reported that due to work commitments, Dr Emile van der Zee had 
stood down from his role as a parent government representative on this Committee.  
It was requested that the Committee's gratitude for the contribution he had made 
since his term of office began in March 2016 be recorded.  One member commented 
that Dr van der Zee had been fully committed to his role.

The Chairman also advised that on 17 January 2018 he met with Andy Cook, the 
Youth Offending Manager, whose role included the co-ordination of the Lincolnshire 
Youth Council. A number of ways of potentially involving members of the Council in 
the activities of this Committee were discussed, which included consideration of the 
Youth Council Annual report as an agenda item.  It was reported that all suggestions 
would be considered at the next agenda planning meeting.

The Councillor Members of the Committee should have received by email the 
summary notes and action points from Big Conversation 14.  Members were 
reminded that three times per year, during school holidays, there was an opportunity 
for V4C members to meet with Children's Services Team Managers to discuss ways 
to improve services for Looked After Children.  These events were called the Big 
Conversation.  As stated in the email, the Big Conversation 15 would take place on 
Wednesday, 14 February 2018 at the Myle Cross Centre, Lincoln between 11am and 
12.30pm.  it was understood that the Big Conversation was hoping that a couple of 
representatives of this Committee would be able to attend. 

The Executive Director for Children's Services reported that Patricia Hiley, who had 
worked for Lincolnshire County Council for 32 years in fostering and adoption and 
had been awarded an MBE in Her Majesty The Queen's New Year's Honours for 
services to adoption.

51    REVENUE BUDGETS PROPOSALS 2018/19 AND 2019/20

Consideration was given to a report which described the budget proposals for the 
next two financial years based on the four year funding deal announced by 
Government as part of the 2018/19 Local Government Finance Settlement.  The 

Page 6



3
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

19 JANUARY 2018

report specifically looked at the budget implications for the following commissioning 
strategies:

 Readiness for School
 Learn & Achieve
 Readiness for Adult Life
 Children are Safe & Healthy.

It was reported that the Council continued to face significant reductions in 
government funding along with growing cost pressures, particularly around demand 
led services.

Members were guided through the report and provided with the opportunity to ask 
questions to the officers present, and some of the points raised included the 
following:

 The majority of the expenditure on the Learn & Achieve Commissioning 
Strategy was on home to school transport (approximately £25million), and it 
was stated that there were unlikely to be any opportunity for further savings 
from this budget without a policy change.

 In terms of Readiness for Adult Life, the budget for this commissioning 
strategy had seen significant reductions over the last few years and some 
universal services were no longer provided.

 It was commented that there were some things to really welcome, such as that 
there were no planned cuts to services and cost pressures were being met.

 There was an increasing number of looked after children with an increasing 
complexity of needs.  The percentage increase in looked after children was not 
as high as the national increase but it was still a significant increase.

 There was an additional cost pressure in Readiness for Adult Life due to the 
legal duty for the Council to provide supported housing to homeless young 
people over 16 years old, and due to complexity of needs the cost of provided 
supported housing was getting more expensive.

 It was recognised that there would be no real increase in budget, but it was 
queried, hypothetically, where would any additional spend be best used, if it 
became available.  From benchmarking work, it was known that Lincolnshire 
had a slightly above average spend on preventive work, but spend on child 
protection was the second lowest in the country.  This indicated that 
prevention was effective.  If more funding was available, it was suggested that 
this would be spent on prevention work, in particular with the adolescent age 
group.  It was highlighted that North Yorkshire County Council was doing 
some interesting work with young people and had engaged a clinical 
psychologist to work on speech and language skills, as many of the young 
people who experienced problems were often not able to communicate 
effectively.

 Members were informed that East Lindsey District Council had made a 
decision that care leavers would be exempt from Council Tax, and other 
members who also sat on district councils were requested to encourage their 
own districts to also adopt this policy.

 In relation to the home to school transport policy, members were informed that 
the legislation had been set in 1944 and it could be argued that this legislative 

Page 7



4
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
19 JANUARY 2018

position no longer reflected modern neds, and it was suggested it could be 
useful for this to be examined at a national level.

 It was confirmed that the cost of transporting SEN pupils was included in the 
home to school transport budget, and accounted for approximately £12million 
of the £25million budget.

 In relation to home to school transport to grammar schools, it was highlighted 
that it had been agreed to carry out a review two years after the completion 
the review by the task and finish group on the issue.  It was acknowledged that 
this had been agreed and discussions would take place on the extent of the 
review.  The Executive Councillor indicated that she would be meeting with 
various colleagues to discuss grammar school transport issues.

 It was clarified that the school leaving age had not changed, and there was no 
compulsory school education from the age of 16.  

 There were challenges in terms of transitions as young people transition to 
adults services at 18, but care leavers at 21 (shortly to be changed to 25) and 
young people with SEN at age 25.

 It was acknowledged that home to school transport was a significant financial 
risk for the Council, and it was queried how much it cost to deliver the 
Designated Transport Area system for grammar schools, as often children 
were not attending their nearest school.  It was commented that support for 
grammar school transport was a discretionary service which was outside the 
Council's statutory duty.  Members were advised that the cost of transporting 
children to grammar schools was around £3m.  If this discretionary service 
was to stop these children would still need to be transported to their nearest 
school and it was estimated that this would cost approximately £1.5m, 
therefore the additional cost to transport children to grammar school in the 
Designated Transport Area was around £1.5m.

 Members were advised that changes could not be made to the home to school 
transport policy without first changing the schools admissions policy.  This 
would also require a countywide consultation.  It was reported that because of 
the requirement to consult well, that any changes could not be implemented 
within the next two financial years.

 In terms of funding home to school transport, this was a requirement through 
the legislation set in 1944 and therefore all children were entitled to funded 
transport if they lived more than the qualifying distance from the school 
regardless of whether they attended a secondary school, academy or 
grammar.

 It was commented that home school transport was something the Committee 
would need to keep an oversight of.

 In relation to the Council's statutory duties associated with the SEND reform 
grant, it was noted that officers were working on the impact of the reduction in 
the grant, and how any risks would be mitigated.

 It was commented that East Lindsey's policy to exempt care leavers from 
Council Tax was a very good initiative, and would have a very small impact in 
terms of budgets, but it would make a big difference to the individual.  The 
Chairman advised he had already written to the Leader of South Kesteven 
District Council to ask the Executive to consider introducing this.

Page 8



5
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

19 JANUARY 2018

 Members were advised that the capital budget was not just spent on 
maintained schools.  It was noted that the Council would also fund sufficiency 
places, but only maintained schools would receive funding for improving the 
condition of the building.  If an academy was requesting to increase admission 
numbers due to parental preference then the academy would be required to 
fund that itself, however, if the academy needed to grow to accommodate 
demand from an increase in the local population this would then be funded by 
the authority. 

RESOLVED

1. That the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee support the budget 
proposals as set out in the report.

2. That the following comments be passed on to the executive for consideration:
 The Committee's primary focus was on the Home to School Transport 

Budget, and in particular the current policy for transport to grammar 
schools.  The Committee was advised that any changes to the Home to 
School Transport Policy would only impact in the long term, beyond the 
two year budget under the Committee's consideration.  This is because 
the Council's Home to School Transport Policy needs to be known to 
enable parents and pupils to make decisions about applications for 
school places. The Home to School Transport Policy remains on the 
Committee's work programme.   

 Reference was also made to the discretionary power of district councils 
to exempt care leavers from the Council Tax.  East Lindsey District 
Council had already exercised its power in this way and other district 
councils were encouraged to do so.  

 The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee supported the 
revenue and capital budget proposals for 2018/19 and 2019/20

52    THIRTY HOURS FREE CHILDCARE (THE EXTENDED ENTITLEMENT)

Consideration was given to a report which shared Lincolnshire's position on the thirty 
hours funded childcare entitlement including sufficiency to support this national 
agenda.  Members were advised that this initiative was about supporting families at 
work with childcare costs or supporting parents back into work.

It was highlighted that with child care it could be difficult to predict sufficiency needs 
as it was not always known whether parents would choose to go back to work and so 
it was a very complicated calculation.  A sufficiency assessment had been 
undertaken which had given confidence that there were sufficient placements within 
the county to be able to meet demand.

It was reported that numbers would be lower in the autumn but would gradually build 
up through the year with a peak in the summer months.  Members were advised that 
this was due to parents gradually building up their child top the full provision.

Page 9



6
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
19 JANUARY 2018

Members were provided with the opportunity to ask questions to the officers present 
in relation to the information contained within the report and some of the points raised 
during discussion included the following;

 It was clarified that an exempt school was one which did not need to register 
with Ofsted separately for child care as it was already providing education on 
the school site.  It was noted that the legislation had changed which required 
early years and child care providers to register with Ofsted.

 It was noted that the legislation relating to child minders who delivered care in 
a child's home was slightly different.

 It was noted that there were 45 providers who were not delivering the thirty 
hours, and it was queried whether there was a link between them 
geographically or was there a lack of places.  It was noted that these may 
have constraints on location so they cannot provide thirty hours, for example 
they may be using village halls.  It was also reported that the child care market 
often changed and there could be less demand in some places.  It was also 
noted that maternity leave could last for up to one year, and then when the 
end of the maternity leave approaches, parents could put their child's name 
down at two or three places before choosing which one they wanted.

 It was queried how well the providers were coping with the extension to the 
entitlement and whether it was having any negative financial impact.

 It was noted that the previous entitlement was 15 hours and parents may have 
opted to have 3 hours per morning and parents may then choose to access 
more than the 15 hours and would pay the market rate for the additional hours.  
It was also noted that in good and outstanding settings staff would often 
provide additionality to attract parents to their provision.

 Members were advised that this scheme was about getting parents back to 
work and there was a base rate payment of £3.82 to provide child care and 
education, if a setting wanted to provide additional services e.g. lunch, parents 
would need to pay for this.

 It was suggested that there was a feeling that some settings were charging for 
extras to mitigate the impact of the 30 hours free childcare.  It was also 
commented that there had been reports that some settings were informing 
parents that they had to pay for the extras in order to maintain their place.  
However, it was noted that which setting a child attended was parental choice, 
and they could leave if they were not happy with the care being provided.  Any 
extras such as snacks would need to be charged for with the agreement of 
parents, but a provider would need to allow a parent the option of bringing 
their own.

 One member commented that she had not had any residents coming to her 
with concerns about this scheme.

 It was queried whether officers were satisfied with the quality of care across 
the board or if there were any areas with too many providers.  Members were 
advised that the quality of provision was increasing everywhere.  The authority 
could offer a support package and if any child care provider was judged as 
less than good they would be contacted as soon as the Ofsted report was 
published so they could respond to any recommendations.  A team would then 
work with the provider over a fixed time based process to improve the quality.  

Page 10



7
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

19 JANUARY 2018

The percentage of providers rated as good or outstanding was increasing 
each year.

 It was queried whether parents came to the Council with reports of poor care.  
Members were advised that parents would be required to contact Ofsted first 
to report their concerns, the authority received a termly update from Ofsted so 
would be made aware of any concerns.  The authority was not able to make a 
third party complaint.

 It was suggested that this entitlement should not be referred to as free 
childcare, but maybe subsidised or sponsored instead.

 One member commented that different providers had different offers in terms 
of what they would provide, and parents could 'shop around' to find the 
provision that worked best for them, but parents did have choices.  He also 
reported that from personal experience, he had found the policy very positive 
as it had allowed him and his wife to both return to work full time.  He advised 
that the Gateway was easy to use and they had not experienced any problems 
and overall this approach was welcomed.

RESOLVED

That the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee endorse the local 
authority's approach to securing sufficient funded education places for eligible 
children.

53    INCLUSIVE LINCOLNSHIRE STRATEGY - POLICY REVIEW

Consideration was given to a report which updated the Committee on the progress of 
the Inclusive Lincolnshire Strategy.  It was reported that the Inclusive Lincolnshire 
Strategy was introduced in December 2015 and the aim was to address the problem 
if a rising and unsustainable rate of permanent exclusion from Lincolnshire schools.  
This had resulted in Lincolnshire being consistently the highest excluder of primary 
phase children nationally and nearly the highest of secondary, which had been well 
documented in previous reports.

Members were advised that the Lincolnshire Ladder of Behavioural Intervention, now 
widely known as 'The Ladder', was at the heart of the Strategy.  This was designed to 
support schools in focusing on the underlying drivers of challenging behaviour, rather 
than just its outward presentation.

The Committee was guided through the report and provided with the opportunity to 
ask questions to the officers present in relation to the information contained within the 
report, and some of the points raised during discussion included the following:

 It was commented that the Strategy was showing an improvement, but in 
relation to the finding from the  'Falling through the Gaps' report from the 
Children's Commissioner that some schools were excluding pupils for the 
benefit of the school rather than the child, it was queried whether there was a 
link between increasing exclusions and academisation.

Page 11



8
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
19 JANUARY 2018

 It was noted that in terms of numbers, in the primary sector, academies and 
maintained schools were at the same level.  Where a spike was seen, it 
tended to be when an academy was taken over by a new sponsor

 The goal of the Ladder was for pupils to stay in their home school.
 Members were advised that officers met with the regional lead from Ofsted on 

a regular basis.
 It was noted that in relation to 'illegal' exclusions, schools would come under a 

high degree of scrutiny from Ofsted for these practices in the future.
 It was queried whether an increase in the number of schools who were cynical 

when this was first introduced, now coming on board was being seen.  
Members were advised that this was being seen in some schools.

 It was noted that there were some Pupil Referral Units which were in need of 
improvement.

 In relation to the CHIPS (Collaborative Headteacher Inclusion Panels), it was 
highlighted that there were a few schools who were not participating, and it 
was queried why these schools were not taking part.  It was noted that this 
could be due to them not having high numbers of exclusions.  Members were 
advised that the vast majority of schools were involved.  There were four 
Panels in the county covering the Wolds, Lincoln, Grantham and South 
Holland.

RESOLVED

That the content of the report and the comments made be noted.

54    PROPOSED CHANGES TO ENHANCED RESOURCE PROVISION UNITS 
SUPPORTING CHILDREN WITH HEARING IMPAIRMENTS

Consideration was given to a report which invited the Committee to comment on the 
report entitled 'Proposed Changes to Enhanced Resource Provision Units Supporting 
Children with Hearing Impairments' which was due to be considered by the Executive 
Councillor for Adult Care, Health and Children's Services for decision on 2 February 
2018.

Members were advised that Children's Services had undertaken a comprehensive 
review of the provision of support to children with hearing impairments who were 
currently supported through an Enhanced Resource Provision (ERP) unit.  There 
were four units across Lincolnshire, two primary and two secondary and each unit 
was attached to a school and specialist teaching support was provided through the 
Sensory Education Support Team.  It was reported that children only spend part of 
their time in the unit, receiving targeted support, with the remaining time the child was 
educated and supported within a mainstream class setting.

It was reported that a public consultation had been undertaken in October/November 
2017 which presented four options for future provision of the service.  Members were 
informed that feedback had been received from 15 individuals, which had been 
considered in making the proposed recommendation.

Page 12



9
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

19 JANUARY 2018

The Committee was advised that it was recommended that the Executive Councillor 
approve Option 4 as set out in the report which was to decommission the four 
Enhanced Resource Provision units as from 29 March 2018 (end of Spring Term), 
removing the provision from the Council's Local Offer, and to support children in 
mainstream school settings.

Members were provided with the opportunity to ask questions to the officers present 
in relation to the information contained within the report and some of the points raised 
during discussion included the following:

 It was queried what the impact on those children currently in ERP units would 
be and members were assured that there would be very little impact as they 
would be staying in the ERP and be supported by a specialist teacher outside 
of the classroom.  They would receive the same level of support, and the 
teachers would still be available to the school, but they would not be on site all 
the time, but come in at allocated times.

 Members felt confident that Option 4 was the right decision, after seeing the 
responses to the consultation from parents.

 There would be time to support children to get used to the change.
 It was emphasised that this was not about cost savings.
 Members were encouraged by the level of consultation which had been 

carried out.
 It was commented that this was vital for other children so that they got used to 

being around people with different needs and promoted a community that was 
inclusive where everyone was working together.

RESOLVED

1. That the Committee support the recommendation to the Executive Councillor 
as set out in the report.

2. That the following comment be passed to the Executive Councillor in relation 
the report:

 On 19 January 2018, the Children and Young People Scrutiny 
Committee considered this report, and noted that Appendix C to this 
report provided the detail as requested at its October meeting.  The 
Committee agreed to support the recommendations in this report.  The 
Committee has noted that its questions and comments at the October 
meeting had been addressed by the consultation and would like to put 
on record its gratitude for the care and attention to detail, which formed 
part of the overall consultation process.   

55    CORPORATE PARENTING SUB GROUP UPDATE

The Committee received a report which provided members with the opportunity to 
consider the minutes of the Corporate Parenting Sub Group which met on 7 
December 2017.

It was reported that in relation to Minute Number 29 (Visiting Member Overview of 
Residential Care) a meeting to refresh visiting members on their role had been 
arranged for 23 March 2018.

Page 13



10
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
19 JANUARY 2018

In relation to Minute Number 33 (Corporate Parenting Strategy Update) it was noted 
that the following councillors had volunteered for the Working Group to refresh the 
Strategy: David Brailsford, Chris Brewis, Kate Cook, Robert Foulkes, Rob Kendrick, 
Mrs Angela Newton Rob Parker and Clio Perraton-Williams.  It was also noted that 
Councillor Sarah Dodds had volunteered for this Working Group.

It was requested whether the electronic appointment for the meeting on 23 March 
2018 could be resent to Councillor Cook.

RESOLVED

That the draft minutes as presented, and the points made above be noted.

56    CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK 
PROGRAMME

Consideration was given to a report which enabled the Committee to consider and 
comment on the content of its work programme for the current year to ensure that 
scrutiny activity was focused where it could be of greatest benefit.

It was discussed whether the proposed items on Educational Progress of Looked 
After Children (LAC); Post Adoption Support; and Support for Foster Carers should 
be solely considered by the Corporate Parenting Sub-Group as they fell under the 
remit of the Sub-Group.  It was agreed that this would be discussed with Councillor 
Brailsford at the next pre-meeting for the Corporate Parenting Sub-Group.

Members were advised that the Looked After Children Strategy was being refreshed 
and that this item merited consideration by this Committee.

RESOLVED

That the work programme as set out in Appendix A to the report be agreed.

The meeting closed at 12.10 pm

Page 14



      

Policy and Scrutiny 

Open Report on behalf of Debbie Barnes, Executive Director of Children's 
Services 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 09 March 2018 

Subject: Proposal to amend the age ranges of Grainthorpe 
Primary School and Marshchapel Primary School 
(Final Decision) 

 

Summary:  

This report invites the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee to 
consider a report on the Proposal to amend the age ranges of Grainthorpe 
Primary School and Marshchapel Primary School (Final Decision) which is due 
to be considered by the Executive Councillor for Adult Care, Health and 
Children's Services on 23 March 2018. The views of the Scrutiny Committee will 
be reported to the Executive Councillor as part of her consideration of this item. 
 
 

Actions Required: 

The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is invited to 

(1) consider the attached report and to determine whether the Committee 
supports the recommendation(s) to the Executive Councillor for Adult 
Care, Health and Children's Services as set out in the report.   

 
(2) agree any additional comments to be passed to the Executive Councillor 

for Adult Care, Health and Children's Services in relation to this item. 
 

 
1. Background
 
The Executive Councillor for Adult Care, Health and Children's Services is due to 
consider a report on the Proposal to amend the age ranges of Grainthorpe Primary 
School and Marshchapel Primary School (Final Decision). The full report to the 
Executive Councillor is attached at Appendix 1 to this report. 
 
2. Conclusion
 
Following consideration of the attached report, the Committee is requested to 
consider whether it supports the recommendation(s) in the report and whether it 
wishes to make any additional comments to the Executive Councillor. The 
Committee’s views will be reported to the Executive Councillor.   
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



 
 
3. Consultation 
 

 
 

 
 

a)  Have Risks and Impact Analysis been carried out? 
 

 

See report to the Executive Councillor attached at Appendix 1. 
 

 

b)  Risks and Impact Analysis 
 

 

See report to the Executive Councillor attached at Appendix 1. 
  

 

 

 
4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report. 

Appendix 1 Report to the Executive Councillor for Adult Care, Health and 
Children's Services on Proposal to amend the age ranges of 
Grainthorpe Primary School and Marshchapel Primary School 
(Final Decision) 

 

 
5. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
 
This report was written by Matthew Clayton, who can be contacted on 01522 
555353 or matthew.clayton@lincolnshire.gov.uk. 
 
  
 

Page 16

mailto:matthew.clayton@lincolnshire.gov.uk


 
Executive Councillor 

 

Open Report on behalf of Debbie Barnes, Executive Director of Children's 
Services 

 

Report to: 
Councillor Mrs P A Bradwell, Executive Councillor: 
Adult Care, Health, and Children's Services 

Date: 23 March 2018 

Subject: 
Proposal to amend the age ranges of Grainthorpe 
Primary School and Marshchapel Primary School 
(Final decision)  

Decision Reference: I014445  

Key decision? Yes  
 

Summary:  

Lincolnshire County Council has a statutory duty to ensure that there are 
sufficient school places within its area to accommodate all pupils of statutory 
school age who live in Lincolnshire. The Council is also committed to supporting 
the future viability of small rural primary schools where a viable structural 
solution can be found. 
 
The proposal under consideration is to change the age ranges of Grainthorpe 
Primary School and Marshchapel Primary School. 
 
The proposal is to change Marshchapel Primary School from an age range of 4 
to 11 to an infant school with an age range of 3 to 7 (to formally include Early 
Years provision). The proposal for Grainthorpe Primary School is to 
permanently change it from an age range of 4 to 11 to a junior school with an 
age range of 7 to 11. The proposed implementation date is 1 September    
2018. 
 
The proposal would require that from 1 September 2018 children in the junior 
cohorts (Y3 to Y6) at both schools will be placed on roll and educated at 
Grainthorpe, and all infant cohorts (Reception to Y2) at both schools will be 
placed on roll and educated at Marshchapel. The early years provision (pre-
school age) would remain as it is on site at Marshchapel. The two schools 
would remain separate schools but in a hard federation with one Governing 
Body and one executive Head. North Cotes CE Primary School is currently also 
part of the Fenlands Federation with Marshchapel and Grainthorpe. North Cotes 
will remain as a 4 to 11 school and is not part of this proposal. The Local 
Authority believes that this proposal is the best available option to address the 
expected and existing low pupil numbers across the area to ensure that both 
schools have the best opportunity for an educationally and financially 
sustainable future and to enable high quality teaching and learning to take 
place. 
 

Page 17



The Local Authority is co-ordinating the process following statutory guidelines 
published in the Department for Education (DfE) guide "Making 'prescribed 
alterations' to maintained schools. Statutory guidance for proposers and 
decision makers" (April 2016) in accordance with the terms of the Education 
and Inspections Act 2006, as updated by the Education Act 2011. 
  
On 25 September 2017 a five week period of consultation commenced which 
closed on 6 November 2017 and is further referred to later in this report in the 
Consultation section. A summary of written responses received is also attached 
in Appendix A. 
 
Following the consultation period the decision was taken on 29 November 2017 
to publish a Statutory Notice on 3 January 2018. This initiated a four week 
Representation Period up to 31 January 2018 when written objections and 
comments may be submitted. The process is now entering the final stage when 
the Local Authority (LA), as decision maker, must take the final decision 
regarding the proposal within 2 months from the end of the Representation 
Period (by 23 March 2018). 
 
This report seeks to advise the Executive Councillor on making the final 
decision regarding the proposal to change the age ranges of both Grainthorpe 
Primary School and Marshchapel Primary School. 

 
 

Recommendation(s): 

That the Executive Councillor approves the proposal to change the age ranges 
of Grainthorpe Primary School from an age range of 4 to 11 to a junior school 
with an age range of 7 to 11 and Marshchapel Primary School from an age 
range of 4 to 11 to an infant school with an age range of 3 to 7 (to formally 
include Early Years provision). 

 
 

Alternatives Considered: 

1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Council retains the two schools as they are. 
 
The above alternative would have the following disadvantages: 
 
To keep operating both primary schools would mean children continuing to 
attend two very small schools, consequently placing greater demands on a 
small number of staff to adequately deliver the full primary age curriculum 
entitlement. With low numbers of children on roll the staffing structures will 
have to reduce in one of the schools to set a balanced budget in the 
future. Continued low pupil numbers mean that schools are unlikely to be 
able to deliver a high standard of education that all pupils are entitled to, 
with multiple year groups in single classes being necessary to make 
efficiency savings. Staff recruitment and retention could also become more 
of a challenge. It is not possible to set a balanced budget for both schools 
remaining as two separate primary schools without having a negative 

Page 18



 
 
 
 
 
 

impact on the quality of the education. 
 
Should the proposal not be approved by the Executive Councillor, there 
are concerns over the medium to long term financial sustainability over the 
current school structure. By agreeing to the proposal, the schools have an 
opportunity to secure their future sustainability. 
 

 

Reasons for Recommendation: 

The decision to consult has been taken in the context of concern over the long 
term educational and financial sustainability of both schools in relation to being 
able to offer quality education to pupils with the resources available, whilst 
being able to set a balanced budget with low pupil numbers.  
 
Very small schools require a disproportionate amount of funding. The sparsely 
populated county of Lincolnshire makes it necessary to sustain smaller schools 
to meet the needs of local communities across wide rural areas, and the LA’s 
funding formula supports this. However, when pupil numbers remain low the 
situation becomes unsustainable. Individual schools are not legally allowed to 
set a deficit budget without a realistic medium term plan showing how the deficit 
will be turned around or how the finances across a hard federation can sustain 
all the schools within it. Nor do the regulations allow the LA to provide funding in 
addition to their delegated budget to support a deficit.  
 
Current and projected pupil numbers for Marshchapel and Grainthorpe indicate 
that there are sufficient numbers to operate a successful infant school and 
junior school model in the medium term, but not enough to maintain two stand-
alone primary schools with a broad and balanced curriculum delivering a 
consistently high quality education to all age groups.   
 
Combining the year groups of both schools and operating as an infant school 
and junior school will assist both schools in setting an overall balanced budget 
by having a more efficient classroom structure, whilst benefiting pupils at both 
Grainthorpe and Marshchapel primary schools in terms of the breadth and 
quality of education all children are entitled to. Operating as an infant school 
and junior school would increase pupil numbers in each year group and reduce 
the incidence of teaching more than two year groups in one class.  This would 
enable pupils to receive a more rounded education and offer greater social 
interaction. This model has already been successfully trialled across the 
federation with some year groups (Years 5 and 6 at Grainthorpe) and has 
received positive feedback from pupils, parents and staff, with Grainthorpe 
recently being graded Good by Ofsted. This proposal looks to develop that 
arrangement on a more permanent basis and adopt that model across all year 
groups across the two sites. 
 
A further benefit from this proposal is that it could potentially improve staff 
recruitment and retention in the future, as specialist teachers for Early 
Years/Foundation Stage, Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2 could develop within 
their preferred area of expertise. It would also present more of an opportunity to 

Page 19



focus on effective spending to meet the needs of individual pupils through 
targeted provision. 
 
It would also ensure that appropriate facilities are available to each age range 
e.g. specialist early years and infant facilities at Marshchapel, and outdoor 
space desirable at junior age with the field at Grainthorpe (Marshchapel has a 
remote school field). If this proposal is implemented it may also provide an 
opportunity to consider investment into both schools to provide enhanced infant 
and junior facilities if required. 
 
The LA considers the proposal to be the most appropriate available solution to 
provide the best opportunity to safeguard the future of both schools. 
 

 
1. Background 
 
A changing age profile of the rural population in recent years has resulted in a 
trend towards lower numbers of families with primary age pupils choosing to live in 
small rural communities. There are no longer sufficient pupil numbers in the 
immediate area for two viable primary schools to remain educationally and 
financially sustainable. The table below on the left shows the potential reception 
numbers for Marshchapel and Grainthorpe. The table on the right shows the 
current number on roll (as at October 2017).  
 
Also included is their PAN (Published Admission Number) for comparison. 
 

Voronoi PAN R2020 R2019 R2018 R Y1 Y2 Y3 Y4 Y5 Y6

Grainthorpe School 10 7 6 4 1 2 4 3 3 6 9

Marshchapel Primary School 8 7 6 2 9 6 9 13 11 11 6

Totals 18 14 12 6 10 8 13 16 14 17 15

October 2017 Number on Roll Census DataLincolnshire Community Health Service Birth Data 2017 by Reception Intake Year

 
 
Below is how the numbers would look if the proposals were implemented at this 
time which clearly shows better balanced class sizes which would enhance the 
learning and social experience of the children on roll at these schools. 
 

R 10

Y1 8

Y2 13

Total 31

Y3 16

Y4 14

Y5 17

Y6 15

Total 62

Grainthorpe Primary School 

(Proposed PAN of 15) Capacity 

70

Marschapel Primary School 

(Proposed PAN of 15) Capacity 

56

 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



The map below shows the relevant geographical area. 
 

 
 
© Crown Copyright and database right 2015. Ordnance Survey 100025370 

 
 
Birth data shows a consistent cohort size below the capacity in this area going 
forward.  
 
The proposal being consulted on is to change Marshchapel Primary School from 
an age range of 4 to 11 to an infant school with an age range of 3 to 7 (to formally 
include Early Years provision). The proposal for Grainthorpe Primary School is to 
permanently change it from an age range of 4 to 11 to a junior school with an age 
range of 7 to 11. The proposed implementation date is 1 September 2018. 
 
Having larger class sizes will benefit the learning experience of the children and 
increase the number of classroom activities available to them.  
 
If the proposal is approved, it is intended that any necessary building/refurbishment 
work will begin later in 2018 and planned to be completed in advance of the start of 
term in September 2018. At Marshchapel Primary School the intention is to install 
some new toilets and then convert the existing bathroom facilities into a group 
room/office. In addition to this, the current outdoor play equipment at Grainthorpe 
Primary School, which has been condemned, will be replaced and made fit for 
purpose for children of junior age. This work would be managed to cause minimal 
disruption to the schools during term time making the best use of school holidays 
where possible.  

Page 21



Reaching the decision – Preliminary Considerations 
 
The requirements for decision making relating to school organisation in LA 
Maintained schools are set out in the guide "Making 'prescribed alterations' to 
maintained schools.  Statutory guidance for proposers and decision-makers" (April 
2016) published by the DfE. 
 
The DfE does not prescribe the exact process which a decision maker should 
follow but the decision maker must have regard to this guidance. The decision 
maker should consider the views of those affected by the proposal and should not 
simply take account of the numbers of people expressing a view but give greatest 
weight to those stakeholders most likely to be affected and especially the parents 
of children at the school concerned. 
 
Factors to be considered by Decision Makers 
 
The Consultation and Representation Period 
 
The Executive Councillor must be satisfied that the appropriate consultation and 
representation periods have been carried out and that all of the responses received 
have been given due consideration. 
 
Although there is no longer a prescribed consultation period prior to the publication 
of the Statutory Notice and Complete Proposal the DfE's guidance states "a strong 
expectation on schools and LAs to consult interested parties in developing their 
proposal prior to publication". The LA conducted a five week period of pre-
consultation to fulfil this expectation and also to operate a fair and open process 
and ensure all views were considered. A Statutory Notice (Appendix B) and 
Complete Proposal (Appendix C), initiating a four week Representation Period, 
were published in accordance with current statutory requirements. 
 
Responses submitted during both the Consultation and Representation Period 
have been made available to the Executive Councillor for consideration when 
taking the final decision and further details of these responses are provided in 
section 6 of this report (Consultation). 
 
Education standards and diversity of provision 
 
The Executive Councillor should consider the quality and diversity of schools in the 
area and be satisfied that the proposal will meet the aspirations of parents, 
contribute to raising local standards of provision and lead to a closing of attainment 
gaps. The Government’s aim is to create a more diverse school system offering 
excellence and choice so that every child receives an excellent education whatever 
their background and wherever they live.  
 
Grainthorpe Primary School was rated overall by Ofsted as a 'Good' school at its 
last inspection in November 2016 and Marshchapel Primary School was rated as 
a 'Good' school in July 2014.   
 

Page 22



The LA believes that this proposal provides the best option to improve progress 
and standards of attainment with an enhanced quality of education for current and 
future children in the area whilst maintaining diversity. 
 
Demand 
 
Birth data supplied by Lincolnshire Community Health Service (for January 2017) 
confirms that future cohorts in this geographical area cannot support the existence 
of two primary schools.  
 
Therefore, a permanent sustainable solution is needed to safeguard the future of 
both schools. 
 
Current and projected pupil numbers for Grainthorpe and Marshchapel indicate 
that there are sufficient numbers to operate a successful infant school and junior 
school model. 
 
School size 
 
Assumptions that schools should be of a certain pupil number size to be a good 
school should not be made although the financial viability and cost-effectiveness of 
a proposal is an important factor in the decision-making process.  
 
If the proposal is not approved and the school numbers remain low, the future of 
one of the schools' would become financially unsustainable and would be unable to 
provide a broad and balanced curriculum to such small class sizes would be a 
significant challenge.  
 
Proposed admission arrangements 
 
Before approving the proposals the LA must ensure that the admission 
arrangements of the schools are compliant with the School Admissions Code. The 
proposed change in age ranges at Grainthorpe Primary School and Marshchapel 
Primary School will be processed in accordance with the School Admissions Code 
to determine admission arrangements for the academic year commencing 
September 2018. Those children attending Marshchapel Primary School in Y2 will 
not automatically be given a place at Y3 at Grainthorpe Primary School when they 
move up a year group after Y2 in future. They will have to apply for a school place. 
However, it is highly unlikely that a place would not be available. All of the children 
in YR to Y5 currently on roll in this academic year will be offered a place at either 
the new infant or junior school setting depending on their age. If parents do not 
wish to take up that offer they are entitled to put in a mid-year application for 
another school, and if they have a space available they may wish to move their 
child if the offer of a school place is made. 
 
National Curriculum 
 
All maintained schools must follow the National Curriculum unless they have 
secured an exemption. Grainthorpe Primary School and Marshchapel Primary 

Page 23



School currently follow the National Curriculum and will continue to do so if the 
proposed changes are approved. 
 
Equal Opportunity 
 
The LA must have 'due regard' to the need to eliminate discrimination, advance 
equality of opportunity and foster good relations and should consider whether there 
are any sex, race or disability discrimination issues that arise out of the proposed 
changes. There should be a commitment to provide access to a range of 
opportunities which reflect the ethnic and cultural mix of the area while ensuring 
that such opportunities are open to all.  
 
There are no sex, race or disability discrimination issues arising from this proposal. 
All new facilities will be compliant with current equality legislation. The LA will 
continue to be committed to provide access to a range of opportunities which 
reflect the ethnic and cultural mix of the area while ensuring that such opportunities 
are open to all.  
 
Community cohesion 
 
The impact on the community must be considered and schools have a key part to 
play in providing opportunities for young people from different backgrounds to learn 
from and respect each other and gain an understanding of other cultures, faiths 
and communities. The decision-maker must take account of the community served 
by the school and the views of different sections of the community. 
 
By adopting an Infant/Junior model the future of the two schools would be secured 
and should pupil numbers increase in the future there would be scope to return to 
the existing model.  
 
With increased class sizes comes increased diversity which will provide a broader 
spectrum of learning and socialisation for the children.  
 
Travel and accessibility 
 
The Executive Councillor should be satisfied that accessibility planning has been 
properly taken into account and that proposed changes do not adversely impact on 
disadvantaged groups. Proposals should not unreasonably extend journey times or 
increase transport costs or result in too many children being prevented from 
travelling sustainably due to unsuitable walking or cycling routes. The proposal 
should be considered on the basis of how it will support and contribute to the 
Council’s duty to promote the use of sustainable travel and transport to school.  
 
The LA will continue to work with Highways, planners and the school to ensure that 
any potential issues are taken into consideration. The LA will continue to look for 
suitable solutions to help mitigate against all concerns. 
 
The County Council home-to-school transport policy will continue to apply – this 
provides free home-to-school transport for pupils to their nearest designated 
school (if it is more than 2 miles away for primary aged pupils) but it is expected 

Page 24



that most pupils will live within a two mile radius of the school. However, the route 
between the two sites is considered to be an unsuitable walking route, so parents 
will be entitled to home to school transport being provided and funded, should 
they require it e.g. infant aged children that live in Grainthorpe would be entitled to 
transport to Marshchapel Infant School (and vice versa). 
 
Capital 
 
There is a small amount of capital investment (approximately £60k) required to 
ensure that the sites are better suited to the specific age groups, but these 
enhancements are related to condition and improvement work that will improve 
facilities and are affordable with available capital funding. 
 
School premises and playing fields 
 
All schools are required to provide suitable outdoor space to both enable physical 
education for pupils in accordance with the curriculum and also for pupils to play 
outside safely. DfE guidelines suggest areas for pitches and games courts but 
these are non-statutory.  
 
By replacing the condemned outdoor play equipment at Grainthorpe Primary 
School the LA will be improving facilities for current and future pupils and enabling 
physical activity to take place in a safe environment. 
 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Provision and SEND 
Improvement Test 
 
If the proposal is approved there is likely to be a positive impact with regard to 
SEND provision in that children with additional needs may have the opportunity to 
be educated in small breakout groups more often if there are a greater number of 
pupils of a similar age and/or comparable needs.The LA will continue to ensure 
suitable provision for all children with special educational needs and disabilities 
and consideration of their needs will take place with physical access being assured 
should a need be presented. The LA will continue to look to make improvements in 
the standard, quality and/or range of the education provision for children with 
SEND and so meet the Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Test. 
 
2. Legal Issues: 
 
Equality Act 2010 

Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the Council must, in the exercise of its 
functions, have due regard to the need to: 

*           Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under the Act 

*           Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it 

*           Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

Page 25



The relevant protected characteristics are age; disability; gender reassignment; 
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation 

Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity involves having 
due regard, in particular, to the need to: 

*           Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic 

*           Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it 

*           Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionately low 

The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different from 
the needs of persons who are not disabled include, in particular, steps to take 
account of disabled persons' disabilities. 

Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who share 
a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having 
due regard, in particular, to the need to tackle prejudice, and promote 
understanding. 

Compliance with the duties in section 149 may involve treating some persons more 
favourably than others. 

The duty cannot be delegated and must be discharged by the decision-maker.  To 
discharge the statutory duty the decision-maker must analyse all the relevant 
material with the specific statutory obligations in mind.  If a risk of adverse impact is 
identified consideration must be given to measures to avoid that impact as part of 
the decision making process. 

 

An Impact Equality Assessment (Appendix B to this report) has been carried out.  
A positive impact in relation to age is that there will be larger class sizes for 
children of the same age which will improve their educational experience and aid 
their socialising skills. They will also be able to participate in a wider number of 
sporting activities which are not feasible when class sizes are so low.  
 
A positive impact with regards to disability is that children with additional needs 
may have the opportunity to be educated in small breakout groups more often if 
there are a greater number of pupils of a similar age and/or comparable needs. 
 
A negative impact is that there may be some slight disruption in relation to building 
work. However, this would be managed to cause minimal disruption to the schools 
during term time making the best use of school holidays where possible. The 
benefit of this work is that the facilities at both schools will be improved which 
should negate any initial disruption. 
 
Another negative impact is that those children attending Marshchapel Primary 
School in Y2 won't automatically be given a place at Y3 at Grainthorpe Primary 
School when they move up a year group after Y2 in future. They will have to apply 
for a school place. However, it is highly unlikely that a place wouldn’t be available. 

Page 26



All of the children in YR to Y5 currently on roll in this academic year will be offered 
a place at either the new infant or junior school setting depending on their age. If 
parents do not wish to take up that offer they are entitled to put in a mid-year 
application for another school, and if they have a space available they may wish to 
move their child if the offer of a school place is made. 

In addition to the above there will be some minor disruption to pupils who have to 
travel slightly further to school but the LA believe that this is preferable to the 
possibility of one of the schools having to close due to it not being able to remain 
financially or educationally viable. 

 

Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(JHWS) 

The Council must have regard to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 
and the Joint Health & Well Being Strategy (JHWS) in coming to a decision. 

Having regard to the Joint Strategic Needs Analysis two areas have been identified 
that are pertinent to this consultation, which are educational attainment and 
childhood obesity.  In relation to educational attainment, by adopting an infant and 
junior model, class sizes of similar age groups will be larger which will make more 
school activities feasible thereby improving the learning opportunities of the 
children. With regards to childhood obesity, larger year group sizes will make team 
sports a more viable option.  

 

Crime and Disorder 

Under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must exercise its 
various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those 
functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and 
disorder in its area (including anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting 
the local environment), the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in its 
area and re-offending in its area. 

 
3. Conclusion 
 
The final decision is required from the Executive Councillor to determine whether 
to approve the proposal to change the age ranges of Grainthorpe Primary School 
and Marshchapel Primary School as detailed in this report. The factors to 
consider in making this decision are within this report and all valid written 
responses received during consultation and the Representation Period (see 
section 6 Consultation) must be considered. 
 
The LA believes this proposal to be in the best interests of local children and 
local parents as well as education provision in the area and it supports the 

Section 17 has been considered but there are not considered to be any 
implications for crime and disorder of the proposed decision. 

Page 27



council's aim of ensuring that as many children as possible can reach their full 
potential.  
 
It is recommended that the proposal is implemented to ensure the best 
educational opportunities for the children of Marshchapel, Grainthorpe and the 
wider area. The advantages of implementing this proposal are detailed earlier in 
this report in the "Reasons for Recommendations" section. 
 

4. Legal Comments: 
 
The Council is the decision-maker for school alteration proposals of this type 
under the School Organisation (Prescribed alterations to maintained schools) 
Statutory guidance for proposers and decision-makers (April 2016). The decision-
maker may reject the proposal, approve the proposal without modification or 
approve the proposal with such modifications as the Council considers desirable 
but only after consultation on those modifications with the governing body. 
 
The Council as decision-maker may make the approval of the proposal 
conditional but only on specified matters contained in the Regulations. 
 
The proposal is consistent with the Policy Framework and within the remit of the 
Executive Councillor. 
 

 

5. Resource Comments: 
 
The recommendation in the report to amend the age ranges of Grainthorpe 
Primary School and Marshchapel Primary School will deliver sustainable budgets 
for the two schools based on the indicated pupil numbers compared to the two 
primary schools currently in operation as they are. The recommendation will allow 
optimum class structures to operate, which will benefit pupils at both schools in 
terms of breath and quality of education. The delegated budget shares for the two 
schools will be re-determined from September 2018 based on the distribution of 
pupils across the infant and junior model.  
 
The sufficiency of pupil numbers is important for all schools due to the 
government's drive for school funding to be allocated predominately through 
pupil-led factors. The recommendation will achieve financial efficiencies delivering 
effective use of resources. It is important that both schools seek to drive up pupil 
numbers to secure its future in the medium to longer term.   
 
The financial cost of the recommendation to the Council's home to school 
transport budget is £62k p.a. based on every pupil taking up the offer (which is 
unlikely). This cost represents 0.24% of the overall home to school transport 
budget. Consideration will be made on how this is managed internally. 
 
The capital investment of £60k will be met from the capital programme to provide 
condition and improvement work to the sites.         
 

Page 28



6. Consultation 
 
In order for the age ranges of Grainthorpe Primary School and Marshchapel 
Primary School to be changed the Local Authority must follow the necessary 
statutory processes in accordance with the Education and Inspections Act 2006, 
the Education Act 2011 and the guidance "Making 'prescribed alterations' to 
maintained schools. Statutory guidance for proposers and decision-makers" 
(April 2016) issued by the DfE. 
 
Under these guidelines the LA must ensure that sufficient time and information 
are provided for people to understand, form a view on the proposal and make a 
response. Under the DfE guidelines which came into effect in April 2016 there is 
no longer a prescribed consultation period for significant changes to schools 
(including physical expansions). However there is a "strong expectation on 
schools and LAs to consult interested parties in developing their proposal prior to 
publication". To comply with this the Local Authority has conducted a four week 
period of pre-consultation. Any documentation issued must set out the problem 
that is being addressed and invite comment on one or more solutions. The local 
Authority must explain the decision making process and take all reasonable 
steps to draw the proposal to the attention of all those who might be interested 
and take into account their views. 
 
The Education and Inspections Act 2006 specifically includes as interested 
parties the registered parents of registered pupils at the school and also the 
appropriate District and parish Councils for the area. The guidance issued by the 
DfE in April 2017 does not prescribe a definitive list of consultees. The list of 
interested parties was therefore compiled comprising as wide a range of 
consultees as practicable to ensure that all interested parties were included and 
incorporated parents of current pupils, the District Council, as well as individual 
County, District and Parish Councillors as appropriate. Children at both schools 
were given the opportunity to discuss the change of age proposals via the school 
and the majority were happy and enthusiastic about the changes. 
 
A letter incorporating relevant information and reasons for the proposal was sent 
out to interested parties on 25 September 2017 to commence a four week period 
of consultation. Meetings were held at both schools on 9 October 2017 to allow 
any interested parties to ask questions, discuss the proposals and raise any 
concerns. Representatives from the Governing Body and LA were present. 
Approximately 15 people took up this offer and as a result of these meetings a 
question and answer document was drafted which was published on the LCC 
website and is included as Appendix D of this document. There was the 
opportunity to provide a response to the consultation by letter, email or by 
returning the response form attached to the consultation document by 6 
November 2017. Copies of the letter commencing consultation and the response 
form were also published on the County Council website under the webpage 
'Current Consultations' on www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/schoolorganisation 
 
All written responses received during consultation have been made available to 
the Executive Councillor for consideration and further details are confirmed in this 
report in Appendix A. To briefly summarise, however, there were five responses 

Page 29

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/schoolorganisation


with four in favour and one neither for nor against the proposals. All comments 
made will be taken into consideration by the Executive Councillor in the decision 
making process. 
 
Following the completion of the consultation period all feedback was considered 
with a full report (which is referred to in the Background Papers section below 
and will also be re-considered along with this report) by the Executive Councillor 
and a decision was taken on 29 November 2017 to proceed to Statutory Notice. 
A statutory 4 week Representation Period was entered into on 3 January 2018 
commencing with the publication of the Statutory Notice (Appendix B) in the local 
press (The Louth Leader), on the Lincolnshire County Council's website and at 
the school gates of Grainthorpe Primary School and Marshchapel Primary 
School. The Complete Proposal, available in paper and electronic format 
(Appendix C) to which the Statutory Notice refers, was sent to interested parties 
as detailed in the statutory guidance and was also published on the County 
Council website under the webpage 'Current Consultations' on 
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/schoolorganisation .The Representation Period provided 
a further opportunity for people and organisations to express their views and 
ensure that they are taken into account when the final decision is taken. Six 
responses were received during the Representation Period, three in favour, two 
against the proposal and one neither for nor against. 
 
Under current legislation the Local Authority is the decision maker for the 
proposal and is co-ordinating the statutory process before making a final decision 
by 23 March 2018. The LA, as decision-maker, must be able to show that all 
relevant issues raised are taken into consideration in the decision making 
process. Points raised can be considered unpersuasive but must not be ignored 
altogether. 
 
The last stage of the statutory process would be the implementation of the 
proposal with the change to age ranges of Grainthorpe Primary School and 
Marshchapel Primary School with effect from September 2018. 
 
a) Has Local Member Been Consulted? 
 
Yes 
 

 
 

b) Has Executive Councillor Been Consulted?  
 
 Yes 
 
c)  Scrutiny Comments 

The decision of whether to proceed with the change of age ranges of 
Grainthorpe Primary School and Marshchapel Primary School will be discussed 
by the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee on 9 March 2018. 
Comments from the Committee will be passed onto the Executive Councillor. 
 

 
 

 

d)  Have Risks and Impact Analysis been carried out? 

Yes 

Page 30

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/schoolorganisation


e)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

An Impact Assessment has been completed and in summary the analysis 
indicates that there will be a positive impact arising out of the Executive 
Councillor's decision. 
 

7. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Summary of written consultation responses 

Appendix B Statutory Notice 

Appendix C Complete Proposal 

Appendix D Question and Answer Document 

 
8. Background Papers 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Report on the proposal to 
change the age ranges of 
Grainthorpe Primary 
School and Marshchapel 
Primary School (decision 
to go to Statutory Notice) 

Lincolnshire County Council Committee Records 
Reference I014445 

The DfE guide "Making 
'prescribed alterations' to 
maintained schools. 
Statutory guidance for 
proposers and decision-
makers" (April 2016) 

Available on request from the School Organisation 
Planning Team, Children's Services 

Equality Impact Analysis Available on request from the School Organisation 
Planning Team, Children's Services 

Individual consultation 
responses 

Individual responses available to be viewed by the 
decision-maker. Content of responses anonymised 
and summarised to this report in Appendix A 

 
 
 
This report was written by Matthew Clayton, who can be contacted on 01522 
553535 or matthew.clayton@lincolnshire.gov.uk  
 

 

 

 

Page 31

mailto:matthew.clayton@lincolnshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

Written Responses in the Consultation and Representation Period on the proposed age range change for Grainthorpe Primary School and Marshchapel Primary School
Point of View Supports 

Proposal

Against 

Proposal 

Not For or 

Against  

Other comments/Notes

Local Authority Y The Early Years Childcare and Support team support the change to a lower age range at Marshchapel as part of their infant school 

developments.
Parent/Carer Y I would prefer that my children attended a school in their village. My only issue is transport to Grainthorpe and lack of parking there. 

Hopefully the children will be transported there.
Parish Coucil Y Marshchapel Parish Council want to support whatever is the best way forward for both schools to remain open and viable. The Parish 

then forwarded 5 questions regarding PAN and transport.
Other School Y There is a clear rationale to sustain the viability of these two rural schools. The proposal does not adversely affect the provision of

church school education at North Cotes.
Parent/Carer Y Because I wish to have continuity in my son's education and as long as that rests with the federation I am not concerned with the

move. It would be good to keep both schools open as we need our rural schools. The standard of learning is second to none and the

staff are caring and focused on the children.
Parent/Carer Y Whilst it is more convenient for my children to remain attending Marshchapel Primary School I can see that the new proposal makes

sense. Therefore I am in favour of the proposal.
Parent/Carer Y Whilst it is more convenient for my children to remain attending Marshchapel Primary School I can see that the new proposal makes

sense. Therefore I am in favour of the proposal
Parent/Carer Y Our child has been at Marshchapel from Nursery and has continued through the school. Marshchapel is not the nearest school to us

however we chose this school for both our children. I transport to and from Marshchapel but am unable to do this to Grainthorpe,

being another 2-3 miles away. Will transport be provided as it is currently? My choice of schools has now been taken away.

Parent/Carer Y I would like to lodge an objection to changing Marshchapel Primary School's age range. Due to my situation I require and rely on the 

support of the school being within walking distance of my home and the provision of breakfast/afterschool club. Grainthorpe and 

North Cotes are not within walking distance.
Other School Y I would like to support this proposal. This is a positive proposal in that it appears it will develop the federation's capacity to provide a 

high quality and sustainable education for all pupils.
Parent/Carer Y I personally have a child that will be left at Marschapel School and the other will be sent to Grainthorpe if this proposal goes ahead.

Surely this leaves a minimal amount of children at Marschapel and thus makes no sense how Marschapel can then survive the process

or warrant keeping that school open.

I understand the logic of the playing field and other facilities at Grainthorpe and trying to keep Grainthorpe open. As the school

currently holds reception upwards why can't Grainthorpe accommodate the same again near enough or year 1 upwards all at

Grainthorpe or even year 2, upwards? Leaving nursery and reception at Marschapel. 

It would provide stability to the children instead of them being moved at a critical year. The classes could still be split so that the age

ranges are not too wide in each class eliminating younger ones being accommodated with older children so learning can be pin

pointed. 

P
age 33



0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Supports
Proposal

Against
Proposal

Not For or
Against

Consultation Responses Overview Consultation Responses Overview 

Supports
Proposal

Against
Proposal

Not For or
Against

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

Responding Consultees 

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

4.5

Transport Start and Finish Times

Key Noted Reasons Given 

P
age 34



Proposal to change the age ranges of Grainthorpe Primary School and 
Marshchapel Primary School 

 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN in accordance with section 19(1) of the Education and 
Inspections Act 2006 as updated by the Education Act 2011 that Lincolnshire County 
Council, County Offices, Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YQ intends to make prescribed 
alterations to both Grainthorpe Primary School, Fen Lane, Grainthorpe, Louth, LN11 
7JY, and; Marshchapel Primary School, Sea Dyke Way, Marshchapel, Grimsby, 
DN36 5SX with effect from 1 September 2018.  
 
The proposals are to change Marshchapel Primary School from an age range of 4 to 
11 to become an infant school with an age range of 3 to 7 (including Early Years 
provision); and for Grainthorpe Primary School to permanently change its age range 
from 4 to 11 to become a junior school with an age range of 7 to 11.  The proposed 
implementation date is September 1st 2018. Both schools are proposed to have a 
PAN (Published Admission Number/Intake) of 15. 

 
The prescribed alterations being consulted on are related to each other. One cannot 
be implemented without the other. All statutory consultation requirements in respect 
of this proposal have been complied with.  
 
The proposal would require that from 1st September 2018 children in the junior 
cohorts (Y3 to Y6) at both schools will be placed on roll and educated at Grainthorpe 
and all infant cohorts (Nursery/Reception to Y2) at both schools will be placed on roll 
and educated at Marshchapel.  The early years provision (pre-school age) would 
remain as it is on site at Marshchapel. The schools would remain separate schools 
but in a hard federation with one Governing Body and one executive Head. North 
Cotes CE Primary School will remain as a 4 to11 primary school. 
 
This Notice is an extract from the complete proposal. Copies of the complete proposal 
can be obtained by writing to: School Organisation Planning Team, Children's 
Services, Lincolnshire County Council, County Offices, 51 Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YL 
or by calling 01522 553392 or by emailing schoolorganisation@lincolnshire.gov.uk or 
under 'Current Consultations' via www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/schoolorganisation 
 
A copy of the County Council’s Home to School Transport policy can be obtained 
online at www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/schooltransport 
 
Within four weeks from the date of publication of this proposal, any person may 
object to or make comments on the proposal by sending them to School Organisation 
Planning, Children's Services, Lincolnshire County Council, County Offices, 51 
Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YQ or by emailing schoolorganisation@lincolnshire.gov.uk 
 
Further details on the consultation which have led to this proposal can be accessed 
online under 'Current Consultations' via 
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/schoolorganisation 

 
Signed:  

 
 
 
 
 

Debbie Barnes 
 

Executive Director of Children’s Services 
Lincolnshire County Council 

 

 
Publication Date: 3 January 2018 

Page 35

mailto:schoolorganisation@lincolnshire.gov.uk
http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/schoolorganisation
http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/schooltransport
mailto:schoolorganisation@lincolnshire.gov.uk
http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/schoolorganisation


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

 
 
 
 

Complete Proposal  
 

To amend the age ranges of  
Grainthorpe Primary School and Marshchapel 

Primary School 
 

 
MATTERS TO BE SPECIFIED IN SECTION 19 OF THE EDUCATION AND 

INSPECTIONS ACT 2006 
 

 PROPOSALS TO MAKE A PRESCRIBED ALTERATION TO A SCHOOL 
 

 
 

03 January 2018 

Page 37



 

Page 1 

Contact details 
 
This proposal has been published by Lincolnshire County Council, County Offices, 
Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YQ regarding the change of age ranges of Grainthorpe 
Primary School, Fen Lane, Grainthorpe, Louth, LN11 7JY and Marshchapel Primary 
School, Sea Dyke Way, Marshchapel, Grimsby, DN36 5SX 
 
Implementation 
 
The proposal is to change Marshchapel Primary School from an age range of 4 to 11 
to an infant school with an age range of 3 to 7 (to formally include Early Years 
provision).  The proposal for Grainthorpe Primary School is to permanently change it 
from an age range of 4 to 11 to a junior school with an age range of 7 to 11.  The 
proposed implementation date is September 1st 2018. 
 
Objections and Comments 
 
Any person or organisation may object to or make comments on the proposal by 
sending them to the School Organisation Planning Team, Children's Services,  
Lincolnshire County Council, County Offices, Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YQ or by 
emailing schoolorganisation@lincolnshire.gov.uk to be received by the deadline of 
31 January 2018. 
 
Alteration Description 
 
The proposal under consideration would require that from 1st September 2018 
children in the junior cohorts (Y3 to Y6) at both schools will be placed on roll and 
educated at Grainthorpe and all infant cohorts (Reception to Y2) at both schools 
will be placed on roll and educated at Marshchapel.  The early years provision 
(pre-school age) would remain as it is on site at Marshchapel. The two schools 
would remain separate schools but in a hard federation with one Governing Body 
and one executive Head. North Cotes CE Primary School is currently also part of 
the Fenlands Federation with Marshchapel and Grainthorpe. North Cotes will 
remain as a 4 to 11 school and is not part of this proposal. The Local Authority 
believes that this proposal is the best available option to address the expected and 
existing low pupil numbers across the area to ensure that both schools have a 
sustainable future and to enable high quality teaching and learning to take place. 
 
School Capacity and Site 
 
The current capacity at each school is 56 at Marshchapel with a Published 
Admission Number (PAN/Intake) of 8, and 70 at Grainthorpe with a PAN of 10. The 
Marshchapel site is quite restricted, with the playing field being detached from the 
main school site, but has good indoor facilities suitable for Infant aged children. 
Grainthorpe has a large outdoor area making it ideal for Junior age children. The 
new model would see a PAN of 15 adopted at each school with Marshchapel having 
an age 4-7 capacity of 45 (plus Early Years) and Grainthorpe with an age 7-11 
capacity of 60. There would be some minor internal alterations made on the 
Marshchapel site to make it suitable for younger children with appropriate toilet 
facilities. And minor external upgrades at Grainthorpe for outdoor play for Junior age 
pupils. 
 

Page 38

mailto:schoolorganisation@lincolnshire.gov.uk


 

Page 2 

Objectives  
 
The proposal detailed in this document is to change the age ranges of Grainthorpe 
Primary School and Marshchapel Primary School. 
 
The LA considers this to be the most appropriate solution to address the expected 
and existing low pupil numbers across the area and to secure the future of both 
schools. The LA believes the proposal to be in the best interests of local children 
and local parents as well as educational provision in the area and it reinforces the 
priorities in the Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) and the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS). 
 
The proposal will ensure that the provision of school places is planned so as to 
promote high educational standards, enable fair access to educational opportunity 
for every child and promote the fulfilment of each child's potential. This proposal 
will both enhance the quality of provision and sustain local provision and at the 
same time it will assist in meeting parental preference. It is also an opportunity to 
address some related suitability and condition issues (such as the outdoor play 
equipment at Grainthorpe Primary School, and the installation of new toilets at 
Marshchapel Primary School). 
 
The LA believes this proposal to be in the best interests of local children and 
parents, as well as educational provision in the area. The LA also believes it 
supports the council's aim of ensuring that as many children as possible can reach 
their full potential. It also enables the LA to fulfil its statutory duty of providing 
sufficient places to accommodate all pupils of statutory school age in Lincolnshire. 
It is recommended that the proposal is agreed to ensure the best educational 
opportunities for the children living within the Grainthorpe and Marshchapel area. 
 
Consultation  
 
In order for the school to change the age ranges of Grainthorpe Primary School and 
Marshchapel Primary School the LA must follow the necessary statutory legal 
processes as required by the Secretary of State in accordance with the Education 
and Inspections Act (EIA) 2006 and updated by the Education Act 2011 together 
with the guidance of the Department for Education (DfE) regarding expansion. The 
relevant DfE guidance was updated in April 2016. Under this guidance there is no 
longer a requirement for a prescribed consultation period prior to the publication of 
the Statutory Notice and Complete Proposal. However, the DfE still has a strong 
expectation that LAs will consult interested parties in developing their proposal. To 
fulfil this expectation the LA undertook a fair and open consultation to ensure all 
views were considered. 
 
Consultation originally began on 25 September 2017 with a letter, incorporating 
relevant information and reasons for the proposal, sent to all parents of pupils 
attending the school informing them of the proposal. Interested parties were also 
informed as required by guidelines issued by the DfE. In addition, on 09 October 
2017, individual drop in sessions were offered to parents to discuss the proposal 
further with an LA officer. These meetings were offered to allow those having an 
interest in this proposal to be able to gather information, ask questions and get 
involved in the debate.  
 

Page 39



 

Page 3 

All parents/carers and other interested parties were given the opportunity to respond 
as part of the consultation process by 06 November 2017. Copies of the letter 
commencing consultation and the response form were also published on the County 
Council website under the webpage Current Consultations on 
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/parents/schools/for-schools/school-organisation-planning-
team/current-consultations/ 
 
All written responses received during consultation have been provided to the 
Executive Councillor for consideration in the decision making process. To briefly 
summarise there were five valid responses in total with four in favour and one 
neither for nor against.  
 
Under current legislation the LA is the decision maker for the proposal and is co-
ordinating the statutory process before making a final decision in March 2018. The 
LA, as decision maker, must be able to show that all relevant issues raised are taken 
into consideration in the decision making process.  
 
Project Costs 
 
There are no significant financial implications arising from the recommendation in 
this report, i.e. to change the age ranges of Grainthorpe Primary School and 
Marshchapel Primary School from 1 September 2018.  The changes for both of the 
schools will allow them to become more financially sustainable compared to the 
current arrangements. The schools will continue to be funded through the schools 
funding formula with delegated budgets from the Dedicated Schools Grant to fund 
the running of the schools. 
 
Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) provision  
 
A positive impact with regards to SEND provision is that children with additional 
needs may have the opportunity to be educated in small breakout groups more often 
if there are a greater number of pupils of a similar age and/or comparable needs. 
 
Need for places 
 

A changing age profile of the rural population in recent years has resulted in a trend 
towards lower numbers of families with primary age pupils choosing to live in small 
rural communities. There are no longer sufficient pupil numbers in the immediate 
area for two viable primary schools to remain educationally and financially 
sustainable. The table below shows the potential reception numbers for 
Marshchapel and Grainthorpe. Also included is their PAN (Published Admission 
Number) for comparison.  
 
The 'voronoi' referred to is the natural catchment area of the school by straight line 
distance if all pupils went to their closest school. 
 

  

Voronoi PAN R2020 R2019 R2018 R2017 Y1 Y2 Y3 Y4 Y5 Y6

Grainthorpe School 10 7 6 4 9 5 11 3 5 12 8

Marshchapel Primary School 8 7 6 2 6 6 3 10 5 10 11

Totals 18 14 12 6 15 11 14 13 10 22 19

Lincolnshire Community Health Service Birth Data 2017 by Reception Intake Year January 2017 Number on Roll Census Data (rolled on a year)

Page 40

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/parents/schools/for-schools/school-organisation-planning-team/current-consultations/
http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/parents/schools/for-schools/school-organisation-planning-team/current-consultations/


 

Page 4 

 
 
Both primary schools were rated as "Good" at their last Ofsted inspections. The 
schools are popular with local parents and children but there are insufficient pupil 
numbers to sustain two primary schools in this area.  
 
Related Proposals  
 
The prescribed alterations being consulted on are related to each other. One cannot 
be implemented without the other. 
 
What will happen now?  
 
Any person may object to or make comments on this proposal by sending them to 
the School Organisation Planning Team, Children's Services,  Lincolnshire County 
Council, County Offices, 51 Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YQ or by emailing 
schoolorganisation@lincolnshire.gov.uk 
 
At the close of the 4 week representation period (statutory formal consultation) on 31 
January 2018 responses will be collated and analysed and a further report will be 
presented to the Executive Councillor for a final decision in March 2018 on the 
expansion of the school. The representation period is the final opportunity for people 
and organisations to express their views about the proposal and ensure that they will 
be taken into account by the decision maker. 
 

 

Page 41

mailto:schoolorganisation@lincolnshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Consultation on the proposal to change the age ranges of Grainthorpe Primary 
School and Marshchapel Primary School 

 
Grainthorpe and Marshchapel Public Consultation Meeting at Grainthorpe 
Primary School at 1.30pm on 9 October 2017 
 
Panel Members: Heather Sandy (Assistant Director of Children's Services/chair) 
                           Matthew Clayton (Education Provision Planning Manager) 
                           Marilyn Bell (Chair of Governors) 
                           Kate Rouse (LCC Education Support) 
                           Vicky Johnson (Interim Executive Head) 
 
The following is a record of the questions and answers at the meeting. 
 
 
Q We will have children split across two sites – will time be lost in school due to transport time? 

A There is a statutory obligation for specific time to be spent in school. The beginning and the end of 

the school day will be set to take this into consideration and the start/end times of each schools will be 

staggered. Transporting pupils from one site to another on a regular basis will not form part of the 

school day. 

 

Q I don't want my Reception age child travelling via bus. 

A Unfortunately the rural nature of Lincolnshire does mean that many children have to travel to school 

via bus, taxi or car. Whilst it would be preferred that all children could walk to a local school, we must 

support small rural schools remaining viable, and we believe the many positives of this proposed 

model outweigh the negatives.  

 

Q One of my reasons for choosing this school was because of small class sizes. 

A Class sizes must remain of a viable size. All schools will structure their class organisation to ensure 

that they remain efficient and affordable on the available budget. If this proposal does not go ahead 

then it is quite possible that class sizes at both schools would have to be increased, but there would 

be more than two year groups in a class to make it affordable as two separate primary schools. 

 

Q Are we able to choose Grainthorpe as a Junior School but a different school for infant age? 

A Yes, parents can apply for a different school. Those that choose a different school for infant age 

(even if it is Marshchapel) will have to apply for a Y3 school place when their child is in Y2, and can 

do so to any school. 

Page 43



 

Q Could Marshchapel be a Nursery only and Grainthorpe be the Primary School? 

A It is a model that could be considered, but then all Marshchapel residents would have to travel (or 

be transported) in all year groups to Grainthorpe. There may also be limitations on the capacity of 

Grainthorpe to be of sufficient size to cope with all Marschapel and Grainthorpe pupils in one primary 

school. This is not a model we are considering. 

 

Q Has any consideration been given to increased traffic and encouraging healthy access to schools 

and additional traffic through the villages? 

A The school travel plans will need to be updated to minimise the impact on traffic. There may be 

options that could be considered such as using the village hall as a car park for a 'park and ride' 

initiative, along with consideration of other mitigating options. 

 

Q I am concerned about class numbers and size. I wanted smaller numbers in a village school. 

A Too few numbers can be a barrier to children's full development. Teachers prefer two year groups 

or less rather than multiple or cross key stage (see also answer to previous similar question) 

 

Q My daughter and I have high hopes for what she wants to achieve, but I don't want this proposal to 

have a negative impact on that. 

A The LA and schools also want all children to have the best possible opportunity to achieve their full 

potential and we believe that this proposal offers that opportunity. 

 

Q We will need a full coordination across both schools? 

A This will happen and parents will need to be kept informed. 

 

Q Lack of information out of Marshchapel regarding changes to the school day. How will we all be 

kept informed and know what is happening at each school? 

A We will reflect on this with the Governing Body and look to improve this. 

 

Q Is mixing year groups trickier at early age, such as Years 1 and 2 together? 

Page 44



A This proposal consolidates more children of similar ages. Smaller villages tend to have to mix 

several year groups. The more we can do to reduce the number of year groups in a single class the 

better it is for the staff and the pupils. Ideally no more than one or two year groups would be taught in 

a class, but sometimes this is unavoidable in small rural schools. 

 

Q If there was sufficient demand to need more than 30 plus would class be split into 2? 

A Each year all schools look at the numbers they have and decide the best way to deliver a 

curriculum to the children that are there with the resources available. Infant Class Size regulations 

mean that there should be no more than 30 pupils in a class for Reception to Year 2. 

 

Q I have 2 children one in Year 1 and one in Year 4 and I live just outside of Marshchapel. I want to 

know how the logistics will work? 

A A detailed transport plan will be put together for a proposal at the formal consultation and 

discussion will take place to identify individual parent/pupil needs at the appropriate time so that the 

necessary arrangements could be put in place. 

 

Q Although I'd prefer all year groups to be at my local village school, I think this model will offer the 

best educational experience for my child. 

A Noted. 

 

Q I think that preventative measures now with a good model in place will ensure the future of the 

school in both villages. 

A Noted 

 

Grainthorpe and Marshchapel Public Consultation Meeting at Marshchapel 
Primary School at 5.30pm on 9 October 2017 
 

Q I can't argue with the rational. Education at the heart. Practicality is the issue when split sites have 

staggered starts. We wanted our children to go to the same school which will be lost for a couple of 

years as well as the practical issue. What about breakfast clubs etc. A lot of pressure for parents with 

split schools. What about childcare based in the village? 

Page 45



A We acknowledge that it will be more of a challenge for some parents. We will be looking at 

transport arrangements for each individual parent and their circumstances. These are difficult 

decisions and we want both schools to have a viable future. There may be improved opportunities for 

before and after childcare. 

 

Q Breakfast club with transport could be a good option. Nobody wants either school to close so can 

understand why this proposal has been made. 

A Noted. 

 

Q There used to be a three tier education system. There was a move away from this for a reason so 

how is this different? 

A The three tier system was different in that it introduced a middle school which spanned primary and 

secondary. This model is still retaining a primary model with benefits of less year groups being taught 

in one class. There are several very successful infant/junior models across the county. This proposal 

prevents age 7 to 11 all being in one class with educational and social challenges and allows 7-9 and 

9-11 in separate classes. 

 

Q You mentioned staggered start/finish. Will both do the same amount of hours at each school? How 

will this be affected? 

A Travel time will not come out of the teaching time. When organising transport arrangements there 

will be individual conversations to determine best arrangements to put in place. The mandatory 

amount of hours will be taught at each school.  

 

Q Logistics of picking up and dropping off will be the biggest challenge. So will there be transport? 

One of the reasons for choosing Marshchapel is because we live within walking distance. Apart from 

that it sounds like a good idea, even if I have to pay for transport. 

A Where appropriate to do so the Local Authority would arrange and fund transport. 

 

Q This proposal appears to be a move away from better class sizes and still have mixed classes. 

Does this proposal get away from mixed? 

Page 46



A If we stayed as two primary schools there would have to be more mixed year groups. The proposal 

would protect the quality of education and the viability of the schools to avoid closure and reduce the 

number of year groups that have to mix in a class. 

 

Q I am concerned about the impact on the ethos and feel of these village schools and community 

schools. My choice is being taken away from me. 

A The option to stay as they are would be a bigger class of 3/4/5/6 in a single class, or similar size 

classes of 3/4 and a 5/6 in the new model. Alternative options to the proposed model would be a 

significant challenge in terms of the finance and a quality education. This proposal appears to best 

option to present the best solution to support the futures of both schools. 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  
Policy and Scrutiny 

 

Open Report on behalf of Debbie Barnes, Executive Director of Children’s 
Services 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 09 March 2018 

Subject: Annual Complaints Report 2016-17 

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

The attached report provides the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 
with information on the Compliments, Comments & Complaints received by 
Children's Social Care for the period 1st April 2016 to 31st March 2017. 
 
 

Actions Required: 

The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is invited to endorse the 
action plan contained in the Annual Complaints Report 2016-17. 
 

 
1. Background
 
It is a statutory requirement under the Local Authority Social Services and National 
Health Service Complaints (England) Regulations 2009 to produce an annual 
complaints report. This report fulfils the Council's statutory duty to produce a report.  
 
This report seeks to outline the themes which arise from complaints received and 
identify any learning which may be required and needs to be taken on board in 
order to improve service provision.   A complaint is considered to be an expression 
of dissatisfaction about a specific incident or a given situation. All complaints 
received by Lincolnshire County Council are dealt with under the following 
procedures: 
 

 Statutory complaints procedures  

 The schools complaints procedures  

 The council’s corporate complaints procedure.  
 
This report focuses on complaints that relate specifically to Children's Social Care 
(including adoption and fostering). School complaints and corporate complaints are 
dealt with separately and information about them is not included within the scope of 
this report.   
 
During the period 1st April 2016 to 31st March 2017, there were 128 complaints 
which is the lowest number received in the last ten years. Of the 128, 16 went to 
stage 2 and 6 to stage 3. 43% of the complaints were due to conduct and attitude 

Page 49

Agenda Item 6



 

and 29% due to communication. The majority of complaints were unsubstantiated 
52 (41%) with a significant number having been partially substantiated 43 (34%).  
There were 7 (5.5%) complaints which were substantiated. In addition there were 
24 (18.75%) complaints where the outcome remains unknown due to staff not 
completing paperwork. A comprehensive action plan has been developed which is 
underway. 
 
2. Conclusion
 

It is positive that there were a low number of complaints last year, but the reasons 
for them are of concern as they relate to conduct and attitude and lack of 
communication. The action plan once fully implemented should address this. 
 
3. Consultation 

 
a)  Have Risks and Impact Analysis been carried out? 

No 

b)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

N/A 
 

4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Annual Complaints Report 2016-17 

 
 

5. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
 
This report was written by Carolyn Knight, who can be contacted on 01522 553732 
or carolyn.knight@lincolnshire.gov.uk.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 50

mailto:carolyn.knight@lincolnshire.gov.uk


 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Putting children first "Working 
Together with Families to 

Enhance Children's Present and 
Future Lives" 

Vision 
 
 

Annual Complaints Report  
2016-2017 

 

 
  

Page 51



 

2 
 

Contents  

  Page No 

1 Complaints Definition 3 

2 Complaint Legislation 3 

3 Complaint Procedure 3-4 

4 Advocacy and Engagement 5 

5 Complaints made by children who are Looked After 5-6 

6 Statistical Analysis 6-12 

7 Themes 12-13 

8 Issues for Learning 13-14 

9 Conclusion 15-17 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



 

3 
 

Introduction   

Lincolnshire County Council is an authority who welcomes 

all feedback which may serve to increase understanding of the experiences of customers who 

receive services. With this in mind the authority is keen to make use of complaints as a means of 

improving services for children and their families. It is anticipated that the speedy resolution of 

complaints will maximise the prospect of a good outcome.  

This report is written in compliance with the statutory complaints guidance issued by the 

Department of Education – Getting The Best From Complaints.  The report deals with complaints 

received by children, Young People and their families between the period of 1st April 2016 and 

31st March 2017.  This report is provided under the Local Authority Social Services and National 

Health Service Complaints (England) Regulations 2009. This report fulfils the Council's statutory 

duty to produce a report.  

This report seeks to outline the themes which arise from complaints received and identify any 

learning which may be required and needs to be taken on board in order to improve service 

provision.   

1. Complaints definition 

A complaint is considered to be an expression of dissatisfaction about a specific incident or a 

given situation.  All complaints received by Lincolnshire County Council are dealt with under the 

following procedures;  

 Statutory complaints procedures  

 The schools complaints procedures  

 The council’s corporate complaints procedure.  

This report focuses on complaints that relate specifically to Children's Social Care (including 

adoption and fostering). School complaints and corporate complaints are dealt with separately 

and information about them is not included within the scope of this report.   

2. Complaints legislation  

The regulations require that every local authority appoint a complaints officer to ensure 

provision of a robust social care complaints and representation procedure to eligible service 

users. The framework for handling Children’s Social Care Complaints within England is laid out 

within the Regulations.  

 

3. Children’s Social Care Complaints Procedures 

 

Complaints Management:  

 

Lincolnshire County Council has a dedicated Complaints Officer who is based within the 

Customer Feedback Team.  Complaints can be made at any point in the local authority with all 

complaints being forwarded to the feedback mail box. The mail box is managed by the 

Page 53



 

4 
 

Customer Feedback Team who will view all complaints. 

Where complaints may be ambiguous, the complainant 

will be contacted in order to gain greater clarification. 

When a complaint is received directly from a child or young person discussions are held with 

the Social Worker allocated to the child, in order to ascertain whether additional support might 

be required by the child in order for them to pursue their complaint.     

 

The Complaints Officer's role is to ensure that all complaints which are received are responded 

to in line with the authority’s social care procedure and to this end they will chase responses to 

ensure that these are sent out within specified timescales. In addition the Complaints Officer 

will ensure that information in respect of complaints is recorded in order that themes and 

issues can be identified.  

 

Complaints Procedure  

 

There are various stages to the complaints process which are outlined below. It should be noted 

that whilst there are clear timeframes for complaints to be addressed at each stage of the 

complaints process, there will, on some rare occasions, be a need to extend this timeframe. This 

may include the complainant child requiring an advocate when the complaint is particularly 

complex. If additional time is required the complainant will be notified of this at the earliest 

opportunity.  

 

Stage one – Local Resolution  

Complaints received are forwarded to the appropriate manager to address the concerns. An 

acknowledgement is sent to the complainant within two working days and in most cases a full 

response will be provided with ten working days. In some circumstances i.e. where the 

complaint is particularly complex or the young person might require an advocate a further ten 

days is permitted to address the complaint. When this is the case the complainant will be 

notified.  

 

Stage two – Independent Investigation  

When an individual is unhappy with the outcome of the stage one complaint they are able to 

request an independent investigation.  The timeframe for this stage of the complaints process is 

25 working days with an extension to 65 working days.  

 

Stage three – Review Panel 

If the complainant remains unhappy with the outcome of a stage two complaint they can 

request an independent panel to review how the complaint was handled. The panel must meet 

within 30 working days of the request.  

 

It should be noted that whilst the internal process concludes at stage three, if the complainant 

remains unhappy with the outcome they are able to approach the Local Government 

Ombudsman. This report does not extend to any issues addressed at this level.    

 

Page 54



 

5 
 

 

4. Advocacy and Engagement  

 

In April 2015 Lincolnshire County Council commissioned Voicability to provide independent 

advocacy for children and young people who might wish to make a complaint. (This represented 

a change, with the previous advocacy service having been NYAS).  All children and young people 

who wish to take advantage of this service are able to do so. The Complaints Officer ensures 

that children and young people are aware of this service when they seek to make complaints. 

The majority of complaints made by young people are supported by advocacy services. In the 

year 2016-17 Advocates supported three young people to make complaints, the reasons were 

as follows: 

 

Lack of communication from social worker 

 

Not receiving the financial assistance they were entitled to as a Looked after child 

 

Not getting support from school or the SEND team 

 

There were other cases where young people indicated initially that they may want to complain 

but did not feel the need once their wishes and feelings were shared. There were also referrals 

regarding complaints where the young person didn’t engage with the advocate. 

 

5. Complaints made by children Looked After  

 

As soon as a child starts to be looked after by the local authority they are provided with a 

"coming into care kit." This provides them with information as to how they can express any 

feelings of dissatisfaction they may have including making formal complaints.  There are 

however a number of informal dispute resolution options which are available to children and 

young people who are in the care of the local authority. These include the following:-   

  

Independent Reviewing Officers:  The Independent Reviewing Officer has a duty to engage with 

children and young people to ascertain their views in respect of their care plans and also to 

advise them of their entitlements including their right to complain. Children are encouraged to 

attend their reviews in order that they are aware of their plan and are able to comment on this. 

Where children's wishes are contrary to the plan the Independent Reviewing Officer is able to 

escalate matters on behalf of the child in order to resolve matters in a timely manner. Where 

children and young people continue to be dissatisfied the Independent Reviewing Officer is able 

to support young people in making formal complaints.   

 

Regulation 44 Visits: The Regulation 44 Officer is an Independent Visitor who visits all 

residential homes within the authority on a monthly basis. An integral part of the role of the 

Independent Visitor is to talk to children, young people and their families about their 

experiences of the residential home. The Regulation 44 Visitor is able to engage in discussions 

with the homes manager in order to resolve any issues which the child may identify.  Where this 

Page 55



 

6 
 

early attempt at resolution is not successful the 

Independent Visitor is able to support the young person 

in making a formal complaint.  

 

Social Workers: Social Workers meet with children on a regular basis. A fundamental part of 

this visiting is ascertaining the wishes and feelings of children and young people. Where 

children are unhappy with the level of care which they are receiving, their social worker will in 

the first instance work with the child to see whether changes are able to be made which would 

comply with the child's wishes. Social Workers are able to direct children to the advocacy 

service if they wish to pursue a formal complaint.  

 

Level of complaints for children who are looked after have remained very low. For the year 

2016 to 2017 there were a total of seven complaints made.  Four of these were partly 

substantiated; this is an increase of 3 complaints on the previous year. It would appear that only 

one of these complaints was made by a young person whose belongings were lost when he 

moved between placements.  

 

6. Statistical Analysis  

This section provides performance statics relating to the management and handling of all 

children’s social care complaints received in the 2016/2017 financial year.  

Complaints received 

There were a total of 128 complaints received in 2016/2017 which represents a 12% decrease 

from the previous year. This is the lowest recorded figure in the last ten years. The previous 

lowest figure was 130. In relation to the number of complaints made in the year, the 

breakdown is as follows: 

Q1-32 

Q2-27 

Q3-33 

Q4-36 

There is some variation in terms of the number of complaints which have been made over a ten    

year period with the lowest number of complaints being 128 and the highest 188. This year’s 

complaints represent a 32% decrease from the highest number of complaints.  

 

 

 

 

Page 56



 

7 
 

 

Table 1: Comparison of complaints for 2014/5,  

2015/6 and 2016/7 

 

 

 

Table 2: Summary of number of complaints over the last ten years  

Year  2007- 
2008 

2008- 
2009 

2009- 
2010 

2010- 
2011 

2011- 
2012 

2012- 
2013 

2013- 
2014 

2014- 
2015 

2015- 
2016 

2016-
2017 

No of 
complaints 

157 139 130 180 158 146 188 130 146 128 

 

Complaints by service area 

An analysis has been undertaken as to which service areas received complaints. As can be seen 

in Table 4, no complaints were recorded for the Independent Chairs Team and only one 

complaint was received for Adoption and two for Fostering. The highest number of complaints 

were in relation to the South Kesteven Team which recorded 22, of these 3 were substantiated 

and 9 were partly substantiated.  

 

130 

146 

128 

115

120

125

130

135

140

145

150

Number of Complaints

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

Page 57



 

8 
 

Table 4: Complaints by service area 

 

Complaints by Stage  

Of the 128 initial complaints that were made, 16, (12.5%) of these moved on to stage two, and 

6 (4.6%) moved on to stage three. In comparison with last year, 14% moved to stage 2 which is 

a decrease this year and 4% to stage 3, up to 6% this year. Ten of the complaints that moved 

onto stage two were resolved in this period .Of these ten complaints, each complaint consisted 

of several elements, referred to as complaints which meant that 110 complaints in total were 

addressed for these ten complainants.  The stage two complaints are investigated by 

Independent Investigators who conclude whether the complaint is upheld, not upheld, partially 

upheld or no findings made. Of the 110 elements, 18 were upheld, 1 1partially upheld. 73 not 

upheld and 4 had no findings. In addition there are 4 complaints with no outcomes recorded. 

Whilst the reasons for the complaints that went to stage two were varied, some learning can be 

extracted in relation to the upheld complaints. These tended to relate to inappropriate 

comments made by staff, misinformation, Social Workers not doing what they said they would 

do, not providing documents when requested (threshold document, complaints leaflet and 

consent forms). Some of these issues will be addressed by the restorative practice training 

which is currently being rolled out. 

Six complaints went to stage three and eight were resolved in this year. Each complaint had a 

number of elements but for the purpose of this report only complaints where 

recommendations were made have been incorporated. The recommendations from these are 

addressed later in this report. 

1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 
2 3 

1 

6 

1 

6 

4 4 

9 
9 

10 7 7 
7 

10 

6 

1 
0 

7 

6 
3 

6 

10 

0

5

10

15

20

25

Outcome
Unknown/Unsubstantiated

Partly Substantiated

Substantiated

Page 58



 

9 
 

 

Table 5: Complaints by stage  

Complaints by category  

All complaints received are defined by category.  In order to ensure that the categories reflect     

the information received there are a number of broad classifications.    

Table 6: Complaints by category  

 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140

Stage 1

Stage 2

stage 3

Complaints by Stage 

Number of Complaints

43% 

14% 

29% 

14% 

Substantiated 

Conduct & Attitude

Procedure

Lack of Communication

Quality of Service

Page 59



 

10 
 

 

The conduct and attitude of staff members as perceived by children young people and their 

families is by far the biggest area of complaint, with over a third of complainants having this as 

their main area of dissatisfaction.  38 of the 128 complaints related to this. The second largest 

category was disagreement with decision which was 29 complaints. This continues last years 

trend where the largest category for complaints was about conduct and attitude of staff. 

Of the 7 substantiated complaints these related to conduct and attitude (3), procedure (1), lack 

of communication (2), quality of service (1). 17 were partly substantiated and these were 

recorded as conduct and attitude (4), disagree with decision (3), lack of service (1), quality of 

service (1), lack of communication (3), procedure (2), disagree with assessment (1), delay (1), 

insufficient service (1). Unfortunately 24 out of the 128 complaints did not have an outcome 

recorded so the data is not accurate. 

Outcomes of complaints  

The table below demonstrates the outcomes of complaints at stage one. As can be seen the 

majority of complaints were unsubstantiated 52 (41%) with a significant number having been 

partially substantiated 43 (34%).  There were 7 (5.5%) complaints which were substantiated. In 

addition there were 24 (18.75%) complaints where the outcome remains unknown. The 

member of staff responding to the complaint also should complete a completion form and this 

generates the data as to whether the complaint has been substantiated or not and any learning 

required from this. If 24 of the 128 complaints do not have this form completed then any data is 

inaccurate. This is unacceptable and greater effort will need to be made to improve this figure 

in order to ensure   all outcomes are recorded promptly and within identified timescales.  See 

performance section below. 

 

27% 

20% 

6% 
6% 

20% 

7% 
7% 

7% 

Partly Substantiated 

Conduct & Attitude

Disagree with Decision

Lack of Service

Quality of Service

Lack of Communication

Disagree with Assessment

Delay

Insufficient Service

Page 60



 

11 
 

Table 7: Outcome of complaints made:  

 

The fact that a large proportion of the complaints were unsubstantiated does not diminish the 

value of each and every complaint received. It remains an important part of service 

development to listen carefully to issues which may be raised by children and families in order 

that there can be a proactive response which will serve to minimise an escalation in issues. As 

24 outcomes were not provided these figures are not accurate. 

Of the 7 complaints which were substantiated there were four categories namely: 

 

 Conduct and attitude 3 (43%) 

 Lack of communication 2 (29%) 

 Quality of service 1 (14%) 

 Procedure 1 (14%) 

 

This is a reduction from 9 substantiated complaints in the previous year. However, there were 

no substantiated complaints in relation to conduct and attitude last year, whereas the highest 

number of substantiated complaints relates to this in the current year. 

 

As can be seen above, 33.5% of the complaints were partially upheld, this equates to a total of 

43 complaints.  A significant number of these complaints are attributed to three main areas 

namely  

 The conduct and attitude of social workers 13 (35%) 

 Disagree with decision 9 (21%) 

 Lack of communication 5 (12%) 

 

41% 

34% 

6% 

19% 

Outcome 

Unsubstantiated

Partially Substantiated

Substantiated

Outcome Unknown

Page 61



 

12 
 

It is of concern that the conduct and attitude of staff was 

the highest recorded category for both substantiated and 

unsubstantiated complaints. 

 

7. Overall Themes  

Over the course of the year there were no complaints which were received which would lead to 

any concerns about children being harmed as a result of the actions or inactions of workers.    

Children who are looked after have made a very low number of complaints. At the present time 

there can be no real confidence that this low number reflects the reality of the experiences of 

children and young people children. Work needs to be undertaken in order to ensure that all 

children who are looked after are aware of the complaints process and are able to fully access 

this process.  

The overwhelming basis for complaints has been the perception of workers' behaviour towards 

service users and poor communication. These two broad and general themes have been clearly 

communicated to workers at regular intervals throughout the year through individual 

supervision sessions and team meeting. However there is some general guidance which can be 

offered which would serve to reduce complaints in this area. These include a need to ensure 

that out of office messages are left on mobile phones indicating when a worker is off on leave. 

Direct line managers will need to ensure when a worker is off on unexpected leave (sick or 

family leave), ensuring that the electronic diary of the worker is viewed and appointments 

cancelled with reasons why, clearly communicated to families.      

It is anticipated that as workers begin to engage in more relationship based practice, some of 

the issues around the perceived attitudes of workers will be addressed. The issue of poor 

communication is wide ranging. It includes children and families being unaware of social 

workers being on leave, meeting dates changing, letters arriving which allow 6 minutes for 

parents to get to contact ,  to families not being kept informed of developments.  Some of these 

issues can be very easily resolved by way of example when social workers have unexpected 

absence from work the line manager views their electronic diary and ensures that all necessary 

people are notified of cancelled appointments. This appears to take place across many teams 

but there is a lack of consistency.  Equally for planned leave, workers need to ensure they leave 

a message on their out of office phone service explaining this and giving clear instructions as to 

who should be contacted in their absence.  

 

There is some data which if correlated may prove to be beneficial in terms of allowing for 

greater analysis and thus increase learning. By way of example when complaints are made the 

details of who is making the complaint are not routinely collected.  We are unable to provide 

any clear analysis with regard to the age of children who are subject to complaints from family 

or carers, or the types of relationships, adults complainants  may have to children, whether they 

are  carers, parents etc.  Such data might help to provide greater analysis as to whether there 

are any particular customer groups where lessons can be learned.     

There has been a lack of consistency across the authority in ensuring outcomes from stage one 

are forwarded to the Customer Feedback Team. This needs to take place. In addition it is 

Page 62



 

13 
 

important that at this early stage it is recognised what 

lessons need to be learnt and that this should be 

documented and circulated across teams.   

When complaints escalate to stage two and three of the process, there is a need to ensure that 

learning takes place and that this is communicated throughout the directorate.   

In relation to outcomes from stage 3 complaints there were some recommendations which 

were case specific such as individuals being provided with particular documents. However, in 

addition there were a number of recommendations from the stage three complaints which are 

applicable to Social Care practice and these are as follows: 

1. On receipt of a Stage 1 complaint the responding officer should consider if contact with the 

complainant is necessary to help in formulating a comprehensive reply. 

2. Where a person is found to be a ‘Low Risk’ they should not only be informed verbally but sent 

a follow up letter explaining the reasoning behind the decision. Furthermore, Children’s 

Services should include the factors that would trigger a review of their assessment  

3. Staff should ensure that concerned parents receive adequate and timely feedback where 

appropriate. 

4. Staff should be reminded of the need and importance of timely accurate and comprehensive 

case recording.  

5. Staff should consider the content of the 'cold' closure letter that is sent out when a case is 

closed. 

8. Issues for Learning 

As previously stated much of the learning in terms of complaints takes place at the time of the 

conclusion of complaints with clear messages being fed back to individuals or teams in terms of 

changes that might be indicated. The learning from complaints is currently limited to individuals 

and managers and not collated centrally in a timely way. Some basic awareness raising and 

implementation of some changes to practice is required. There has been a training course on 

complaints aimed at individuals who respond to complaints, although not well attended by 

Children's Services staff. It may be possible for a further course to run next year. In addition it is 

proposed that the following be implemented (see action plan for detail): 

 The annual complaints report to be shared at SMT and CSTM and disseminated 

throughout the Directorate to raise awareness. 

 One minute briefings to be produced and circulated. 

 A renewed focus on the preparation which children and their families receive for 

attending meetings so that they are able to fully participate.  This includes literature 

provided 

 Ensuring that all children and their families are aware of who should be contacted when 

their key worker is not available.  

Page 63



 

14 
 

 Work to be undertaken with children who are 

looked after in order to ensure children and young 

people are aware of the complaints process and 

how this can be used.  

 All workers ensuring that decisions are clearly communicated to children and their 

families including written communication where required. 

 Workers ensuring that reports are clear accurate and shared with family members prior 

to meetings.    

 All social workers to be reminded of the need to remain respectful of families, particularly 

when the involvement is as a result of statutory duties.   

 Making greater use of action plans to aid learning from complaints. 

 Ensure all Managers attend the face to face complaints training and complete the e-

learning. 

 Managers to ensure they complete the learning from complaints feedback form when 

responding to complaints. 

Performance reporting 

There has been a corporate focus on complaints in recent months, which as a result has led to a 

review of how complaints and data around this are managed. Within Children's Services the 

plan is to report on the data quarterly to the performance meeting so this can be tracked. An 

escalation process has also been implemented to ensure feedback forms are completed and 

received; whereby the Team Manager (or whoever is responding to the complaint) will receive 

one chase email and the second one will be sent to the Service Manager with the Team 

Manager copied in. Any outstanding feedback forms will also be addressed at the quarterly 

meetings. A new database, Lagan is in the process of being commissioned which will support 

more accurate recording, although as yet timescales have not been confirmed. In the interim 

there will be amendments to the current reporting system so that data can be obtained and 

tracked in a more comprehensive way. The proposed data that will be reported on is: 

1. Number of new complaints (in a given period i.e. quarter)  

2. Number/percentage of complaints acknowledged within one day  

3. Relationship to complainant – number/percentage  

4. Service type - number/percentage  

5. Area type - number/percentage  

6. Category of complaint - number/percentage  

7. Number/percentage Stage 1 Final responses where timescale was met  

8. Number of repeat complainants (recorded on the feedback form)  

9. Number of complaints closed in a period  

10. Number of complaints closed that were resolved at Stage 1  

11. Number of complaints closed that were resolved at Stage 2  

12. Number of closed complaints by category/issue  

Page 64



 

15 
 

13. Total number of outstanding complaints at Stage 1  

14. Total number of outstanding complaints at Stage 2  

15. Number of complaints referred to the Local Government Ombudsman)  

16. Number/percentage of Feedback/lessons learned documentation completed  

17. Number/percentage of complaints which progressed to Stage 3  

18. Number/percentage of closed complaints where complainant open to Children's Services 

(broken down by Early Help, CIN, CP & LAC)  

19. Compliments 

In Children's an action plan will be developed and held within the Quality and Standards Team 

to track all learning and action required so this can be addressed across the Directorate. 

Quality assurance 

A corporate complaints group has been established which meets each quarter and reviews a 

sample of complaints from across the Directorate. This highlights good practice and well written 

responses to complaints but in addition raises issues where the complaints do not appear to 

have been responded to in a satisfactory manner. Each Directorate lead takes these issues back 

to the person who dealt with the complaint as learning. There is also a plan to ensure each 

Directorate receives timely complaints reports and Lagan will be used as the database going 

forward. 

9. Conclusion 

The number of complaints received in 2016/17 was lower than those received in the preceding 

year but has not been significantly out of line with the numbers of complaints received over the 

last ten years.  It is clear that the perceptions of conduct of staff members alongside a lack of 

good communication are significant areas of concerns for complainants. Greater care needs to 

be taken to engage with families in a manner which is both supportive and challenging of them.   

It is also clear there is the potential for further lessons to be learnt if the data collection process 

is reviewed and there is an emphasis placed on the demographics of the complainant.   

Action plan  

What we are worried about  What needs to happened  Time frame   Measure  

Profile of complaints and 
learning from them is not well 
embedded throughout the 
Directorate   

DMT to agree how often they 
want feedback about 
complaints, comments and 
compliments. 

February  
2018 

Attendance at DMT 

Profile of complaints and 
learning from them is not well 
embedded throughout the 
Directorate   

Presentation of report and 
findings to SMT and CSTM. To 
include a reminder about best 
practice. 
This report to be on the 
agenda of all social care 
teams.  

To commence 
in February 
2018 and to 
be completed 
by June 2018 

Confirmation from team 
managers that this has 
taken place.  

Page 65



 

16 
 

One minute briefings to be 
completed and circulated 

There are a very low number 
of complaints made by 
children who are looked after 
and it is unclear whether this 
is because they have no 
complaints to make or that 
they lack knowledge and 
confidence in respect of the 
process.   

IROS to ensure at each review 
children are aware of the 
complaints process.  
Regulation 44 visitor to ensure 
that children in homes have 
confidence to make 
complaints.  
 

March 31st 
2018 

Data from IROs  

The IROs and Regulation 44 
Officer may be masking 
complaints by engaging in 
early resolution within their 
roles.   

IRO and Regulation 44 visitor 
to ensure that they do not 
mask complaints but assist 
young people to make formal 
complaints as appropriate.  
Where early resolution takes 
place devising a system that 
allows for these to be 
recorded as complaints  

March 2018 Records of complaints 
from looked after 
children to be clearly 
recorded even when 
there is early resolution.  

Lack of clarity in respect of the 
demographics of complainants  

Ensuring the relationship 
between complainant and 
child is clearly identified to 
gain greater information 
about demographic, i.e. 
resident parents, non-resident 
parents, carers etc.  

Immediately  Data available for 
annual report 2017/18 

Ensuring that all responses to 
complaints at stage one, are 
forwarded to the complaints 
team as a matter of routine.  

Performance report to OMG 
on a quarterly basis. 
Escalation process to be 
followed 
 
All managers to be reminded 
of the need to send responses 
to the complaints team.  

Immediately  Complaints manager will 
have responses for all 
complaints where this 
does not happen this to 
be escalated to service 
lead.  

Lack of consistency across 
county in sharing learning 
from stage one.  

Team managers to ensure that 
they are able to identify 
lessons learnt at stage one 
and that this information is 
provided to the Quality and 
Standards Manager who will 
manage an action plan and 
disseminate learning. 

Immediately  Greater understanding 
as to how practice can 
be improved.  

Ensuring that children and 
their families are made aware 
of the nature and format of all 
meetings which they attend.   

Worker to communicate 
clearly to families about the 
nature and purpose of 
meetings.  

Immediately  Fewer complaints to be 
received in this regard. 

Poor communication 
particularly when key workers 

All key workers to ensure that 
when they are not at work 

Immediately  Reduction in complaint 
in respect of this issue.  

Page 66



 

17 
 

are on unexpected absence 
from work.  

they have an out of office 
mobile response so families 
are aware when they might be 
back at work.  
Where workers take 
unexpected leave the direct 
line manager to review the 
electronic diary and ensure 
that families are contacted 
and updated.  

Poor communication and 
understanding by families as 
to why assessments are 
undertaken. Outcomes of 
these to be provided in writing 
and criteria for reassessment 
to be included. 

All key workers to ensure that 
they clearly communicate to 
families the reasons for 
assessment and ensure that 
families are able to engage 
and participate in the process 
in line with the sign of safety 
model.  

Immediately  Supervision 
Case closure audits  
Updated procedures 
 

Lack of consistency in ensuring 
that information is shared 
across all social care teams.  

At stage two and three of the 
complaints process, learning 
to be collated and an action 
plan to be developed by the 
Quality and Standards 
Manager for monitoring and 
dissemination. 

Immediately  Reduction in the 
number of complaints 
made. 

 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



       
Policy and Scrutiny 

 

Open Report on behalf of Debbie Barnes, 
Executive Director of Children's Services 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 09 March 2018 

Subject: Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service 

 

Summary:  

This report invites the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee to 
consider a report on Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services which is due 
to be considered by the Executive Councillor for Adult Care, Health and 
Children's Services on 15 March 2018. 
 
The views of the Scrutiny Committee will be reported to the Executive Councillor 
as part of her consideration of this item. 
 
 

Actions Required: 

1) To consider the attached report and to determine whether the Committee 
supports the recommendation(s) to the Executive Councillor as set out in 
the report. 
 

2) To agree any additional comments to be passed to the Executive Councillor 
in relation to this item. 

 

 
1. Background
 
The Executive Councillor for Adult Care, Health and Children's Services is due to 
consider a report on Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services. The full report 
to the Executive is attached (Appendix 1) to this report. 
 
 
2. Conclusion
 
Following consideration of the attached report, the Committee is requested to 
consider whether it supports the recommendation(s) in the report and whether it 
wishes to make any additional comments to the Executive Councillor.
 
 
 

Page 69

Agenda Item 7



 
3. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

APPENDIX 1 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service  
I015206 
 

 
 
4. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report.  
 
This report was written by Jonas Gibson, who can be contacted on 01522 553258 
or jonas.gibson@lincolnshire.gov.uk . 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 70

mailto:jonas.gibson@lincolnshire.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1

Executive Councillor

Open Report on behalf of Debbie Barnes, Executive Director of 
Children's Services

Report to: Councillor Mrs P A Bradwell, Executive Councillor 
Adult Care, Health and Children's Services

Date: 15 March 2018
Subject: Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service
Decision Reference: I015206
Key decision? Yes 

Summary: 
Children’s Strategic Commissioning Service currently commissions the Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) on behalf of the four Clinical 
Commissioning Groups and Lincolnshire County Council. The service is currently 
provided by Lincolnshire NHS Partnership Foundation Trust (LPFT). 

Children's Services has been delegated the lead commissioning responsibility for 
CAMHS on behalf of the four Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG's). This is 
agreed in the form of a Section 75 Agreement, which ends on the 31st March 
2019.  

A contractual agreement is in place between LCC and Lincolnshire NHS 
Partnership Foundation Trust (LPFT). This agreement is due to end 31st March 
2018.

The service underwent a full restructure during 2015/16 in response to the £1.4m 
additional funding received for service transformation. Since the new service went 
live (1st April 2016), LPFT have been working towards increased targets to ensure 
a swifter and better service is provided to those accessing the service. 

The current CAMHS funding is split between Children's Services and the CCG's, 
Children's funding £808,923 and the CCG's funding £6,284,574 (which forms the 
S75 agreement) giving a total value of £7,093,497 per annum which is then 
contracted to LPFT.  

This report seeks approval from the Executive Councillor for Adult Care, Health 
and Children's Service for approval to enter into a further two year agreement with 
LPFT to enable the service to continue whilst a large scale review of the service is 
undertaken, which will inform our joint strategic commissioning intentions of 
mental health services in Lincolnshire and the agreed approach for sourcing these 
services from April 2020.

It is proposed that the contractual arrangements for the service for the interim two 
year period change from a contract for services to a Provider Section 75 

Page 71



agreement (under the National Health Service Act 2006) under which the Council 
delegates the exercise of its children and adolescent mental health functions to 
LPFT. This additional two year arrangement would ensure continuity of provision 
of the service up to the end of March 2020.  

A formal request will also be submitted to each of the CCG's to extend their 
existing funding under the BCF S75 agreement for a further year up to 31st March 
2020, which will bring their commitment in line with the national funding and the 
transformation plans.  

Recommendation(s):
That the Executive Councillor approves:

1. the entering into of a partnership agreement under Section 75 of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 with Lincolnshire Partnership 
Foundation Trust for the exercise by the Trust of the Council's functions 
relating to child and adolescent mental health for the period 1st April 2018 
to 31st March 2020.

2. the submission of a formal request to the Lincolnshire Clinical 
Commissioning Groups to extend their existing funding under the existing 
S75 agreement for a further year, which will bring their commitment in 
line with the national funding and transformation plans to March 2020.

3. A large scale service review is undertaken during 2018 in order to inform 
future commissioning intentions from April 2020.

Alternatives Considered:
1. To enter into a traditional contract for services following a competitive 

tendering process to select a provider.

This may stimulate market competition to promote innovation and value for money 
and would create the potential to broaden the provider market place in 
Lincolnshire. External providers may be able to attract additional funding streams 
to the service that the Council cannot access. 

However there is little evidence of sufficient marketplace appetite at the current 
time and the carrying out of a procurement exercise will result in uncertainty for 
LPFT and service users and may not prove to be value for money in the current 
state of the market. In particular, the obtaining of value for money would require a 
longer contract than the current CCG section 75 Agreement will accommodate.

The large scale service review provides the opportunity to assess the services 
and the market and carry out the necessary discussions with the CCGs with a 
view to considering the tendering of the services for when the proposed two year 
arrangement comes to an end in March 2020.

Page 72



Reasons for Recommendation:
Contractually, the current contract cannot be extended any more, and needs to be 
brought in line with the CCG's committed funding (up to 31st March 2019). Under 
the Public Contract Regulations 2015, this service would need to go through a 
procurement exercise in order to comply with the regulations. However the use of 
a 'Provider Section 75' would negate the need for competition.

The proposed section 75 Agreement, will enable the Council to continue to 
provide a sufficient level of provision and increase the quality of the services that 
children with mental health conditions receive across Lincolnshire. 

The service is stable and working well.  This provides ideal circumstances in 
which to move from a contract for services based arrangement to one in which the 
Council authorises LPFT to exercise the Council's functions in relation to child 
and adolescent mental health (in the same way that it has for a number of years 
for adult mental health) thereby granting LPFT more control over the way in which 
services are developed and delivered.

The recommended approach will allow sufficient time for an extensive 
commissioning review to be undertaken to inform requirements and to determine 
the best commissioning arrangements for these services moving forward. The 
review will include a large scale stakeholder engagement process, the experience 
gained from the s75 partnership arrangements and Adult Social Care as there 
maybe scope to work jointly with them and the creation of an all age Joint Mental 
Health Strategy.

The recommissioning of mental health service from 2020 onwards, presents an 
opportunity to ensure a continued trajectory of meaningful service development. 

1. Background

1.1 Contractual Information

1.1.1 The current CAMHS contract commenced 1st April 2016.

1.1.2 A breakdown of the funding for all the partners can be seen below:

Funding Source Amount
LCC £808,923
Lincolnshire East CCG £2,175,798
Lincolnshire West CCG £1,823,069
South Lincolnshire CCG £1,255,566
South West Lincolnshire CCG £1,030,141
Sub-total £7,093,497
FiM underspend £69,600
Total £7,163,097

Page 73



1.2   Transformed Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service  

1.2.1   Transformed mental health services for children and young people in 
Lincolnshire are no longer delivered according to tiers and are delivered through:
 A Single Point of Access;
 Core CAMHS - an integrated service delivering evidenced based pathways 

and focused on outcomes;
 Crisis Intervention and Home Treatment service available 24 hours a day, 7 

days a week;
 A community based Eating Disorder Service known as CAMHS EDS;
 Support to vulnerable groups including Young People with a Learning 

Disability;
 Care and support through transition to adult services if appropriate;
 Support to Universal Services such as education and early help practitioners; 

known as Targeted Early Access to Mental Health Support (TEAMHS), 
including:

o A Professional Advice Line;
o Consultation Clinics;
o A full programme of training for staff working in Universal Services;
o The development of self-help psychosocial education materials;
o The development of a directory of the local CAMH Services and other 

potential services that may be beneficial to the Young Person.

1.2.2   Core CAMHS
Core CAMHS deliver care through a number of evidenced based pathways such 
as depression, anxiety, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) and trauma, self-
harm etc. In addition, there are a wide range of interventions offered, including 
access to self-help and groups interventions.

1.2.3   CAMHS Crisis & Home Treatment Services (C&HTS)
The C&HTS provides crisis response and crisis support via intensive home 
treatment and aims to avoid admission of children and young people to inpatient 
services.  Where inpatient services have been appropriate, the service facilitates 
an early discharge.

1.2.4   Young People’s Eating Disorder Service
The Young Person’s Eating Disorder Service (EDS), has implemented a National 
Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) Guidance eating disorder pathway 
including Anorexia Nervosa, Bulimia, Binge Eating and Atypical Eating Disorders.  
Working in partnership with the C&HTS, 24 hour delivery of care is provided.

1.2.5   Additional support for vulnerable groups
Children and Young People who have additional needs such as children who are: 
looked after, adopted, have a learning disability and a mental health problem and 
those within youth offending services.

1.2.6   LPFT have recently undergone a CQC inspection and have been rated as 
'outstanding' for the Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service element.  
1.2.7 Performance Data

Page 74



1.2.7.1   Performance data for Q1, Q2 & Q3 2017/18 shows that:
 there were 3468 referrals, 79% (2516) were accepted 
 the average number of open cases in each month = 933
 the average wait time for routine assessment = 4.4 weeks
 the average wait time for routine treatment within 6 weeks = 9.8 weeks (this 

is an aspirational target with the national waiting time being 18 weeks. The 
provider has had a number of staff vacancies which has driven up the 
waiting time. The majority of these vacancies have now been recruited to 
and early indications show that this figure is improving. This continues to be 
monitored through the formal contract management process.

 Response time for Emergency - telephone within 4hrs = 84.3%
 Emergency - Face to Face within 24 hrs (next day) = 82.9%
 Urgent - Face to Face with 72hrs (3 days) = 84.1%

1.2.7.2   Impact of Crisis and Home Treatment Service (C&HTS) introduced in April 
2016: 

 April 2016 to March 2017 referrals to C&HTS totalled 1,059
 For 2015/16 admissions to Ash Villa was 70.  This reduced by 11% to 61 for 

2016/17
 For 2015/16 attendances to ULHT for mental health problems was 543. This 

reduced in 2016/17 to 482 
 For 2015/16 admissions to ULHT for mental health problems was 278.  This 

reduced to 137; a 45% reduction.
  
1.2.7.3   Patient Satisfaction Rates

• 2016/17 patient satisfaction measures recorded overall satisfaction rates for 
children and young people at 86.2% and 90.1% for parents and carers.

• Children and young people scored over 95% for: 
o Being listened to
o Being treated well
o Having their worries and views taken seriously
o Reporting that overall help is good

• Parents and carers scored over 95% for:
o Being listened to
o Practitioners easy to talk to
o Being treated well
o Having their worries and views taken seriously
o Reporting that overall help is good
o Would recommend the service to family and friends

1.2.7.4   Stakeholder Satisfaction Rates

Healthwatch survey for professionals using the PAL: of 376 professionals that 
responded:

• 94.4% were satisfied with wait times
• 94.4% were satisfied with how well the person at PAL listened to their needs

Page 75



• 85% felt they received an appropriate response each time they used the 
PAL

1.3   National Initiatives that provide the background to the development of the 
current mental health service in Lincolnshire.

1.3.1   Future in Mind (FiM)

In March 2015, the Government published Future in Mind, a national taskforce 
report into children and young people's mental health.  The report made a series of 
recommendations for transformation clustered around five key themes:

1. Promoting resilience, prevention and early intervention
2. Improving access to effective support
3. Care for the most vulnerable
4. Accountability and transparency
5. Developing the workforce

1.3.1.2   Participation and collaboration were identified as a core principle and 
services are designed in collaboration with children, young people and families to 
meet their needs.

1.3.2   Local Transformation Plan (LTP)

1.3.2.1 Lincolnshire's Local Transformation Plan (LTP) set out a single approach in 
response to Future in Mind, to transform mental health and wellbeing services for 
Lincolnshire Children and Young People, consistent with the strategic outlook 
described in the multi-agency led Lincolnshire Crisis Care Concordat. This plan set 
out multiple priorities for service provision and ambitious aspirations for future 
provision that required radical service transformation and ongoing joint working 
across agencies including Schools and Health and also Service Users.  A new 
service delivery model was developed and Commissioners were successful in 
securing an additional £1.4 million through transformation funds to deliver the new 
model from April 4th 2016.

1.3.2.2 Local partners are required to work together to lead and manage change in 
line with those key principles through the development of Local Transformation 
Plans (LTPs) for Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing.

1.3.2.3 The LTP development is delivering the programme through:
 Supporting local leadership through Health and Wellbeing Board partners, 

ensuring that services are jointly commissioned; promoting effective joint 
working and establishment of clear pathways;

 Articulation of the local offer, covering the whole spectrum of services for 
children and young people's mental health and wellbeing from health 
promotion and prevention work, to support and interventions for existing and 
emerging mental health problems, as well as transitions between services.

 Engagement with children and young people to ensure their voice is heard.

1.3.2.4 The Local Transformation Plans are required to be updated yearly.

Page 76



1.3.3   Children and Young People’s Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 
Programme (CYP IAPT)

1.3.3.1   CYP IAPT is a whole service transformation model delivered by NHS 
England that seeks to improve the quality of children and young people’s mental 
health services. The principles behind CYP IAPT underpin the development and 
delivery of the ‘Transformation Plans’ outlined in Future in Mind. 

1.3.3.2   The programme works to transform existing services provided by the NHS 
and partners from Local Authority and Third Sector that together form local area 
CAMHS Partnerships. The programme aims to create, across staff and services, a 
culture of full collaboration between child, young person and/or their parent or 
carer. 

1.3.3.3   This programme does not create standalone services, but works to embed 
the above principles into existing services providing mental health care to children 
and young people.

1.3.3.4   NHS England (NHSE) and Health Education England (HEE) are 
overseeing the roll out of CYP IAPT. Local delivery of the programme is being 
managed and guided through regional collaboratives established to support and 
guide local CAMHS partnerships as they develop and introduce new 
arrangements. 

1.3.3.5 Lincolnshire is part of the Midland CYP IAPT Collaborative, which includes:
 Derbyshire
 Leicestershire
 Leicester City
 Lincolnshire
 Rutland
 Wolverhampton
 South Staffordshire
 North east Lincolnshire
 Solihull
 Sandwell

1.3.4.   The Five Year Forward View:

1.3.4.1   Following on from Future in Mind, The 5 Year Forward View for Mental 
Health was published in 2016 outlining the journey of transformation for mental 
health services and the shift to prevention, promotion and tackling stigma;
 All ages;
 Overall, it recommends that all the recommendations outlined in Future in 

Mind are implemented in full.

1.3.4.2   The Five Year Forward View outlined specific aims for Children and 
Young People's services nationally:
 By 2020/21, there will be a significant expansion in access to high-quality 

mental health care for children and young people;

Page 77



 70,000 additional children and young people each year will receive evidence-
based treatment – This will require a significant expansion of the workforce;

 At least 1,700 more therapists and supervisors will need to be trained      and 
employed to meet this need, as well as retaining existing staff;

 All localities should ensure a highly skilled workforce by working with the 
existing Children and Young People’s Improving Access to Psychological 
Therapies (CYP IAPT) programme;

 By 2018, all services should be working within the CYP IAPT programme, 
leading to at least 3,400 staff being trained by 2020/21 in addition to the 
additional therapists above.

1.3.5   Future in Mind Steering Group: 

1.3.5.1   In order to ensure the implementation of the transformation plan, 
Lincolnshire County Council and the four Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning 
Groups; (South West, West, East and South) have established a Future in Mind 
Steering Group with multi-agency attendees intending to monitor and review 
services to support children and young peoples' mental health and emotional 
wellbeing in line with the Lincolnshire Commissioning cycle.

1.3.5.2   The primary purpose of the Steering Group is to establish the strategic 
direction of children and young peoples' mental health and emotional wellbeing 
across the whole system in Lincolnshire, including determining a shared vision for 
commissioning   the   whole   range   of services   required   to   promote   children  
and young peoples' mental health and emotional wellbeing. 

1.4   Interim Commissioning Arrangements 

1.4.1 The proposal is that the Council delegates to LPFT under a Section 75 
Agreement of the National Health Service Act 2006 the exercise of the Council's 
functions. Children's Services are therefore seeking to establish a partnership 
agreement made under Section 75 as a mechanism for securing the provision 
going forward. 

1.4.2 A Section 75 Agreement is a public-public collaboration which benefits from 
an exception contained within Regulation 12(7) of the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015. This exception does not require a competitive procurement where (i) the 
contract implements a co-operation between public bodies with a view to ensuring 
that public services they have to perform are provided with a view to achieving 
objectives they have in common, (ii) the implementation of that co-operation is 
governed solely by considerations relating to the public interest and the 
participating public bodies perform on the open market less than 20% of the 
activities covered by the co-operation.

1.4.3 In this case a section 75 Agreement would involve the integrated provision of 
public services that the Council and LPFT have to perform with a view to achieving 
common objectives – i.e. the mental health of young people.  The section 75 
Agreement would be governed solely by considerations in the public interest and 
none of the activities governed by the section 75 Agreement are performed on the 

Page 78



open market.  On this basis the Council is not required to undertake a procurement 
exercise.

1.4.4 The main difference between a contract for services and a Section 75 
Agreement is that LPFT as the provider would exercise the Council's function 
rather than simply delivering a service. This gives a provider a greater degree of 
flexibility and autonomy in determining what services to deliver within the overall 
duty to comply with the Council's legal obligations. It also involves, formally at 
least, less control on the part of the Council However this can and will be 
addressed in the governance arrangements through contract management.

1.4.5 There are certain statutory preconditions which must be met before the 
Council can enter into a section 75 Agreement:
 The partnership arrangements must be likely to lead to an improvement in 

the way in which the functions are exercised.  By integrating the Council's 
functions with those of LPFT it will improve the ability of LPFT to respond 
flexibly and responsively to the needs of young people who are eligible for 
the services provided

 The partners are required to consult jointly such persons as appear to them 
to be affected by the changes. The proposed section 75 Agreement will not 
change the nature of the services or the way in which young people, their 
parents or carers experience the service.  It is not therefore considered that 
there are any persons who will be affected by the changes and no 
consultation has accordingly been carried out.  A large scale review and 
stakeholder engagement will be undertaken during 2018 prior to any longer 
term decisions being taken about the future of the service.

1.4.6 Benefits:
 LPFT is already established as part of the Lincolnshire local offer;
 LPFT have recently undertaken a full service restructure and are working to a 

higher performance specification; 
 LPFT's recent CQC inspection was rated outstanding for the CAMHS 

element;
 LPFT already employs mental health nurses and a workforce that is trained 

and experienced around emotional wellbeing and mental health. LPFT would 
be well placed to utilise existing staff skills or employ more staff to deliver this 
service;

 One provider, ensuring greater fluidity between services with no gaps in 
thresholds between CAMHS and the newly commissioned three year Healthy 
Minds Lincolnshire Service (HML), which is also being delivered by LPFT;

 There is already in place a S75 with LPFT for the HML service;
 Financial benefits from utilising existing infrastructure in place at LPFT;
 Streamlined service with no disruption to service users as one contract ends 

and another begins.
 There is little evidence of sufficient marketplace appetite and the cost of a 

procurement exercise may not prove to be value for money.

Page 79



1.4.7 Risks:
 Due to the nature of the commissioning arrangement the level of influence 

and control will be limited. The competitive process can stimulate continuous 
improvement and the attainment of best value. An arrangement without a 
competitive or co-productive element may limit the ability to influence 
significant and transformative service improvement

 The wider provider market will not be tested to determine if there are any 
better service delivery options available. 

 Reputational risk for the Council as it may be seen to be disengaging with a 
critical service for young people.

2. Legal Issues:

2.1 Equality Act 2010
2.1.1 Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the Council must, in the exercise 
of its functions, have due regard to the need to:

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under the Act;

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.

2.1.2 The relevant protected characteristics are age; disability; gender 
reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual 
orientation.

2.1.3 Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity involves 
having due regard, in particular, to the need to:

 Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;

 Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share 
it;

 Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionately low.

2.1.4 The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are 
different from the needs of persons who are not disabled include, in particular, 
steps to take account of disabled persons' disabilities.
2.1.5 Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves 
having due regard, in particular, to the need to tackle prejudice, and promote 
understanding.

Page 80



2.1.6 Compliance with the duties in section 149 may involve treating some persons 
more favourably than others.

2.1.7 The duty cannot be delegated and must be discharged by the decision-
maker.  To discharge the statutory duty the decision-maker must analyse all the 
relevant material with the specific statutory obligations in mind.  If a risk of adverse 
impact is identified consideration must be given to measures to avoid that impact 
as part of the decision making process.

2.1.8 An initial desktop Equality Impact Assessment has been completed. This 
assessment identifies that there are no specific impacts on those with protected 
characteristics based on the proposed recommissioning of services and change to 
the way in which they are re-commissioned. This reflects the fact no significant 
changes have been made to services. 

2.2 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy (JHWS)

2.2.1 The Council must have regard to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
(JSNA) and the Joint Health & Well Being Strategy (JHWS) in coming to a 
decision.

2.2.2. Consideration has been given to the JSNA and the JHWS and as referred to 
above the proposals contribute to the theme: Improve health and social outcomes 
for children and reduce inequalities and the outcome: Ensure all children get the 
best possible start in life and achieve their potential.

2.2.3 These services provide vital support to ensure that as they grow up, children 
and young people are able to access the provision and support they need to 
succeed in education, training and employment, and therefore reduce inequalities.

2.3 Crime and Disorder

2.3.1 Under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must 
exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of 
those functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime 
and disorder in its area (including anti-social and other behaviour adversely 
affecting the local environment), the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances 
in its area and re-offending in its area.

2.3.2 These services are not directly related to preventing crime and disorder 
however as part of the delivery, the service supports children and young people 
who are receiving support from the Youth Offending Service and who are at risk of 
further offending to ensure that there are appropriate routes to escalate any 
concerns at the earliest opportunity.

Page 81



3. Conclusion

3.1 The Executive Councillor for Adult Care, Health and Children's Services is 
recommended to pursue an agreement under section 75 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 for the exercise by LPFT of the Council's functions in relation to 
the child and adolescent mental health services, whilst a wider ranging review is 
undertaken. This will enable the Council to secure continuity of the existing 
services in a lawful manner, whilst undertaking an extensive commissioning review 
during 2018 to determine the commissioning options going forward from April 
2020. 

4. Legal Comments:

The Council has the power to enter into the section 75 Agreement proposed.  The 
statutory pre-conditions to entering into such an Agreement and the procurement 
issues are dealt with in detail in the Report.

The decision is consistent with the Policy Framework and within the remit of the 
Executive Councillor if it is within the budget.

5. Resource Comments:

The recommendation in the report to enter into a Section 75 agreement with LPFT 
for the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2020 will ensure the continuation of 
existing services with no disruption to service users and continue to have joined 
up working through the Healthy Minds contract also delivered through LPFT. 
Value for money is being achieved by the current contract (with the CQC 
inspection rating CAMHS as outstanding), and there is little evidence of 
competition in the marketplace. The recommendation will allow for an extensive 
commissioning review to take place, which will ensure the best commissioning 
arrangements are entered into on behalf of LCC and partner delivering the 
greatest value for money.     

The existing funding agreements with partners will need to be formally agreed to 
31 March 2020 before entering into the Section 75 agreement to avoid any 
financial risks being placed against LCC. 

The Council will ensure appropriate governance arrangements in place through 
contract management to control any potential risk from entering into a Section 75 
agreement with LPFT.

The LCC contribution to the CAMHS service is funded through Council base 
budget funding.  

6. Consultation

Page 82



a)  Has Local Member Been Consulted?
No

b)  Has Executive Councillor Been Consulted? 
Yes

c)  Scrutiny Comments
This decision will be considered by the Children and Young People Scrutiny 
Committee at its meeting on 9 March 2018 and the comments of the Committee 
will be reported to the Executive Councillor.

d)  Have Risks and Impact Analysis been carried out?
Yes

e)  Risks and Impact Analysis

See the body of the Report

7. Background Papers

The following Background Papers within the meaning of section 100D of the Local 
Government Act 1972 were used in the preparation of this Report.

Lincolnshire Local Transformation Plan (2017): 
http://www.lpft.nhs.uk/assets/files/Our-Services/CAMHS/lincolnshire-ltp-refresh-
2017-v1.5.pdf

Future in Mind (2015): 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/4140
24/Childrens_Mental_Health.pdf 

Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (2016):
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-
FYFV-final.pdf 

This report was written by Jonas Gibson, who can be contacted on 01522 553258 
or jonas.gibson@lincolnshire.gov.uk .

Page 83

http://www.lpft.nhs.uk/assets/files/Our-Services/CAMHS/lincolnshire-ltp-refresh-2017-v1.5.pdf
http://www.lpft.nhs.uk/assets/files/Our-Services/CAMHS/lincolnshire-ltp-refresh-2017-v1.5.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414024/Childrens_Mental_Health.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414024/Childrens_Mental_Health.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf
mailto:jonas.gibson@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:jonas.gibson@lincolnshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

      
Policy and Scrutiny 

Open Report on behalf of Richard Wills, the Director responsible for 
Democratic Services 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 09 March 2018 

Subject: 
Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub-
Group – Update  

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This report enables the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee to have 
an overview of the activities of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny 
Sub-Group, in particular the Sub-Group’s consideration of children's 
safeguarding matters. The draft minutes of the last meeting of the Scrutiny 
Sub-Group held on 15 January 2018 are attached.   

 
 

Actions Required: 

That the draft minutes of the meeting of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards 
Scrutiny Sub-Group, held on 15 January 2018, be endorsed. 
 

 
1. Background 
 
The Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub-Group considers both adult and 
children safeguarding matters, in particular focusing on the activities of the 
Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board and the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children 
Board. 
 
The last meeting of the Sub-Group was held on 15 January 2018 and the draft 
minutes are attached at Appendix A to this report.  As the remit of the Children and 
Young People Scrutiny Committee includes safeguarding, the Committee is 
requested to focus on those minutes of the Sub-Group, which are relevant to this 
remit. 
 
2. Conclusion 
 
The draft minutes appended to this report are for the Committee’s information.  
 
3. Consultation 

 
 

a)  Have Risks and Impact Analysis been carried out? 

No 

Page 85

Agenda Item 8



 

b)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

Not Applicable 
 

 

4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Draft Minutes of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny 
Sub-Group held on 15 January 2018 

 
5. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were 
used in the preparation of this report. 
 
This report was written by Andrea Brown (Democratic Services Officer) who can be 
contacted on 01522 553787 or andrea.brown@lincolnshire.gov.uk . 

Page 86

mailto:andrea.brown@lincolnshire.gov.uk


1

LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING 
BOARDS SCRUTINY SUB-GROUP

15 JANUARY 2018

PRESENT:  COUNCILLOR S R DODDS (CHAIRMAN)

Lincolnshire County Council: Councillors R L Foulkes, Mrs C J Lawton, 
A P Maughan and R Wootten

District Council: District Councillor Mrs S Waring (District Council)

Representative appointed by Police and Crime Commissioner: Marc Jones 
(Police and Crime Commissioner)

Representative appointed by Local NHS organisation: Andrew Burton 

Officers in attendance:-

Dave Culy (Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board Manager), Simon Evans (Health 
Scrutiny Officer), Clare Rowley (Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board Business 
Manager), Catherine Wilman (Democratic Services Officer), Sue Wilson (Lincolnshire 
Safeguarding Children Board Policy and Audit Officer) and Dawn Worthington 
(Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adult Board Administrator)

10    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE/REPLACEMENT MEMBERS

Apologies were received from Councillor Mrs W Bowkett.

The Chairman reported that Dr Emile van der Zee had resigned from his position as 
Parent Governor Representative due to work pressures.

This presented a vacancy on the Sub Group, and the election process for a new 
Parent Governor Representative would commence shortly.

11    DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS

No interests were declared

12    MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING 
BOARDS SCRUTINY SUB-GROUP HELD ON 26 SEPTEMBER 2017

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub-Group 
held on 26 September 2017 be agreed and signed by the Chairman as a correct 
record.

Page 87



2
LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING BOARDS SCRUTINY SUB-GROUP
15 JANUARY 2018

13    KEY MESSAGES FROM THE LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING 
CHILDREN BOARD

The Sub-Group considered a report which provided an update on the work currently 
being undertaken by the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) and its 
sub-groups.

It was reported that there were six sub-groups of the LSCB which remained active 
and well attended, details of which could be found in the main report:

 Child Death Overview Panel;
 Serious Incident Review Group;
 Policy, Procedure, Education and Training Sub-Group;
 Child Exploitation Sub-Group;
 Education Sub-Group; and
 Performance and Quality Assurance Tri-Board Sub-Group

As part of the Wood Review, it was reported that the Child Death Overview Panel 
was likely to change governance and be led by the Department of Health rather than 
the LSCB.  The Panel would still be required to report back to the Board, however, if 
the need arose.

Alan Wood had been commissioned to conduct a review of LSCBs in 2016 which 
engaged a range of people and organisations.  The passing of the Children and 
Social Work Act 2017 had meant a number of changes were required to local 
guidance, which were detailed in the report.  The LSCB Independent Chairman 
explained that despite the good work of the Review, Lincolnshire's Board and 
structure would remain largely unchanged, as the partnership it had with all agencies 
remained strong.  It was felt that more damage than good would come of making 
alterations.

During discussion, the following points were noted:-

 There was a question regarding the involvement of the District Councils in 
prevention of child exploitation.  Officers reported that the LSCB was involved 
at district level, and the district councils in Lincolnshire had been very 
supportive of the LSCB's work over the years;

 It was reported that the National Crime Agency was running an online safety 
campaign and was keen to work with Local Safeguarding Children Boards;

 A new project, entitled Mini-Police, piloted in two Boston schools, was proving 
very successful and would eventually be rolled out to other schools in the 
county having secured the funding to do so.  The project involved year 5 
children and above learning about the police in a variety of different ways.  It 
was agreed that this would be a good topic for the Education Sub Group;

 It was agreed that an update on the evaluation of a new model for MACE be 
included on the agenda for a future meeting.

Page 88



3
LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING BOARDS SCRUTINY SUB-GROUP

15 JANUARY 2018

RESOLVED

That the report and contents be noted.

14    LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD - POLICY AND 
AUDIT UPDATE

Consideration was given to a report which provided an overview of the policy and 
audit development of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB).

The LSCB Policy and Audit Officer introduced the report and confirmed that 
development of policies and procedures for safeguarding and the promoting the 
welfare of children in the area of the authority was a statutory function of the LSCB.  
It was also a statutory obligation to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of what 
was done by the authority and their Board partners individually and collectively.

It was reported that a third party, tri.x, assisted the Board in its policy development.  
Changes to policies were either statutory, advised by tri.x or identified by Officers.  
They had been invaluable during the development of the Modern Slavery Protocol.

Members were invited to ask questions, during which the following points were 
noted:-

 There was discussion regarding the sharing of intimate images between young 
people of secondary school age.  It was felt that, children needed to be made 
aware of the dangers and who to trust, especially when using social media;

 Some schools actively engaged with the LSCB and attended the Education 
Sub Group, however there was no requirement for schools to engage.  It was 
suggested that the Chair of Governors could be a good access point in to 
schools;

 It was noted that tri.x may be able to advise on any areas of the country where 
initiatives in schools had been successful, which could inform the development 
of LSCB policy.

RESOLVED

That the report and content be noted.

15    KEY MESSAGES FROM THE LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING ADULTS 
BOARD

Consideration was given to a report which provided an update on the key issues from 
the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) held on 13 December 2017.  The 
report included the LSAB's Annual Report which had been published in early 2017 
and highlighted some key issues which were under review by the LSAB.

The Independent Chair of the Board took the opportunity to introduce two new 
members of the Adult Safeguarding team: Michelle Morris – LSAB Policy and Audit 
Officer; and Dawn Worthington – LSAB Board Administrator.

Page 89



4
LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING BOARDS SCRUTINY SUB-GROUP
15 JANUARY 2018

There was discussion regarding the act of omission (a failure to act) in relation to 
neglect cases.  In a care setting, it was easier to spot cases of neglect, whereas in 
domiciliary care, it was more difficult.  There had been cases of at risk/older/disabled 
adults not being taken to appointments, which had been classified as acts of 
omission.

RESOLVED

That the report and contents were noted.

16    REPORT OF OBSERVATION OF LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING 
ADULT BOARD - 13 DECEMBER 2017

The Chairman, Councillor S R Dodds, gave a verbal update following her attendance 
at a meeting of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB), as an observer, 
on 13 December 2017.

Councillor Dodds referred to number of replacement members at the meeting of the 
Board she had attended, and the level of participation by those members present.  
She questioned whether this was usual practice.  The Independent chair and LSAB 
Business Manager would monitor the situation.

Each organisation had expressed a concern about capacity issues in their own area 
of work and Officers explained that each agency undertook its work on the Board in 
addition to its specific workload.  It was highlighted that audits needed to make a 
change on the front line.  Councillor Dodds requested that at future meetings of the 
Board, the Sub Group representative observe the contributions made by each 
organisation to gauge their level of participation.

It was felt the Board's Risk Register had too many items listed, however the register 
was currently under review as some items were 'issues', rather than 'risks'.  Issues 
were identified as something happening now.

RESOLVED

That the verbal update be noted.

17    LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD PEER REVIEW

Consideration was given to a report which provided an update on the Lincolnshire 
Safeguarding Adults Peer Review, along with the final draft of the Peer Challenge 
Report which resulted from the Review.

In early 2017, the LSAB agreed to be part of a pilot Peer Review programme led by 
the Local Government Association (LGA), which involved two adult safeguarding 
boards; Lincolnshire and Leicester City.

Page 90



5
LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING BOARDS SCRUTINY SUB-GROUP

15 JANUARY 2018

The LGA and ADASS (Association for the Directors of Adult Social Services) 
commissioned the peer review in order to identify what good looked like for LSABs, 
and not as an inspection.

The key messages and areas for consideration in the future, resulting from the review 
were as follows:

 The LSAB should agree fewer priorities in order to effectively deliver its 
objectives;

 The LSAB should act on its intention to agree and introduce a quality 
assurance framework to assure itself of the local safeguarding arrangements;

 In order to move forward on MSP (Making Safeguarding Personal), 
assurance was needed that the policies and procedures were in place, 
implemented and working;

 The Board should adopt a coordinated multi-agency approach when 
implementing MSP.

Whilst discussing the peer review, the following points were noted:

 A suite of resources was available to help move forward on MSP;
 An action plan would be written to assist with the governance structure, to 

identify a way to move forward with the priorities from the review;
 The Board would need to ensure partner agencies were on board with the 

changes that needed implemented;
 The outcome from the peer review pilots would be scrutinised nationally;
 As part of the review, the performance of the Independent Chairman was 

considered and he had received a good evaluation.

Following a question regarding district council involvement in adult safeguarding, it 
was confirmed that a representative for all seven district councils attended the LSAB.  
In addition to this, the district councils held their own quarterly safeguarding meeting 
which dovetailed with the Board.  The newly appointed Policy and Audit Officer would 
be attending those meetings in future.

Issues were raised about knowing when to step in to safeguard an adult, even if the 
at-risk adult in question is happy about what is happening to them.  Front line staff in 
council and agency organisations had been well trained to identify what would be the 
best course of action for each individual adult at risk. 

It was noted that social isolation was an underestimated problem in Lincolnshire and 
this had been identified as a priority by Public Health.

RESOLVED

That the report and Peer Review Peer Challenge Report be noted.

Page 91



6
LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING BOARDS SCRUTINY SUB-GROUP
15 JANUARY 2018

18    SAFEGUARDING ADULTS REVIEWS

The Sub-Group considered a report which provided an update on the Safeguarding 
Adults Reviews (SARs) currently being undertaken.

David Culy (Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) Business Manager) 
introduced the report and confirmed that although safeguarding adult reviews had 
always been part of the LSAB's remit, The Care Act now legally mandated the Board 
to undertake these reviews.  

During discussion of the overview report from the SAR of TH19 (financial 
exploitation), the following points were noted:

 Lincolnshire did not currently have a MASH (Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub) 
for adult safeguarding.  A hub would be able to immediately form an action 
plan for someone in trouble or needing help.  The review had recommended 
that the county ought to have one;

 Within the recommendations made by agencies contributing to the review 
were issues relevant to the Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee.  Officers would ensure that these would be considered for 
inclusion in the Scrutiny Committee's work programme;

 A lack of outreach provision within the City of Lincoln had been highlighted in 
the recommendations and this would be fed back to the Executive Director for 
Adult Care;

 Each agency involved in the case was required to complete an IMR 
(individual management review).  The Board held each agency to account for 
their recommendations.

RESOLVED
That the report and content be noted.

19    LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING BOARDS SCRUTINY SUB-GROUP 
WORK PROGRAMME

The Sub Group considered a report outlining its future work programme and the 
additions made during the meeting.

Volunteers to observe the upcoming meetings of the LSCB and LSAB were sought 
and scheduled.

The Chairman wished it to be noted how grateful the Sub Group was for the help and 
support Dr Emile van der Zee had given during his time as a Parent Governor 
Representative on the Sub Group.

RESOLVED
That the Work Programme of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny 
Sub-Group be agreed.

The meeting closed at 12.50 pm

Page 92



      

Policy and Scrutiny 

Open Report on behalf of Debbie Barnes, Executive Director of Children's 
Services 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 09 March 2018 

Subject: Lincolnshire Religious Education Agreed Syllabus 

 

Summary:  

This report invites the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee to 
consider a report on the Lincolnshire Religious Education Agreed Syllabus 
which is due to be considered by the Executive Councillor for Adult Care, Health 
and Children's Services on 19 March 2018. The views of the Scrutiny 
Committee will be reported to the Executive Councillor as part of her 
consideration of this item. 
 
 

Actions Required: 

The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is invited to 

(1) consider the attached report and to determine whether the Committee 
supports the recommendation(s) to the Executive Councillor for Adult 
Care, Health and Children's Services as set out in the report.   

 
(2) agree any additional comments to be passed to the Executive Councillor 

for Adult Care, Health and Children's Services in relation to this item. 
 

 
1. Background
 
The Executive Councillor for Adult Care, Health and Children's Services is due to 
consider a report on the Lincolnshire Religious Education Agreed Syllabus. The full 
report to the Executive Councillor is attached at Appendix 1 to this report. 
 
2. Conclusion
 
Following consideration of the attached report, the Committee is requested to 
consider whether it supports the recommendation(s) in the report and whether it 
wishes to make any additional comments to the Executive Councillor. The 
Committee’s views will be reported to the Executive Councillor.   
 
 
 
 

Page 93

Agenda Item 9



3. Consultation 
 

 
 

 
 

a)  Have Risks and Impact Analysis been carried out? 
 

 

See report to the Executive Councillor attached at Appendix 1. 
 

 

b)  Risks and Impact Analysis 
 

 

See report to the Executive Councillor attached at Appendix 1. 
  

 

 

 
4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report. 

Appendix 1 Report to the Executive Councillor for Adult Care, Health and 
Children's Services on Lincolnshire Religious Education Agreed 
Syllabus 

 

 
5. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
 
This report was written by Jill Chandar-Nair, who can be contacted on 01427 
787190 or Jill.Chandar-Nair@lincolnshire.gov.uk.  
 
  
 

Page 94

mailto:Jill.Chandar-Nair@lincolnshire.gov.uk


 
Executive Councillor 

 

Open Report on behalf of Debbie Barnes, Executive Councillor of Children's 
Services 

 

Report to: 
Councillor Mrs P A Bradwell, Executive Councillor for 
Adult Care, Health and Children's Services 

Date: 19 March 2018 

Subject: Lincolnshire Agreed Syllabus for Religious Education  

Decision Reference: I015343 

Key decision? Yes  
 

Summary:  

The report is to present the new Lincolnshire Agreed Syllabus for Religious 
Education and recommend to the Executive Councillor that she approves the 
new agreed syllabus on the basis that it fulfils the requirement of Section 375(3) 
and Schedule 31 of the Education Act 1996 - paragraph 10 (2) (b), i.e. it 
appears to the local authority that the syllabus, or as the case may be, the new 
syllabus, reflects the fact  the religious traditions in Great Britain are in the main 
Christian while taking account of the teaching and practice of the other principal 
religions represented in Great Britain. 

 
 

Recommendation(s): 

That the Executive Councillor approves the adoption of the new revised 
syllabus attached at Appendix A in substitute for the existing syllabus. 

 
 

Alternatives Considered: 

1. Further amendments to the new revised syllabus 
The amendments set out in Appendix A have been developed by the 
Agreed Syllabus Conference with the involvement of the Standing 
Advisory Council for Religious Education and a teachers working party and 
is considered to be consistent with the statutory requirements and to form 
an improved basis for the teaching of Religious Education. 

 

Reasons for Recommendation: 

Lincolnshire County Council is required to review its locally agreed syllabus for 
Religious Education every 5 years by convening the Agreed Syllabus 
Conference (ASC). The new syllabus is consistent with Section 375(3) of the 
Education Act 1996 and paragraph 10 (2) (b) of the Schedule 31 of the 
Education Act 1996 in that it reflects that the religious traditions of Great Britain 
are in the main Christian whilst taking account of the teaching and practices of 

Page 95



the other principal religions represented in Great Britain. 
 
The new syllabus is clearer in structure; it is taught through themes that are 
revisited through the key stages allowing pupils to deepen their understanding. 
It also takes into account changes in patterns of belief e.g. an increase in non-
religious world views. 

 

 
1. Background 
 
All maintained schools in England must provide Religious Education (RE) for all 
registered pupils, including those in the sixth form and reception classes, unless 
withdrawn by their parents. Separate legislative provision for RE in maintained 
special schools requires them to ensure that, as far as practicable, pupils receive 
RE. Each Local Authority (LA) is required to review its locally Agreed Syllabus (AS) 
every five years.  
 
The teaching of RE is the AS, determined by the LA. The AS must be consistent 
with Section 375(3) of the Education Act 1996 which states that it must ‘reflect that 
the religious traditions of Great Britain are in the main Christian, whilst taking 
account of the teaching and practices of the other principal religions represented in 
Great Britain.’ The law does not define what these principal religions are. 
 
RE should be provided for all registered pupils except for those withdrawn at the 
request of parents/carers. 
 
Agreed Syllabus Conference 

 There are statutory duties on every LA to establish a Standing Advisory 
Committee on Religious Education (SACRE) as well as an occasional body 
which must be convened to produce and recommend an agreed syllabus (AS) 
for RE – an Agreed Syllabus Conference (ASC). 

 The ASC is a separate legal entity from SACRE and, although common 
membership is permissible, it must be separately convened. 

 The role of a conference is to produce and recommend an AS for RE which 
meets fully the requirements of the various Acts and is educationally sound. 

 Advice may be taken from other outside groups and/or individuals – 
Lincolnshire ASC agreed to establish a teachers’ working party. 

 The first meeting of the Lincolnshire ASC took place on 17 October 2016. The 
ASC unanimously recommended the new syllabus (attached at Appendix A) 
for adoption by Lincolnshire County Council on 29 September 2017. It was 
discussed with the full SACRE at every stage and agreement confirmed on 14 
November 2017. 

 
Content of the new agreed syllabus 
At the first meeting of the ASC it was agreed that some major changes needed to 
be made to the current syllabus which has remained virtually unchanged for over 
10 years. During this time there have been significant changes in education and 
the RE world, for example: 

Page 96



1. Ofsted surveys/reports have highlighted the need for all round improvement in 
the teaching of RE and have emphasised the importance of religious literacy, 
backed up by national reports. 

2. There has been an increase in the numbers of new types of schools such as 
academies and free schools. 

3. There has been an increase in the amount of non-specialist teaching in RE. 
4. There are ongoing concerns around ITT. 
5. Changes in patterns of belief are reflected in the 2011 Census, e.g. an 

increase in non-religious world views. 
 
New syllabus: changes 
The new agreed syllabus (2018) meets the statutory requirements, i.e. it reflects 
that the religious traditions of Great Britain ‘are in the main Christian, whilst taking 
account of the teaching and practices of the other principal religions represented in 
Great Britain’ (see above). Christianity is compulsory at each key stage. It can also 
be taught in the additional units and can be further supported by the use of the 
‘Understanding Christianity’ resource currently used in many Lincolnshire schools. 
 
The new syllabus has a clearer structure than previously and consists of 
compulsory and additional units. In addition to Christianity the compulsory units 
now include Islam at key stage 1, Hinduism and Islam at key stage 2 and either 
Islam or Hinduism at key stage 3. Teaching the compulsory units is expected to 
take about two thirds of RE curriculum time. The additional units provide teachers 
with the opportunity to choose from a number of topics so that they can introduce 
the study of a different faith/topic or deepen knowledge and understanding about 
aspects of work covered in the compulsory units, including Christianity. Teachers 
are also encouraged to include work on non-religious world-views. 
 
The new syllabus will be introduced to schools through a series of training events 
and support for individual/groups of schools. Supplementary sections will be added 
to the agreed syllabus during 2018-19, e.g. on Judaism and assessment. 
 
 
2. Legal Issues: 
 
Equality Act 2010 

Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the Council must, in the exercise of its 
functions, have due regard to the need to: 

*           Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under the Act 

*           Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it 

*           Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

The relevant protected characteristics are age; disability; gender reassignment; 
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation 

Page 97



Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity involves having 
due regard, in particular, to the need to: 

*           Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic 

*           Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it 

*           Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionately low 

The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different from 
the needs of persons who are not disabled include, in particular, steps to take 
account of disabled persons' disabilities. 

Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who share 
a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having 
due regard, in particular, to the need to tackle prejudice, and promote 
understanding. 

Compliance with the duties in section 149 may involve treating some persons more 
favourably than others. 

The duty cannot be delegated and must be discharged by the decision-maker.  To 
discharge the statutory duty the decision-maker must analyse all the relevant 
material with the specific statutory obligations in mind.  If a risk of adverse impact is 
identified consideration must be given to measures to avoid that impact as part of 
the decision making process. 

The new agreed syllabus for religious education in Lincolnshire takes into 
consideration the requirements of the Equality Act 2010). It does this by: 

 recognising and respecting diversity by covering a range of faiths and 
beliefs and encouraging schools to provide pupils with first hand 
experiences of those faiths. 

 fostering positive attitudes and relationships, and a shared sense of 
belonging. 

 the process of consultation and involvement in the writing of the syllabus -
the Agreed Syllabus Conference included members from different religious 
and cultural backgrounds. 

It will have a positive impact in the way it represents minority faiths in Lincolnshire 
and encourages an inclusive curriculum in RE - in particular, it gives a positive 
message to pupils and families who belong to those faiths.  
 
The new syllabus is neutral to age, gender and sexual orientation as it covers all 
school age children. The impact on religion and associated race has been explored 
through the nature of the syllabus. Informal consultations took place with 
Headteachers and the Religious Education teachers working group. Members of 
the Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education (SACRE) who represent a 
wide range of religions and cultures, were also consulted, minutes of meetings are 
available. 

Page 98



Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(JHWS) 

The Council must have regard to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 
and the Joint Health & Well Being Strategy (JHWS) in coming to a decision. 

The new Lincolnshire RE syllabus contributes to ensuring that all children in 
Lincolnshire get the best possible start in life and achieve their potential. The 
syllabus teaches children from an early age about their own religion and lifestyle 
and that of others encouraging empathy and understanding as well as 
investigation, analysis and other transferrable skills. The revised approach 
contributes to the overall improvement of educational standards by supporting high 
quality teaching as well as helping to address any isolation and discrimination due 
to a lack of knowledge of the religious and associated culture of others. 

 

Crime and Disorder 

Under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must exercise its 
various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those 
functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and 
disorder in its area (including anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting 
the local environment), the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in its 
area and re-offending in its area 

 
3. Conclusion 
 
In accordance with the requirements of Section 375 and Schedule 31 of the 
Education Act 1996 the ASC has been convened to reconsider the content of the 
ASC currently adopted by Lincolnshire County Council for the teaching of Religious 
Education. The ASC has unanimously recommended that Lincolnshire County 
Council adopt the revised syllabus attached at Appendix A on the basis that (as 
required by paragraph 10(2)(b) of the said Schedule 31) it reflects that the religious 
traditions of Great Britain are in the main Christian whilst taking into account the 
teaching and practices of the other principal religions represented in Great Britain. 
 
 

As well as the section 17 considerations, Section 26 in conjunction with schedule 6 
of the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 places a duty on the County 
Council and schools in the exercise of their functions to have due regard to the 
need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism. Through this prevent duty, 
schools are required to support young people to build resilience towards 
radicalisation and also gain a better understanding of the diverse identities within 
Great Britain including religion and culture. The new revised syllabus supports this 
by providing a framework for teachers to use to explore different religions and the 
impact belief in these religions have on people's choice of lifestyles. Its aim is to 
produce pupils who are religiously literate and able to hold balanced and informed 
conversations about religion and belief. This will contribute to the national and local 
aim to reduce radical and extreme views.  

Page 99



4. Legal Comments: 
 

The council has the power to adopt the Agreed Syllabus recommended in the 
Report which has been developed in accordance with statutory process and 
meets the statutory test as set out in the Report. 
 
The decision is consistent with the Policy Framework and within the remit of the 
Executive Councillor. 
 

 

5. Resource Comments: 
 

There are no financial implications arising from the recommendation in the report 
to approve the new syllabus for Religious Education. 
 
Existing base budget funding has been used to support the revision of syllabus, 
and budget has been earmarked for its rollout to schools.  
 

 
 
6. Consultation 

 
a)  Has Local Member Been Consulted? 

No 
 

b)  Has Executive Councillor Been Consulted?  

Yes 

c)  Scrutiny Comments 

The decision will be considered by the Children and Young People Scrutiny 
Committee at its meeting on 9 March 2018. The comments of the Committee will 
be reported to the Executive Councillor. 

 

 

 
 

d)  Have Risks and Impact Analysis been carried out? 

Yes 

e)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

See main body of the report. 
 

 
7. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Lincolnshire Agreed Syllabus for Religious Education 2017-2022 
draft 

 
 
 

Page 100



8. Background Papers 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Lincolnshire Agreed 
Syllabus for Religious 
Education 2012 - 
2017 

www.community.lincolnshire.gov.uk/SACRE    

Report and Minutes of 
Meetings of SACRE 
and the Agreed 
Syllabus Conference 

www.lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk  

Understanding 
Christianity 

www.understandingchristianity.org.uk  

 
 
This report was written by Jill Chandar-Nair, who can be contacted on 
07717320089 or jill.chandar-nair@lincolnshire.gov.uk.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 101

http://www.community.lincolnshire.gov.uk/SACRE
http://www.lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/
http://www.understandingchristianity.org.uk/
mailto:jill.chandar-nair@lincolnshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 103



 

 2 

Contents 
Introduction from the Chair ......................................................................................... 3 

Acknowledgements .................................................................................................... 4 

2. Legal Requirements ............................................................................................... 5 

3. The aim of RE in Lincolnshire ................................................................................ 8 

4. Programmes of Study ........................................................................................... 11 

5. Key Stages 1-3 ..................................................................................................... 14 

Key Stage 1: Christianity .......................................................................................... 15 

Key Stage 1: Islam ................................................................................................... 17 

Key Stage 2: Christianity .......................................................................................... 19 

Key Stage 2: Hinduism ............................................................................................. 22 

Key Stage 2 Islam .................................................................................................... 25 

Key Stage 3: Christianity .......................................................................................... 28 

Key Stage 3: Hinduism ............................................................................................. 31 

Key Stage 3 Islam .................................................................................................... 34 

6. Additional Units – Key Stages 1-3 ........................................................................ 37 

7. Key Stage 4 and 5 Guidance: Compliance with Statutory Duties ......................... 43 

Non-statutory section: .............................................................................................. 46 

Appendix 1 ............................................................................................................... 47 

Appendix 2 ............................................................................................................... 48 

Appendix 3 ............................................................................................................... 53 

Appendix 4 ............................................................................................................... 57 

Appendix 5 ............................................................................................................... 59 

Appendix 6 ............................................................................................................... 60 

Appendix 7 ............................................................................................................... 62 

Appendix 8 ............................................................................................................... 63 

Appendix 9 ............................................................................................................... 70 

Appendix 10 ............................................................................................................. 74 

 
  

Page 104



 

 3 

Introduction from the Chair 

On behalf of Lincolnshire SACRE and the members of the Agreed Syllabus 
Conference (ASC) I am pleased to present this revised version of the Religious 
Education Agreed Syllabus for Lincolnshire. The children and young people passing 
through our education system need to acquire a multiplicity of skills, facts and 
sensitivities, both mechanical, emotional and philosophical. Among the many 
learning disciplines to which they must be exposed, the contribution of Religious 
Education is of incalculable significance as it puts into context all those other areas 
of learning, and enables the next generation to take its place in confident and mature 
fashion in an increasingly complex society. 
 
In recent decades the quality of Lincolnshire’s RE Syllabuses has won widespread 
national recognition, and I have no doubt that this latest revision will take its place in 
that proud tradition. I thank the members of the ASC and the Teachers’ Panel for 
their careful and thorough work and commend the new syllabus to all teachers, 
governors and others responsible for the provision of a full and balanced curriculum. 
 
Neville McFarlane  
Chair of Lincolnshire SACRE 
 

  

Page 105



 

 4 

Acknowledgements 

Members of Lincolnshire SACRE Agreed Syllabus Conference 

Committee A 
Tanweer Ahmed 
Christina Dring  
Lyn Gaylard 
Neville McFarlane 
Swathi Sreenivasan 
Committee B 
David Clements 
Mark Plater 
Committee C 
Catherine Williamson 
Committee D 
Jill Chandar-Nair 
 
Advisers: 
Gillian Georgiou (Diocese) 
Wendy Harrison (Local Authority) 
 
Members of Teachers’ Working Party 
Caroline Blanchard: St Michael’s Church of England Primary School, Thorpe on the 
Hill 
Anna Fane: Nettleham Church of England Aided Junior School 
Zoe MacDonald: Queen Elizabeth’s Grammar School, Horncastle 
Sarah Hollamby: Nettleham Church of England Aided Junior School 
Ailsa Hunter: Banovallum School, Horncastle 
Elizabeth Moore: Bardney Church of England and Methodist Primary School 
Anne Rennie: Boston Grammar School 
 
 
Photographs 
(TBC)  

Page 106



 

 5 

2. Legal Requirements 

All maintained schools in England must provide Religious Education (RE) for all 

registered pupils, including those in the sixth form and reception classes, unless 

withdrawn by their parents [School Standards and Framework Act, 1998, Schedule 

19; Education Act 2002, Section 80]. This requirement does not apply to children 

below compulsory school age in nursery schools or classes.  

Separate legislative provision for RE in maintained special schools requires them to 

ensure that, as far as practicable, pupils receive RE [Regulations 5A, Education, 

Regulations 2001]. Each Local Authority (LA) is required to review its locally Agreed 

Syllabus (AS) every five years. 

 

The teaching of RE is the locally agreed syllabus (AS), determined by the Local 

Authority (LA). The AS must be consistent with Section 375(3) of the Education Act 

1996, School Standards and Framework Act, 1998, Schedule 19 which states that it 

must ‘reflect that the religious traditions of Great Britain are in the main Christian, 

whilst taking account of the teaching and practices of the other principal religions 

represented in Great Britain.’ The law does not define what these principal religions 

are. 

 

RE should be provided for all registered pupils except for those withdrawn at the 

request of parents/carers [School Standards and Framework Act, 1998, Section 71]. 

 

2.2 Right of Withdrawal: Parents/Carers 

Parents/carers may withdraw their children from all or part of the RE curriculum 

[Education Reform Act 1988, S2 (1)(a)]. They do not have to provide a reason for 

this and the school must comply with the request. It has a responsibility to supervise 

any pupils who are withdrawn from RE but is not required to provide additional 

teaching or incur extra costs. If parents/carers wish their child to receive an 

alternative programme of RE it is their responsibility to arrange this. This could be 

provided at the school in question or another local school. The pupil may receive 

external RE teaching provided that this does not significantly impact on his/her 

attendance. 

 

Right of Withdrawal: Teachers 

Teachers may withdraw from the teaching of RE on grounds of conscience unless 

they have been specifically employed to teach or manage the subject. 

 

2.3 Curriculum time for RE 

It is up to schools to decide how they plan their RE curriculum and there are many 

models in place, e.g. weekly sessions, blocked time, RE days/weeks. In this agreed 

syllabus (AS) It is recommended that approximately two thirds of time (over a year) 

is spent on the compulsory units and the remainder of the time on additional units.  

The recommended minimum time is set out in the Dearing Review (1996): 

KS1: 36 hours per year 

KS2: 45 hours per year 

Page 107



 

 6 

KS3: 45 hours per year 

KS4: 5% of curriculum time or 70 hours across the key stage 

 

2.4 Different types of schools and RE 

Since the introduction of the previous AS new types of schools have come into 

existence, including academies and free schools. 

 

Academies and free schools 

There are different types of academies in England but they all have the same status 

in law. They are publicly-funded independent schools, free from LA control, made 

accountable through a legally-binding funding agreement. They have more freedom 

and control over curriculum design, school hours, term dates, staff pay and 

conditions. Free schools are similar but set up by teachers, parents, existing schools, 

educational charities, etc. Academies must teach RE in accordance with their 

funding agreements. The type of RE specified in the funding arrangement depends 

on whether or not the academy has a religious designation. For academies without 

a religious character RE is likely to be based on their locally agreed syllabus (LAS) 

though there is no legal requirement for an academy to adopt a locally AS, provided 

its RE syllabus meets the legal requirements. Academies with a religious character 

must provide RE in accordance with the tenets of the particular faith specified in the 

designation. They may, in addition, provide RE that is in line with a LAS and teach 

about other faiths if they choose. Free schools are academies in law and have the 

same requirement to provide RE. 

 

Maintained schools 

These schools are maintained by the LA and must follow the national curriculum and 

national pay and conditions. There are four different types of maintained schools. 

Community schools 

These are controlled and run by the LA who employs the staff, owns the land and 

buildings and determines the admissions arrangements. They must follow the LAS. 

 

Foundation and trust schools 

These schools are run by the governing body which employs the staff and sets its 

own admissions criteria. The land and buildings are usually owned by the governing 

body or, in trust schools, a charity. RE must be taught in accordance with an LAS 

unless the school has a religious foundation, in which case parents may request RE 

in accordance with the school’s trust deed, or in accordance with the beliefs or 

denomination specified in the designation of the school.  

 

Voluntary Aided (VA) schools 

The majority of these are faith schools. A foundation or trust (usually a religious 

organisation) puts a proportion of the capital costs for the school and forms a 

majority on the school’s governing body. The governors employ the staff and set 

admissions criteria. The land and buildings are usually owned by the religious 

Page 108



 

 7 

organisation. In Voluntary Aided schools RE must be taught in accordance with the 

trust deed. 

 

Voluntary Controlled (VC) schools 

These are like VA schools but controlled by the LA who employs the staff and sets 

admissions. The foundation or trust (usually a religious organisation) owns the land 

and buildings and generally forms a quarter of the governing body. In Voluntary 

Controlled schools with a religious character RE must be taught according to the AS 

unless parents request that it be taught in line with the trust deeds of the school. 

 

Grammar schools 

These are state-funded schools which select their pupils on the basis of academic 

ability. They can also be maintained schools. These schools follow the LAS. 

 

Independent schools 

These are schools which charge fees to attend and can make a profit. They are 

governed and operated by the school itself. They are lightly regulated by the 

government and inspected by a range of bodies. Some are set up by long-

established foundations, some by companies and charities. They are funded by fees, 

gifts and endowments and the governors are independently elected. These schools 

may follow their own curriculum, including RE. 

 

  

Page 109



 

 8 

3. The aim of RE in Lincolnshire 

To produce pupils who are religiously literate and able to hold balanced and 

informed conversations about religion and belief. 

This aim has been drawn from recent publications, including RE for REal (2015), A 

New Settlement: Religion and Beliefs in Schools (2015), Rethinking RE: A 

Conversation about Religious and Theological Literacy (2016). 

 

3.1 Good RE should: 

 develop pupils’ knowledge and understanding of Christianity as well as other 

principal religions and world views  

 focus on concepts as well as content, within the context of enquiry based 

learning 

 explore authentic religious material, e.g. sacred texts 

 reflect diversity in terms of the changing religious landscape of the UK (see 

2011 census below) so that they are prepared for life in modern Britain 

 engage and challenge pupils 

 reflect pupils’ own experiences and provide a safe space for discussion 

 present religious belief as a real, lived phenomenon, not something exotic or 

belonging to the past 

 take into account the increase in the number of people with non-religious 

beliefs and identities 

 provide opportunities for personal reflection and spiritual development 

 help to prepare pupils for adult life, enabling them to develop respect and 

sensitivity for others 

 

3.2 Skills in RE 

Pupils should develop key skills in RE in order to enhance learning and this should 

be evident across key stages: 

1. Investigation and enquiry: asking relevant and increasingly deep questions; 

using a range of sources and evidence, including sacred texts; identifying and 

talking about key concepts. 

2. Critical thinking and reflection: analysing information to form a judgement; 

reflecting on beliefs and practices, ultimate questions and experiences. 

3. Empathy: considering the thoughts, feelings, experiences, attitudes, beliefs 

and values of others; seeing the world through the eyes of others. 

4. Interpretation: interpreting religious language and the meaning of sacred 

texts; drawing meaning from, for example, artefacts and symbols. 

5. Analysis: distinguishing between opinion, belief and fact; distinguishing 

between the features of different religions. 

6. Evaluation: enquiring into religious issues and drawing conclusions with 

reference to experience, reason, evidence and dialogue. 

 

  

Page 110

https://www.gold.ac.uk/media/documents-by-section/departments/research-centres-and-units/research-units/faiths-and-civil-society/REforREal-web-b.pdf
http://faithdebates.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/A-New-Settlement-for-Religion-and-Belief-in-schools.pdf
http://faithdebates.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/A-New-Settlement-for-Religion-and-Belief-in-schools.pdf
http://www.reonline.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/REThinking-RE-A-Midrash-June-2016.pdf
http://www.reonline.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/REThinking-RE-A-Midrash-June-2016.pdf


 

 9 

3.3 Setting the Context: The National Picture: 2001 and 2011 Census: Religion 

and belief in England and Wales 

 

  

 2001- 

England/Wales 

2011- 

England/Wales 

Christian 71.7% 59.3% 

Buddhist 0.2% 0.5% 

Hindu 1.1% 1.5% 

Jewish 0.5% 0.5% 

Muslim 3.1% 4.8% 

Sikh 0.6% 0.8% 

None 14.8% 25.1% 

 

 

The 2011 Census demonstrates significant changes in terms of religion and belief, 

not least the decrease in people who identify as Christian (though this remains the 

largest religion) and an increase in those reporting no religion. The report ‘RE for 

Real’1 makes the point that the content of RE “should reflect the real religious 

landscape” [p.1] and this is something that must be addressed. Further, the Report 

of the Commission on Religion and Belief in Public life, ‘Living with Difference’, also 

talks about the transformation of the religious landscape and has as one of its 

recommendations, “Much greater religion and belief literacy is needed in every 

section of society, and at all levels.”[p.8] 2 

 

  

                                            
1 RE for Real, Dinham/Shaw, 2015 
2 ‘Commission on Religion and Belief in Public life: Living with Difference’, Butler-Sloss, 
2014. For links to national reports, see Appendix 1. 
 

Page 111



 

 10 

2011 Census: Religion and belief in England and Wales/Lincolnshire 

 

 England/Wales 

% 

Lincolnshire 

% 

Christian 59.3 68.5 

Buddhist 0.5 0.2 

Hindu 1.5 0.2 

Jewish 0.5 0.1 

Muslim 4.8 0.4 

Sikh 0.8 0.1 

None 25.1 23.1 

 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 112



 

 11 

4. Programmes of Study 

RE in the Early Years Foundation Stage 
RE is, unlike the subjects of the National Curriculum, a legal requirement for all 
pupils on the school roll, including those in the Reception year [see EYFS Statutory 
Framework 2017].  
 
4.1 The contribution of RE to the specific areas of the early learning goals. 
Communication and language:  

Children:  

 respond creatively, imaginatively and meaningfully to memorable experiences; 

 use a religious celebration as a stimulus and talk about the special events 
associated with it; 

 learn about important religious celebrations through artefacts, stories, music, 

etc.  

Personal, social and emotional development (PSED)   

Children:  

 use some stories from religious traditions as a stimulus to reflect on their own 
experiences and explore them; 

 use role play as a stimulus and talk about some of the ways that people show 
love and concern for others and why this is important; 

 think about issues of right and wrong and how humans help one another; 

 demonstrate a developing awareness of their own needs, views and feelings 
and be sensitive to the needs, views and feelings of others; 

 show a developing respect for their own cultures and beliefs and those of other 
people; 

 show an understanding of what is right, wrong and why. 
Literacy 
Children: 

 listen with enjoyment and respond to stories, songs, music, rhymes and poems 
and make up some of their own; 

 extend their vocabulary, exploring the meaning and sounds of new words. 
Understanding the world  
Children:  

 begin to learn and become aware of their own cultures, beliefs and those of 
other people; 

 ask questions about religion and culture as they encounter them in everyday 
experiences; 

 visit places of worship, learn new words associated with these places and show 
respect towards them; 

 talk about similarities and differences between themselves and others, among 
families, communities and traditions. 

Expressive arts and design   

Children:  

 explore and play with a wide range of media and materials and have 
opportunities and encouragement to share their thoughts, ideas and feelings 
through a variety of activities; 

 use religious artefacts as a stimulus to enable them to think about and express 
meanings associated with the artefact. 

Page 113



 

 12 

 
4.2 Programme of Study for Early Years Foundation Stage 

Teachers may adapt this as they think appropriate. 

Unit title Skills and attitudes 

Pupils should: 

Links to early learning 

goals 

Myself Recognise and explore 

feelings 

Personal, social and 

emotional development 

My special things Understand why some 

things are special/precious 

My friends Establish effective 

relationships with other 

children and adults 

Special people to me Recognise and respond 

appropriately to key figures 

in their lives 

Special times in my life Recognise special times 

and feel good about 

themselves 

Special times for me 

and others 

Recognise and respond to 

key religious events 

throughout the year 

Personal, social and 

emotional development / 

Understanding the world 

Our beautiful world Explore and respond to the 

natural world and recognise 

there are some questions 

that are difficult to answer 

Understanding the world 

My life Appreciate the wonder of 

life and development 

Our living world Care for and respect living 

things: plants and animals 

Our special places Identify places which are 

special to them and to 

others 

Our books are special Know that books are 

important sources of 

Literacy 

Page 114



 

 13 

information and should be 

handled with care and 

respect 

My senses Respond to key elements in 

religion using their five 

senses 

Expressive arts and 

design / Understanding 

the world 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 115



 

 14 

5. Key Stages 1-3 

The proposed programme of study for Key Stages 1-3 includes compulsory and 
additional units.  The compulsory units are set out on pages 15-36, additional units 
on pages 37-42. The compulsory units represent two thirds of RE curriculum time 
and the additional units represent one third of RE curriculum time. 
 
Compulsory units 
 
Christianity is compulsory at each Key Stage.  
In addition: 

 at Key Stage 1 pupils must study Islam 

 at Key Stage 2 pupils must study Hinduism and Islam. Reference may be 
made to other religions and individuals as and when appropriate as points of 
comparison.  

 Other religions, worldviews and thematic topics can be covered in additional 
units. 

 At Key Stage 3 pupils must study Hinduism OR Islam 
 
Please note: Those schools following the Understanding Christianity resource do 
not have to follow the Christianity elements of the compulsory units. 
 
Key areas of enquiry 
           

1. God: What do people believe about God?  

2. Being human: How does faith and belief affect the way people live their 

lives? 

3. Community, worship and celebration: How do people express their religion 

and beliefs? 

4. Life journey: rites of passage: How do people mark important events in life? 

 

 

Page 116



 

 15 

 

This section shows how the study of the compulsory religions is developed at each key stage.  

 
Compulsory elements Key Stage 1-3 
 

Key Stage 1: Christianity 

 

 

God: What do people believe about God? 

What do Christians learn and understand about God through Old Testament Bible stories? 

What do stories in the New Testament tell Christians about Jesus? 

 

Being human: How does faith and belief affect the way people live their lives? 

What does the Bible say about how Christians should treat others and live their lives? 

How can Christian faith and beliefs be seen in the actions of inspirational  Christians?  

 

Community, worship and celebration: How do people express their religion and beliefs? 

What do Christians do to express their beliefs? 

Which celebrations are important to Christians? 

Life journey, rites of passage: How do people mark important events in life? 

What do Christians do to celebrate birth? 

What does it mean and why does it matter to belong? 

P
age 117



 

 16 

 
Key Stage 1 Christianity: Suggested content 
 

    
 
 
 
 

Story Faith in everyday life Personal expression Beginning and belonging 

What do Christians 
learn/understand about God 
through Old Testament Bible 
stories? 
 God’s encounters with people 

in the Old Testament e.g. 
Moses, Abraham, Noah  

 God as a guide 

 God as faithful 

 God as protector 

 God has a plan 

 
What do stories in the New 
Testament tell Christians 
about Jesus? 
  His life and teachings 

(parables) 

 Miracles 

 His followers 

 
 
 
 

What does the Bible say about 
how Christians should treat 
others/live their lives?  
 Parables (e.g. the Good 

Samaritan), Creation Story (people 
should look after what God has 
made). 

 Adam and Eve – making choices 

 Humans are created equal and 
special 

 Jesus’ teaching – treat each other 
as special and equal, e.g. the 
Greatest Commandment (Mark 
12:30-31), the Golden Rule 
(Matthew 7:12) 

 
How can Christian faith and 
beliefs be seen in the actions 
of inspirational Christians? 

 Examples from the Bible, e.g. 
Daniel, Noah, David, Esther, 
Jonah, Mary, the disciples 

What do Christians do to 
express their beliefs?  
 Through developing a sense of 

community with other Christians, 
e.g. by attending church, taking 
part in prayer events  

 Through worship - different types 
of churches, styles of worship 

 Through personal devotion – 
commitment to God shown 
through prayer, actions, e.g. 
baptism, confirmation 

 Through everyday actions and 
behaviour towards other people 

 
Which celebrations are 
important to Christians? 

 Key festivals such as Christmas 
and Easter – what happens and 
why 

What do Christians do to 
celebrate birth?  
 Birth (christening, dedication), 

meaning of actions and symbols 

 
What does it mean and why 
does it matter to belong? 
 What belonging means to 

individual Christians in the locality 

 The church’s role in bringing 
people together, e.g. during key 
festivals such as Christmas and 
Easter 

 

P
age 118



 

 17 

 

Key Stage 1: Islam 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

God: What do people believe about God? 

How is Allah described in the Qur'an? 

What do Muslims learn about Allah and their faith through the Qur'an? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Being human: How does faith and belief affect the way people live their lives? 

What does the Qur'an say about how Muslims should treat others and live their lives? 

How can the Muslim faith and beliefs be seen in the actions of inspirational Muslims? 

  

 

Community, worship and celebration: How do people express their religion and beliefs? 

What do Muslims do to express their beliefs? 

Which celebrations are important to Muslims? 

Life journey, rites of passage: How do people mark important events in life? 

What do Muslims do to celebrate birth? 

 

P
age 119



 

 18 

 
 
Key Stage 1 Islam: Suggested content 
 

    
 
 
 
 

Story Faith in everyday life Personal expression Expressions of belonging 

How is Allah described in the 
Qur’an? 
 Tawhid (Oneness of Allah), 

Creator, provider of all good 
things 

 99 names of Allah 

 
What do Muslims learn 
about Allah and their faith 
through the Qur’an? 
 The Qur’an and why it is special 

- the revealed book for Muslims 

 Stories which help Muslims 
understand the power of Allah, 
e.g. the Night of Power, creation 
story 

 

What does the Qur’an say 
about how Muslims should 
treat others and live their 
lives? 
 Imam (Faith), Sha’adah (statement 

of faith 

 Akhlaq (character, moral conduct 

 Serving others, supporting the 
poor, e.g. Zakah, almsgiving 

 
How can the Muslim faith and 
beliefs be seen in the actions 
of inspirational Muslims? 

 Stories about Muhammed and 
other Prophets, e.g. Ibrahim 

 Examples of stories and teaching, 
e.g. Abdullah, the Servant of God 

 
 

What do Muslims do to 
express their beliefs? 
 Ibadah (worship and belief in 

action) - use of significant 
objects, e.g. prayer beads, 
prayer mats, compass 

 Worship in the home 

 Respect for teachers and elders 

 
Which celebrations are 
important to Muslims? 
 Festivals: the importance of Eid-

ul-Fitr (end of Ramadan) and Eid-
ul-Adha (Ibrahim’s test of faith) 

 

What do Muslims do to 
celebrate birth? 
 Birth of a baby as a blessing -

aqiqah ceremony, why belonging 
is special 

 Call to prayer (Adhaan) into 
baby’s ear and taste of something 
sweet 

 Shaving of head, weighing of hair  

 

 
 
 
 

P
age 120



 

 19 

 

Key Stage 2: Christianity 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

God: What do people believe about God? 

How do symbols in the Bible help a Christian to relate to God? 

What do symbols in the story of the baptism of Jesus reveal about the nature of God? 

What visual symbols and symbolic acts can be seen in a Christian church? 

How might language within worship express Christian belief? 

 

 

 

 

 

Being human: How does faith and belief affect the way people live their lives? 

In what ways does the Bible teach Christians to treat others? 

How is this expressed in practice?  

 

Community, worship and celebration: How do people express their religion and beliefs? 

How is Christian belief expressed collectively? 

How does Christian worship and celebration build a sense of community? 

 

Life journey, rites of passage: How do people mark important events in life? 

How do Christians show they belong? 

 

P
age 121



 

 20 

Christianity Key Stage 2: Suggested content 
 

    

Symbol Faith and belief in action Community expression Expressions of belonging 

How do symbols in the Bible 
help a Christian to relate to 
God? 
 The Trinity: Father (Creator), 

Son (God Incarnate) and Holy 
Spirit (Sustainer) 

 
What do the symbols in the 
story of the baptism of Jesus 
reveal about the nature of 
God? 
 Symbolism of the dove – Holy 

Spirit 

 Symbolism of water – cleansing, 
purity 

 
What visual symbols and 
symbolic acts can be seen in 
a Christian church? 
 Holy Communion (symbolism in 

the Last Supper) -  patterns of 
prayer, giving and acts of 
service 

 Artefacts and visual symbols, 
stained glass windows, altar, 

In what way does the Bible 
teach Christians to treat 
others? 
 Ten commandments (Exodus 

20:1-17, Deuteronomy 5:6-21) 

 The Beatitudes (Matthew 5:1-12) 

 The Sermon on the Mount 
(Matthew 5-7) 

 The Greatest Commandment 
(Mark 12:30-31) 

 
How is this expressed in 
practice? 
 Personal and corporate action – 

agencies, charities, e.g. Christian 
Aid, Tear Fund, CAFOD – link to 
Jesus’ teachings 

 Impact of the faith and actions of 
inspirational people, e.g. Jackie 
Pullinger, Archbishop Justin 
Welby, Mother Theresa, Gladys 
Aylward, Christians Against 
Poverty, Street Pastors 

 
 

How is Christian belief 
expressed collectively? 
 Worship in different Christian 

denominations, e.g. Quaker, 
Methodist, Evangelical, 
Pentecostal and globally, e.g. use 
of silence, music, actions, cultural 
traditions  

 Buildings, artefacts, symbols and 
their links to worship, rituals and 
ceremonies 

 Koinonia – one body of faith, the 
idea of fellowship 

 
How does worship and 
celebration build a sense of 
community? 
 The role of communal celebration 

during worship and festivals, e.g. 
Holy Communion, Pentecost – 
what happens and why 

 Importance of worshipping 
together – singing, praying, 
sharing key life events such as 
birth and marriage 

 

How do Christians show they 
belong? 
 Outward signs of belonging -  

baptism, confirmation, 
dedication, believers’ baptism, 
marriage - promises and vows 
made during these events  

 Symbols or actions that are an 
expression of belonging to the 
Christian faith, e.g. cross, 
ichthus (fish) 

P
age 122



 

 21 

communion table, pulpit, cross, 
etc. 

 Symbols in worship – sign of the 
cross, Holy Communion, 
expressions of worship 

 
How might language within 
worship express Christian 
belief? 

 Psalms, liturgy, the Lord’s 
Prayer, worship songs/hymns, 
creeds 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

P
age 123



 

 22 

Key Stage 2: Hinduism 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

God: What do people believe about God? 

How are deities and key figures described in Hindu sacred texts and stories? 

What might Hindus understand about the Divine through these stories? 

What is the purpose of visual symbols in the mandir? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Being human: How does faith and belief affect the way people live their lives? 

How do Hindus reflect their faith in the way they live? 

What is karma and how does it drive the cycle of samsara? 

How might a Hindu seek to achieve moksha?  

 
Community, worship and celebration: How do people express their religion and beliefs? 

How is Hindu belief expressed personally and collectively? 

How does Hindu worship and celebration build a sense of community? 

 

Life journey, rites of passage: How do people mark important events in life? 

How do Hindus show they belong? 

 

P
age 124



 

 23 

 
Key Stage 2 Hinduism: Suggested content 
 

    

Story and symbol Faith and belief in action Community expression Expressions of belonging 

How are deities and key 
figures described in Hindu 
sacred texts and stories? 
 Key scriptures - Vedas, 

Bhagavad Gita, Ramayana, 
Mahabharata 

 Key themes in the Mahabharata 
– doing the right thing, making 
ethical choices 

 Creation stories and stories 
about deities and key figures 

 Concept of Trimurti – Brahma, 
Vishnu, Shiva. Other deities, e.g. 
Ganesh, Lakshmi, Pavati 

 
What might Hindus 
understand about the Divine 
through these stories? 
 Sanatana Dharma (Eternal Way) 

– to find one’s path to Brahman, 
being a right human being 

 One God (Brahman), Ultimate 
Reality, symbolised in diverse 
forms/formless, male and 

How do Hindus reflect their 
faith in the way they live? 
 Devotion to Brahman; respect for 

mother and mother earth; 
respect for father, ancestors and 
family; respect and care for all 
living things; truthfulness and 
honesty 

 Rituals in the home, e.g. puja, 
aarti, devotion shown to personal 
deities 

 Dharma (moral values) – 
including duty towards self, 
deities, fellow human beings, 
other living beings, society 

 Satsang – togetherness and 
strength of family/community 

 
What is karma and how does 
it drive the cycle of samsara? 
  Karma – 'action', every action 

has an equal reaction either 
immediately or in the future 

 Samsara – process of 

How is Hindu worship 
expressed personally and 
collectively? 
 Individual rather than collective, 

e.g. home shrines, personal 
gods/goddesses 

 In the mandir – puja, bhajan, aarti 
ceremony, prahshad, murtis 

 Artefacts used in worship, e.g. bell, 
puja tray 

 Importance of the family and puja in 
the home 

 Home shrines, rituals, family 
worship 

 
How does Hindu worship and 
celebration build a sense of 
community? 
 Festivals, e.g. Diwali, Holi - stories, 

practices, food, worship, diversity, 
shared experiences 

 Raksha Bandan (Rakhi ceremony) 

 Pilgrimage, sacred places, e.g. 
River Ganges, Varanasi, Ayodhya 

How do Hindus show they 
belong? 
 Samskaras (passage of life) 

 Birth - namkarna (naming 
ceremony), jatakarma 
(welcoming the baby into the 
family) 

 Ear piercing (karnavedha) and 
first haircut (mundan) 

 Upananyana or sacred thread 
ceremony 

 

P
age 125



 

 24 

female, with different images and 
names, e.g. Rama and Sita, 
Krishna, Shiva, Ganesha 

 
What is the purpose of visual 
symbols in the mandir? 
 Key symbols: Om/Aum, 

swastika, lingam, Nandi, 
Ganesh, lotus flower, murtis 

 Puja tray: symbolic items include 
water, a bell, food and incense 

reincarnation 

 Moksha – freedom from samsara 

 
How might a Hindu seek to 
achieve moksha? 
 Do their duty, respect all, aim for 

liberation 

 Through yoga, meditation and 
renunciation 

 Live without committing harm 

 
 

and associated stories 

 

 
 
 
 

 

P
age 126



 

 25 

Key Stage 2 Islam 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

God: What do people believe about God? 

What do the main concepts in Islam reveal about the nature of Allah? 

What is the purpose of visual symbols in a mosque? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Being human: How does faith and belief affect the way people live their lives? 

What does the Qur'an teach Muslims about how they should treat others? 

How do Muslim teachings guide the way Muslims act in the world? 

How are Muslim beliefs expressed in practice?  

 
Community, worship and celebration: How do people express their religion and beliefs? 

How is Muslim worship expressed collectively? 

How does Muslim worship and celebration build a sense of community? 

 

Life journey, rites of passage: How do people mark important events in life? 

How do Muslims show they belong? 

 

P
age 127



 

 26 

 
Key Stage 2 Islam: Suggested content 
 

    
 
 
 
 

Symbol Faith and belief in action Community expression Expressions of belonging 

What do the main concepts 
in Islam reveal about the 
nature of Allah? 
 Tawhid (Oneness of Allah), Iman 

(faith), Ibadah (worship/belief in 
action, includes Five Pillars), 
akhlaq (behaviour, morality) 

 Shahadah – statement of faith 

 Allah’s attributes in the Qur’an, 
signs of Allah’s creation through 
nature, human beings as the 
best of Allah’s creation, Allah’s 
guidance through messengers 
and books 

 
What is the purpose of visual 
symbols in a mosque? 
 Masjid, ‘place of prostration’ 

 Symbolism in Islamic art as 
expression of faith, Islamic 
calligraphy 

 Features of a mosque, e.g. 
dome, minaret, mimbar, prayer 
mats, qiblah, mihrab 

What does the Qur’an teach 
Muslims about how they 
should treat others? 
 Five Pillars of Islam - keeps 

things as Allah intended them to 
be; binds the global Muslim 
community together 

 Following the straight path 

 Family life, roles and 
responsibilities 

 Features of living in a Muslim 
family, e.g. prayer life, facilities for 
wudu, salah and dietary 
arrangements 

 

How do Muslim teachings 
guide the way Muslims act in 
the world? 

 Hadith – how to treat people; 
living Islamically 

 Personal and corporate action 

 Agencies, charities, e.g. Islamic 
Aid 

 

How is Muslim worship 
expressed collectively? 
 Role of the mosque and community 

- social, religious, educational, 
welfare centre 

 Ummah - the global community of 
Muslims 

 Sawm (Ramadan) - significance of 
fasting; reasons/benefits 

 Hajj/Umrah - significance of this 
journey 

 Wudu (ablution) 

 Prayer/Salat in the mosque – 
symbolic actions and meaning, 
prayer beads (subha), Friday 
prayers (Jumu’ah) 

 
How does Muslim worship and 
celebration build a sense of 
community? 
 Eid – how families and 
communities prepare for and 
celebrate the festivals 

 

How do Muslims show they 
belong? 
 Birth – choice of names, the 

qualities or people associated 
with certain names  

 Role of madrasahs, e.g. training 
to become Hafez 

 

P
age 128



 

 27 

  
How are Muslim beliefs 
expressed in practice? 
Through inspirational 
contemporary people, e.g. 
Amir Khan, Salma Yaqoob, 
Yusaf Islam, Nadiya Hussain, 
Zayn Malik, Mo Farah 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 129



 

 28 

Key Stage 3: Christianity 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

God: What do people believe about God? 

What do Christians believe are the key attributes of God and how do they reason about the existence of God? 

What do Christians believe about God's relationship with/to humanity? 

What sources of authority do Christians use to inform their beliefs about God? 

In what diverse ways do Christians demonstrate their beliefs about God? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Being human: How does faith and belief affect the way people live their lives? 

What core Christian beliefs/teachings influence Christian action in the world?  

How and why do Christians engage in social action? 

What is the role of  Christian missionaries and evangelists in the 21st century? 

  

Community, worship and celebration: How do people express their religion and beliefs? 

What kind of Christian experiences are there? 

What range of Christian denominations are there in the UK and what are the similarities/ differences in their 
expression of faith? 

How does a person become a Christian? 

 

 

 

Life journey, rites of passage: How do people mark important events in life? 

How do Christians' beliefs about creation and humanity relate to their understanding of human relationships? 

How do symbols in the Christian marriage service reflect beliefs about God and humanity? 

How and why might Christians differ in their understanding of relationships, marriage, sexuality and gender? 

How do Christians understand death and dying? 

 

 

P
age 130



 

 29 

Key Stage 3 Christianity: Suggested content 
 

    
 
 
 
 

Beliefs about God Faith and belief in a wider 
context 

Identity and expression Cycle of life 

What do Christians believe 
are the key attributes of 
God? 
  Omniscience 

  Omnipresence 

  Omnibenevolence 

  Omnipotence 

  Immanence 

  Transcendence 

  Language about God – issues 
of gender, power, etc. 

 
How do Christians reason 
about the existence of God? 
  Arguments for the existence of 

God, e.g. first cause, design 

  Religious experience, e.g. 
prayer, miracles 

 
What do Christians believe 
about God’s relationship 
with/to humanity? 
 Humans created by God 

What core Christian 
beliefs/teachings influence 
Christian action in the world? 
 God’s relationship with people, 

shown through Jesus’ death and 
resurrection 

 Incarnation – Jesus as God in the 
flesh 

 Sermon on the Mount (Matthew 
5-7) 

 Beatitudes (Matthew 5: 1-12) 

 The Greatest Commandment 
(e.g. Mark 12:30-31, 
Deuteronomy 6:4-5, Leviticus 
19:18) 
 

How and why do Christians 
engage in social action? 
 Contemporary/social and political 

issues,values, relationship 
between the State and the 
Church of England. 

 
What is the role of Christian 

What kind of different 
Christian experiences are 
there? 
 Young people’s experience of 

faith, nationally and globally, e.g. 
Taizé, Greenbelt, Spring Harvest, 
One Event  

 Expressions of Christianity and 
different cultural communities, e.g. 
Pentecostal Christianity, Roman 
Catholicism, churches serving a 
range of cultural groups 

 
What range of Christian 
denominations are there in the 
UK and what are the 
similarities and differences 
their expressions of faith? 
 Religious communities, e.g. 

Benedictines, Franciscans, 
Community of St Anselm 

 Growth and decline of different 
denominations - Orthodox, 
Roman Catholic, Protestant, new 

How do Christian beliefs about 
creation and humanity relate to 
their understanding of human 
relationships? 
 References to human relationships 

in Genesis 2:23-24 

 Genesis 1:26-27 – how Christians 
understand the relationship 
between God and human beings 

 
How do symbols in the 
Christian marriage service 
reflect beliefs in God and 
humanity? 
 Exchanging rings, making 

promises before God and the 
community, commitment 

 
How and why might Christians 
differ in their understanding of 
the purpose of relationships, 
marriage, sexuality and 
gender? 

P
age 131



 

 30 

 Role of human beings – 
stewardship and responsibility 

 Covenant 

 Incarnation 

 Salvation 

 Crucifixion and resurrection 
 

What sources of authority do 
Christians use to inform their 
beliefs about God? 

 The Bible - use and 
interpretation of texts 

 Creeds 

 
In what diverse ways do 
Christians demonstrate their 
beliefs about God? 

 Christianity as a diverse world 
 religion with diverse ways of 
 expressing beliefs about God’s 
 nature 

missionaries and evangelists 
in the 21st century? 
 Definition of evangelism and 

mission 

 The role of 
missionaries/evangelists in the 
twenty-first century, e.g. Pioneer 
Mission, Global Connections 

churches, e.g. Alive, Vineyard 

 
How does a person become a 
Christian? 
 Concepts of conversion, 

conversion vs ‘born into’ in 
different denominations 

 

 Diverse views about divorce, same 
sex marriage, having children, 
contraception 

 Ordination of women 
priests/Bishops, LGBT issues, 
roles of men and women in the 
church, interpretations of the Bible 

 
How do Christians understand 
death and dying? 
 End of life issues, e.g. role of 

hospices; euthanasia, cryonics 

 Beliefs about life after death, 
Jesus’ death and resurrection 

 Funeral services 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 132



 

 31 

Key Stage 3: Hinduism 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

God: What do people believe about God? 

What do Hindus believe about Brahman?  

What is the significance of murtis? 

What do Hindus believe about the relationship between individual deities and Brahman? 

In what way is the Hindu belief about the cyclical nature of the universe reflected by belief in the Trimurti? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Being human: How does faith and belief affect the way people live their lives? 

What affects Hindu beliefs and attitudes towards others and the environment?  

In what ways do the four varnas (social classes) impact upon Hindu society? 

How and why do Hindus engage in social action? 

What are the four paths (margas)?  

  

Community, worship and celebration: How do people express their religion and beliefs? 

Why might some Hindus choose to pursue the path of renunciation (sannyasa)? 

What practical implications do some Hindu practices have for life in modern Britain? 

What is the significance of the Kumbh Mela? 

 
 

 

Life journey, rites of passage: How do people mark important events in life? 

What  are the stages of life in Hindu belief and how are they reflected in Hindu practice? 

How do the key features of a Hindu marriage ceremony reflect Hindu beliefs about human relationships? 

Does sexuality and gender matter in Hinduism? 

What do Hindus believe about euthanasia, suicide, death and dying? 

 

 

P
age 133



 

 32 

Key Stage 3 Hinduism: Suggested content 
 

    

Belief about God/Bhagwan 
 

Faith and belief in a wider 
context 

Identity and expression Cycle of life 

What do Hindus believe about 
Brahman? 
 Ultimate reality, Supreme Truth, 

Unchanging Principle, cause of 
existence 

 Connected to humans via the 
soul (atman) 

 
What is the significance of 
murtis? 
 Representation or ‘embodiment’ 

of Bhagwan 

 
What do Hindus believe about 
the relationship between 
individual deities and 
Brahman? 
 Brahman – eternal origin, the 

cause and foundation of all 
existence 

 Representation of Brahman 
through deities, an aid to 
devotion and worship 

 Avatars - representatives of 

What affects Hindu beliefs 
and attitudes towards others 
and the environment? 
 Ahimsa (non-violence) - the 

greatest dharma. Ahimsa to the 
earth improves karma 

 Responsibility towards animals - 
vegetarianism 

 Earth/universe seen as 
manifestation of Brahman 

 
In what ways do the four 
varnas (social classes) impact 
upon Hindu society? 
 Four varnas: shudras, vaishyas, 

khatriyas and brahmins 

 Changing attitudes to the caste 
system 

 
How and why do Hindus 
engage in social action? 
 Importance of four virtues 

(yamas): ahimsa (non-violence), 
daya (compassion), dama (self-

Why might some Hindus 
choose to pursue the path of 
renunciation (sannyasa)? 
 To achieve moksha – involves 

giving up worldly life and material 
possession 

 
What practical implications do 
some Hindu practices have 
for life in modern Britain? 
 Animal rights, diet 

 Funeral practices, e.g. debate 
about open air cremation and its 
symbolism 

 
What is the significance of the 
Kumbh Mela? 
 Reflection of diversity of Hindu 

expression 

 

What are the stages of life in 
Hindu belief and how are 
they reflected in Hindu 
practice? 
 Four different stages of life 

(ashramas) and duties for those 
in the top varnas, castes, jatis 

 
What are the key features of 
a Hindu marriage ceremony 
and how do they reflect 
Hindu beliefs about human 
relationships? 
 Vivah sanskar – wedding 

sacraments 

 Main stages – Jayamaala, 
Madhu-Parka, Gau Daan and 
Kanya Pratigrahan 

 Vivaha-homa – sacred fire, 
sacred mantras 

 Paanigrahan – sacred vows 

 Sapta-Padi – main and legal 
part of ceremony 

 Ashirvada – blessings 

P
age 134



 

 33 

deities in human form, e.g. 
Krishna, an avatar of Vishnu 

 
In what way is the Hindu 
belief about the cyclical 
nature of the universe 
reflected by belief in the 
Trimurti? 
The Trimurti – aspects or functions 
of the same divinity – every created 
thing in the universe has a 
beginning, an existence, and an 
ending. 
 
 

 
 

control and restraint), dana 
(generosity and giving)  

 Dharma e.g. eternal law, duty, 
conduct, behaviour, morality and 
righteousness 

 
What are the four paths 
(margas)? 
 Four yogas: jnana (knowledge), 

karma (action, service), bhakti 
(devotion), astanga/raja (mind 
and meditation) 

 

Does sexuality and gender 
matter in Hinduism? 
 Role of males, e.g. priesthood, 

during key festivals and 
ceremonies 

  Shaktism, the Devi 

 Expectation of heterosexual 
marriage, seen as important 
duty, linked to reproduction 

 Same sex relationships – 
diverse views among Hindus 
and within scriptures 

 
What do Hindus believe 
about euthanasia and 
suicide? 
 Diversity of viewpoints about 

euthanasia 

 Suicide generally seen as 
unacceptable - exceptions 
include prayopavesa (fasting to 
death) in certain circumstances 

 
What do Hindus believe 
about death and dying? 

 Re-birth of atman 
(reincarnation), karma, samsara, 
moksha 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 135



 

 34 

 

Key Stage 3 Islam 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

God: What do people believe about God? 

How do Muslim beliefs connect with the Muslim understanding of Allah?  

What sources of authority do Muslims use to inform their beliefs about Allah? 

In what diverse ways do Muslims demonstrate their beliefs about Allah? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Being human: How does faith and belief affect the way people live their lives? 

What core Muslim beliefs/teachings influence Muslim action in the world?  

How and why do Muslims engage in social action? 

Why do Muslims understand struggle/effort (jihad) to be a key feature of their faith?  

 
 

Community, worship and celebration: How do people express their religion and beliefs? 

How diverse is Islam in the UK and how important is this concept in the context of the Ummah (global Muslim 
community)? 

What practical implications do some Muslim practices have for life in modern Britain? 

 
 

 

Life journey, rites of passage: How do people mark important events in life? 

How do Muslim beliefs about Allah and humanity relate to a Muslim understanding of human relationships? 

What are the key features and purposes of a Muslim marriage ceremony? 

How might Muslims differ in their views about relationships, marriage, divorce, sexuality, and gender? 

How do Muslim beliefs about death and the afterlife affect the way Muslims live their lives? 

 

 

P
age 136



 

 35 

 
 
 
Key Stage 3 Islam: Suggested content 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  

Beliefs about God/Ultimate 
reality 

Faith and belief in a wider 
context 

Identity and expression Cycle of life 

How do key Muslim beliefs 
connect with the Muslim 
understanding of Allah? 
 99 names of Allah 

 Six articles of faith: belief in Allah 
as the one and only God, belief 
in angels; belief in the holy books; 
belief in the Prophets, e.g. 
Adam, Ibrahim (Abraham),   

   (Moses), Dawud, Isa (Jesus), 
belief in Muhammed as the final 
prophet 

 
What sources of authority do 
Muslims use to inform their 
beliefs about Allah? 
 Sources of authority – Qur’an, 

Sunnah, Hadith 

 
In what diverse ways do 
Muslims demonstrate their 

What core Muslim 
beliefs/teachings influence 
Muslim action in the 
world? 
 Submission to the will of Allah 

 Importance of following the 
straight path 

 Belief in the importance of 
observing the Five Pillars/Ten 
Obligatory Acts 

 
How and why do Muslims 
engage in social action? 
 Zakat – individual and 

communal; systematic giving – 
2.5% of disposable income 

 Work of Muslim Hands UK, 
Islamic Relief, Human Appeal 

 
Why do Muslims 
understand struggle/effort 

How diverse is Islam in the UK 
and how important is this 
concept in the context of the 
Ummah (global Muslim 
community)?  
 Use of census data and Pew 

Research – www.pewresearch.org 

 Different identities in parts of the 
UK - key similarities and 
differences between groups  

 Diverse interpretation of gender 
roles 

 Difference of expression, e.g. 
dress – niqab, hijab, burka, 
chador, shalwar kameez, thobe, 
kuffiyeh 

 
What practical implications do 
some Muslim practices have 
for life in modern Britain? 
 Hajj/Umrah, including practical 

How do Muslim beliefs about 
Allah and humanity relate to a 
Muslim understanding of 
human relationships? 
 Marriage designed by Allah to 

ensure the preservation of human 
life 

 
What are the key features and 
purposes of a Muslim marriage 
ceremony? 
 Variations in practice – mixture of 

cultural/religious practices, e.g. 
mahr, nikah, walimah 

 Social contract, rights and 
obligations 

 Celibacy generally seen as 
unacceptable 

 
How might Muslims differ in 
their views about  

P
age 137

http://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/p003k9gf
http://www.bbc.co.uk/religion/religions/islam/texts/quran_1.shtml
http://www.bbc.co.uk/religion/religions/islam/history/ibrahim.shtml
http://www.pewresearch.org/


 

 36 

beliefs about Allah? 
 Different branches of Islam: Sunni, 

Shi’a, - origins, divisions, 
differences 

 Sufi (Tasawwuf) 

 Expression of Muslim beliefs 
through Islamic art 

(jihad) to be a key feature 
of their faith? 
 Greater/lesser jihads 

 Spiritual and physical aspects 
of jihad 

 

implications – environment 

 Ramadan 

 Prayer spaces 

 Diet, e.g. halal/haram 

 Sharia law – divine guidance 

 

relationships, marriage, 
divorce, sexuality and gender? 
 Views on polygamy, LBGT issues, 
including same sex marriage 

 Entitlement to divorce 

 Different interpretations of the role 
of women – religious and cultural 

 Same sex relationships generally 
forbidden  

 
How do Muslim beliefs about 
death and the afterlife affect the 
way Muslims live their lives? 
 Diversity within ceremonies 

 Death and akhirah, belief in an 
afterlife 

 Euthanasia and suicide forbidden 
 
 
 
Please see Appendix 10 which shows how pupils make progress in their understanding of each compulsory religion 
through each key stage. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 138



 

 37 

6. Additional Units – Key Stages 1-3 

Time allocation and planning 

 

As stated earlier, it is up to schools to decide how they plan their RE curriculum and there are many models in place, e.g. weekly 

sessions, blocked time, RE days/weeks. It is recommended that approximately two thirds of time (over a year) is spent on the 

compulsory units and the remainder of the time on additional units.   

 

P
age 139



 

 38 

Key Stage 1

 Schools must deliver two units from the list below. One unit should be covered during each year. 
 

1. Places of worship  
At least two religions; at least one must be a religion/belief system other than Christianity, Hinduism and Islam. 
Symbols, architecture, worship, diversity, practices, connections with key beliefs, etc. Schools should utilise local 
places where possible. 
 

2. Creation/the natural world 
At least two religions; at least one must be a religion/belief system other than Christianity, Hinduism and Islam. 
Religious/non-religious accounts of the origins of the universe; key religious beliefs about the natural world and 
human interaction with the natural world. 
 

3. Thankfulness 
At least two religions; at least one must be a religion/belief system other than Christianity, Hinduism and Islam. 
Religious/non-religious beliefs about thankfulness and gratitude; examples of religious festivals/practices that focus 
on saying thank you, e.g. Eid, Sukkot, Harvest, Holi 
 

4. In-depth study of another religion/belief system 
At least one religion/belief system; must be a religion/belief system other than Christianity, Hinduism and Islam. 
Key beliefs, practices, festivals, symbols, etc. Opportunities to compare and contrast with compulsory units. 
 

5. Any other study designed by the school 
At least two religions; at least one must be a religion/belief system other than Christianity, Hinduism and Islam 
 

P
age 140



 

 39 

Key Stage 2 
 
 Schools must deliver four units from the list below. One unit must be covered each year. 

 
1. Pilgrimage 

At least two religions; at least one must be a religion/belief system other than Christianity, Hinduism and Islam. 
Enquiry into journeys carried out by religious people – motivations for the journey, key destinations, practices 
associated with the journey, key beliefs expressed by the journey, etc.; opportunity to include local places of 
pilgrimage. 
 

2. Forgiveness 
At least two religions; at least one must be a religion/belief system other than Christianity, Hinduism and Islam. 
Religious/non-religious beliefs about forgiveness; examples of religious festivals/practices/stories that focus on 
saying sorry and asking for forgiveness, e.g. Yom Kippur, Diwali, Easter. 
 

3. Expressing belief through the arts 
At least two religions; at least one must be a religion/belief system other than Christianity, Hinduism and Islam. 
Exploring diverse ways in which religious and non-religious people express their beliefs through the arts; could 
include local case studies. 

 
4. Big Questions 

At least two religions; at least one must be a religion/belief system other than Christianity, Hinduism and Islam. 
Enquiry into the ‘big questions’ asked by religions/belief systems, e.g. ‘Who am I?’, ‘what is a good life?’, ‘does God 
exist?’, ‘is there life after death?’, etc. 

 
5. Spirituality and New Religious Movements 

At least two examples of spirituality/New Religious Movements 
Exploring what is meant by the term ‘spirituality’ and how this relates to religion as a formal system of beliefs and 
practices; exploring examples of New Religious Movements and considering reasons for their rise in popularity in the 
twenty-first century; opportunities to compare and contrast with other religions studied at KS2. 
 

6. In-depth study of another religion/belief system 

P
age 141



 

 40 

At least one religion/belief system; must be a religion/belief system other than Christianity, Hinduism and Islam. 
Key beliefs, practices, festivals, symbols, etc. Opportunities to compare and contrast with compulsory units. May 
wish to continue to deepen learning encountered at KS1. 
 

7. Any other study designed by the school 
At least two religions; at least one must be a religion/belief system other than Christianity, Hinduism and Islam. 

 
 
 

P
age 142



 

 41 

 Key Stage 3 
 
KS3 Schools must deliver two units from the list below if the school has a two year key stage 3 (e.g. where the school begins GCSE 

work during year 9) and three units if a three year key stage 3:  
 

1. What is Religion? What is Belief? 
At least two religions; at least one must be a religion/belief system other than Christianity, Hinduism and Islam. 
Enquiry into the definition and nature of religion making reference to the religions being studied; consideration of ways in 
which we gain knowledge in order to make truth claims (e.g. epistemology and rationalism); exploration of the diverse 
ways of understanding how we believe (e.g. belief in, belief that). 
 

2. Prejudice and Discrimination 
At least two religions; at least one must be a religion/belief system other than Christianity, Hinduism and Islam. 
Exploration of religious prejudice and discrimination – within, between and beyond religious traditions; opportunities to 
consider the internal diversity of religions and enquire into the significance of public religious literacy when dealing with 
issues of prejudice and discrimination. 
 

3. Religion in the Media 
At least two religions; at least one must be a religion/belief system other than Christianity, Hinduism and Islam. 
Exploring diverse ways in which religious and non-religious belief systems are depicted in the media; considering the 
role of the media (including social media) in promoting, disseminating and critically analysing religious beliefs and 
practices.  
 
 

4. In-depth study of another religion/belief system 
At least one religion/belief system; must be a religion/belief system other than Christianity, Hinduism and Islam. 
Key beliefs, practices, festivals, symbols, etc. Opportunities to compare and contrast with compulsory units. 
 

5. Philosophy and Religion 
Key philosophical questions should be considered within the context of at least one religion/belief system other than 
Christianity, Hinduism and Islam. 
Philosophical arguments relating to the existence of God, e.g. cosmological, design, moral, religious experience 

P
age 143



 

 42 

arguments. Ideas about reality, identity, dualism; engagement of religious and belief traditions with ethical issues, e.g. 
euthanasia, social justice, good/evil. 
 

6. Religion, Belief and Creativity 
At least two religions; at least one must be a religion/belief system other than Christianity, Hinduism and Islam. 
Exploration of the variety of ways in which beliefs can be expressed and shared creatively through the arts, e.g. using 
art, photography, film, poetry – opportunity to engage with local and  national projects such as Spirited Arts. 
 

7. Any other study designed by the school 
At least two religions; at least one must be a religion/belief system other than Christianity, Hinduism and Islam. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 144



 

 43 

7. Key Stage 4 and 5 Guidance: Compliance with Statutory Duties 

Despite not being part of the English Baccalaureate (EBacc) suite of subjects, RE 
remains a statutory subject at key stage 4 for all students in state-funded schools. 
Religious Studies (RS) remains one of the ‘approved qualifications’ that can 
contribute to a student’s Attainment 8 score and therefore contribute to their 
overarching Progress 8 score. In relation to key stage 5, RE remains a statutory 
subject for all students, although those aged 18 are entitled to withdraw from the 
subject upon request. It is therefore important that students are given an appropriate 
time allocation to broaden and deepen their understanding of religions, beliefs and 
worldviews at key stages 4 and 5, regardless of whether they are entered for an 
accredited qualification in Religious Studies (RS). It is also an expectation that 
schools will publish their RE curriculum on their website, in compliance with the legal 
duty to publish curriculum information. This enables schools to evidence that they 
are providing a broad and balanced curriculum. For students who are being entered 
for an accredited qualification in RS, the Ofqual requirements for time allocation 
should be upheld (120-140 guided learning hours over the course of key stage 4).  
 
At KS4 and KS5, it is expected that students will be given the opportunity to build on 
prior learning in RE, broadening and deepening their understanding of religions, 
beliefs and worldviews, including non-religious worldviews. It is important to provide 
appropriate progression pathways both for those students who wish to sit an 
accredited qualification in RS and those who do not. In the case of the former, this 
will be the provision of specific learning opportunities appropriate to the qualification, 
including appropriate curriculum time, access to relevant resources and expertise, 
etc. For the latter, this may be distributed learning alongside other curriculum areas, 
such as Citizenship and the Humanities. In this case, it is important to ensure that 
the appropriate amount of curriculum time (5%) is designated for RE-specific 
teaching. It is acceptable for students to follow a GCSE/A Level RS course without 
being entered for the actual qualification, although this may not be appropriate for all 
students. In either case, students must have the opportunity to encounter a diverse 
range of religions, beliefs and worldviews and develop skills of critical analysis, 
interpretation and evaluation. 
 
7.1 What are the benefits of delivering RE at KS4/KS5? 
Above and beyond the statutory duty to deliver the subject at key stages 4 and 5, RE 
helps to ensure that students are developing their spiritual, moral, social and cultural 
awareness, as well as enabling them to prepare for life in modern Britain. Good RE 
has the potential to develop a sense of identity and belonging. It provides students 
with appropriate religious literacy for citizenship in the UK and helps them to develop 
respect for and tolerance of a range of beliefs and worldviews. In addition, it 
develops their understanding and ability to engage with diverse religions and beliefs 
in the UK and the ways in which these impact on contemporary society. Knowledge 
and understanding of religions, beliefs and worldviews is acknowledged as important 
by employers, who recognise the pragmatic value of engaging with the ways in 
which religions and beliefs are evident in the workplace and community. RS is also 
valued by universities and higher education institutions as a subject that prepares 
students well for further study. Although RS is not listed as one of the ‘facilitating 
subjects’ in the Russell Group’s Informed Choices guidance, it is recognised as an 
appropriate higher level qualification that prepares students for university education: 

Page 145

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/583857/Progress_8_school_performance_measure_Jan_17.pdf
http://www.educationengland.org.uk/documents/dearing1997/dearing1997.html
http://www.gold.ac.uk/media/documents-by-section/departments/research-centres-and-units/research-units/faiths-and-civil-society/REforREal-web-b.pdf
http://www.gold.ac.uk/media/documents-by-section/departments/research-centres-and-units/research-units/faiths-and-civil-society/REforREal-web-b.pdf
http://www.gold.ac.uk/media/documents-by-section/departments/research-centres-and-units/research-units/faiths-and-civil-society/REforREal-web-b.pdf
http://russellgroup.ac.uk/for-students/school-and-college-in-the-uk/subject-choices-at-school-and-college/


 

 44 

 
“There are some advanced subjects which provide suitable preparations for entry to 
University generally, but which we do not include within the facilitating subjects, 
because there are relatively few degree programmes where an advanced level 
qualification in these subjects would be a requirement for entry. Examples of such 
subject include Economics, Religious Studies and Welsh.”3 
 
Schools must make a decision about whether an examination or alternative course is 
most appropriate for their students. The following is adapted from a publication by 
RE Today4. 
 
7.2 Advantages of offering examination courses 

 It may improve the status of the subject in students’ eyes. 

 Examination qualifications acknowledge students’ achievements more 

effectively and may prepare them better for the world of work. 

 Following an examination syllabus may lead to deeper learning. 

 Examination success may strengthen the RE department’s position in school. 

 Examination success at GCSE may encourage students to study Religious 
Studies, or related subjects, at higher levels. 

 
Disadvantages of offering an examination courses 

 Examination courses may not meet students’ needs and may not 
accommodate the full ability range. 

 Working to an examination syllabus may constrain what is explored in the 
subject, e.g. pursuing a topic in more depth, developing creative thinking. 

 It contributes to a system that some would say is obsessed with assessment 
and outcomes. 

 It may be difficult to get the time needed to deliver the syllabus effectively (the 
required tome for a GCSE full course is 120-140 hours). 

 
If a non-examination route is decided upon teachers may: 

 Follow the examination syllabus (but more flexibly) without taking the 
examination. 

 Follow the locally agreed syllabus. 

 Design an RE course based on interests and concerns that would engage 
students. 

 Organise ‘RE Days’, which could include trips out to places of worship, etc. 
 
There is ample guidance online regarding examination courses, e.g. 
https://www.natre.org.uk/secondary/religious-studies-exam-reforms/. 
 
Religious Studies A level entries have more than doubled since 2003, an increase of 
110%. This is more than any other arts, humanities or social science subject. More 
detailed statistics can be found at  https://www.natre.org.uk/news/latest-
news/entries-for-religious-studies-a-level-remain-high-with-the-fastest-growth-

                                            
3
  http://russellgroup.ac.uk/media/5457/informed-choices-2016.pdf, p.29 

 
4 Religious Education: The Teacher’s Guide, RE Today Services (2015), p.26 

Page 146

https://www.natre.org.uk/secondary/religious-studies-exam-reforms/
https://www.natre.org.uk/news/latest-news/entries-for-religious-studies-a-level-remain-high-with-the-fastest-growth-among-arts-humanities-and-social-sciences/
https://www.natre.org.uk/news/latest-news/entries-for-religious-studies-a-level-remain-high-with-the-fastest-growth-among-arts-humanities-and-social-sciences/
http://russellgroup.ac.uk/media/5457/informed-choices-2016.pdf


 

 45 

among-arts-humanities-and-social-sciences/. 
 
A leaflet produced by the Religious Education Council also sets out the benefits of 
RE5.It states, ‘RE is an important subject for everybody, not just because of its 
significance in current world affairs, but because it links so strongly into many other 
fields – music, history, politics, social and cultural issues, global economics – the list 
is endless. No sphere of life is untouched by issues of religion and belief, so how can 
any of us even begin to understand humanity without understanding at least a little 
about the subject? Matters of religion and belief have, directly and indirectly, affected 
all our lives and will continue to do so.’ 
 
7.3 Examples of Religious Literacy Programmes 
Harvard EdX: Religious Literacy – Traditions and Scriptures 
Harvard EdX: World Religions through their Scriptures 
Open University: What is Religion? (available via iTunesU) 
Open University: Religion Today (available via iTunesU) 
 
 
  

                                            
5 http://religiouseducationcouncil.org.uk/media/file/recleaflet.pdf 

Page 147

https://www.natre.org.uk/news/latest-news/entries-for-religious-studies-a-level-remain-high-with-the-fastest-growth-among-arts-humanities-and-social-sciences/
https://www.edx.org/course/religious-literacy-traditions-scriptures-harvardx-hds-3221-1x
https://www.edx.org/xseries/world-religions-through-scriptures
http://religiouseducationcouncil.org.uk/media/file/recleaflet.pdf


 

 46 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Non-statutory section: 

Appendices 
 

  

Page 148



 

 47 

Appendix 1 

 

Reports relevant to RE  

1. RE: The Truth Unmasked, APPG (March 2013) - 

http://religiouseducationcouncil.org.uk/media/file/APPG_RE_-

_The_Truth_Unmasked.pdf 

2. Religious Education: Realising the Potential, Ofsted (2013) -  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/religious-education-realising-the-

potential 

3. A Review of Religious Education in England, Religious Education Council 

(2013)- www.natre.org.uk 

4. Making a Difference, National Society (2014)  - 

https://www.churchofengland.org 

5. Religious Education in Schools: Briefing Paper, House of Commons (2015) - 

http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk 

6. A New Settlement: Religion and Belief in Schools, Clarke/Woodhead (2015) - 

http://faithdebates.org.uk 

7. RE for Real, Dinham/Shaw (2015) - http://www.gold.ac.uk 

8. Living with Difference – Commission on Religion and Belief in British Public 

Life, Woolf Institute (2015) -  http://www.woolf.cam.ac.uk 

9. Improving Religious Literacy, APPG (2016) - http://www.reonline.org.uk 

10. Religious Literacy through Religious Education: The Future of Teaching and 

Learning about Religion and Belief, Dinham/Shaw (2017) – 

http://www.mdpi.com 

11. The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within 

secondary schools in England, NATRE/REC/RE Today, (2017) - 

http://religiouseducationcouncil.org.uk/media/file/State_of_the_Nation_Report

_2017.pdf 

12. Religious Education for All: Commission on Religious Education Interim 

Report, Religious Education Council (2017) - 

http://www.commissiononre.org.uk/religious-education-for-all-commission-

interim-report/ 

  

Page 149

http://religiouseducationcouncil.org.uk/media/file/APPG_RE_-_The_Truth_Unmasked.pdf
http://religiouseducationcouncil.org.uk/media/file/APPG_RE_-_The_Truth_Unmasked.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/religious-education-realising-the-potential
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/religious-education-realising-the-potential
http://www.natre.org.uk/
https://www.churchofengland.org/
http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/
http://faithdebates.org.uk/
http://www.gold.ac.uk/
http://www.woolf.cam.ac.uk/
http://www.reonline.org.uk/
http://www.mdpi.com/
http://religiouseducationcouncil.org.uk/media/file/State_of_the_Nation_Report_2017.pdf
http://religiouseducationcouncil.org.uk/media/file/State_of_the_Nation_Report_2017.pdf
http://www.commissiononre.org.uk/religious-education-for-all-commission-interim-report/
http://www.commissiononre.org.uk/religious-education-for-all-commission-interim-report/


 

 48 

Appendix 2 

Ofsted Inspection: Spiritual, Moral, Social and Cultural (SMSC) development 

and fundamental British Values  

 

Section 78(1) of the Education Act 2002 states that all pupils should follow a 

balanced and broadly based curriculum which ‘promotes the spiritual, moral, cultural, 

social, mental and physical development of pupils and of society, and prepares 

pupils for the opportunities, responsibilities and experiences of later life.’ More 

recently, in 2014 the DfE published guidance on promoting British values in schools 

to ensure young people leave school prepared for life in modern Britain. All schools 

now have a duty to ‘actively promote’ the fundamental British values of democracy, 

the rule of law, individual liberty, and mutual respect and tolerance of those with 

different faiths and beliefs. These values were first set out by the government in the 

‘Prevent’ strategy in 2011.The guidance states that pupils must be encouraged to 

regard people of all faiths, races and cultures with respect and tolerance:  

‘It is expected that pupils should understand that while different people may hold 

different views about what is ‘right’ and ‘wrong’, all people living in England are 

subject to its law. The school’s ethos and teaching, which schools should make 

parents aware of, should support the rule of English civil and criminal law and 

schools should not teach anything that undermines it. If schools teach about religious 

law, particular care should be taken to explore the relationship between state and 

religious law. Pupils should be made aware of the difference between the law of the 

land and religious law.’ 

See DfE publication, ‘Promoting fundamental British values through SMSC (2014).6 

Ofsted takes the inspection of provision for SMSC very seriously. Inspectors may 
judge a school’s overall effectiveness to require improvement if ‘there are 
weaknesses in the overall promotion of pupils’ spiritual, moral, social and cultural 

development.’  A school may be judged to be inadequate if ‘there are serious 

weaknesses in the overall promotion of pupils’ spiritual, moral, social and cultural 

development.’  [Ofsted School Inspection Handbook7]  

The School Inspection Handbook, August 2016  

Para 135 

Before making the final judgement on overall effectiveness, inspectors must 

evaluate: 

 the effectiveness and impact of the provision for pupils’ spiritual, moral, social 

and cultural development 

                                            
6 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-fundamental-british-values-through-smsc 

 
7
 Ofsted School Inspection Handbook, Ofsted (2016), p.36 

Page 150



 

 49 

 the extent to which the education provided by the school meets the needs of 

the range of pupils at the school including 

- pupils who have disabilities 

- pupils who have special educational needs. 

 
Defining spiritual, moral, social and cultural development 
 
Para 136: The spiritual development of pupils is shown by their:  

 ability to be reflective about their own beliefs, religious or otherwise, that 
inform their perspective on life and their interest in and respect for different 
people’s faiths, feelings and values  

 sense of enjoyment and fascination in learning about themselves, others and 
the world around them 

 use of imagination and creativity in their learning 

 willingness to reflect on their experiences.    

Para 137: The moral development of pupils is shown by their:   

 ability to recognise the difference between right and wrong and to readily 
apply this understanding in their own lives, recognise legal boundaries and, in 
so doing, respect the civil and criminal law of England 

 understanding of the consequences of their behaviour and actions 

 interest in investigating and offering reasoned views about moral and ethical 
issues and ability to understand and appreciate the viewpoints of others on 

these issues.   

Para 138: The social development of pupils is shown by their:   

 use of a range of social skills in different contexts, for example working and 
socialising with other pupils, including those from different religious, ethnic 
and socio-economic backgrounds 

 willingness to participate in a variety of communities and social settings, 
including by volunteering, co-operating well with others and being able to 
resolve conflicts effectively 

 acceptance and engagement with the fundamental British values of 
democracy, the rule of law, individual liberty and mutual respect and tolerance 
of those with different faiths and beliefs; they develop and demonstrate skills 
and attitudes that will allow them to participate fully in and contribute positively 

to life in modern Britain.   
Para 139: The cultural development of pupils is shown by their:  

 understanding and appreciation of the wide range of cultural influences that 
have shaped their own heritage and those of others 

 understanding and appreciation of the range of different cultures within school 
and further afield as an essential element of their preparation for life in modern 
Britain 

 knowledge of Britain’s democratic parliamentary system and its central role in 
shaping our history and values, and in continuing to develop Britain  

 willingness to participate in and respond positively to artistic, musical, sporting 
and cultural opportunities 

 interest in exploring, improving understanding of and showing respect for 
different faiths and cultural diversity and the extent to which they understand, 
accept, respect and celebrate diversity, as shown by their tolerance and 

Page 151



 

 50 

attitudes towards different religious, ethnic and socio- economic groups in the 

local, national and global communities.   

2.2 British Values 
In the section on Effectiveness of Leadership and Management (p.36) attention is 
drawn to the requirement for schools to promote British values. Inspectors will 
consider: ‘How well the school prepares pupils positively for life in modern Britain 
and promotes the fundamental British values of democracy, the rule of law, individual 
liberty and mutual respect for and tolerance of those with different faiths and beliefs 
and for those without faith.’ 8 Inspectors also consider ‘how well leaders and 
governors promote all forms of equality and foster greater understanding of and 
respect for people of all faiths (and those of no faith), races, genders, ages, disability 
and sexual orientations (and other groups with protected characteristics), through 
their words, actions and influence within the school and more widely in the 
community’.9 

2.3 Factors contributing to inadequate leadership and management include:  

 The range of subjects is narrow and does not prepare pupils for the 
opportunities, responsibilities and experiences of life in modern Britain.  

 Leaders and governors are not protecting pupils from radicalisation and 
extremist views when pupils are vulnerable to these. Policy and practice are 

poor, which means pupils are at risk.   

2.4 Quality of teaching, learning and assessment  
Amongst other things, inspectors will evaluate the extent to which ‘equality of 
opportunity and recognition of diversity are promoted through teaching and 
learning.’10 
 
Teaching, learning and assessment are likely to be inadequate if ‘Teachers do 
not promote equality of opportunity or understanding of diversity effectively and so 
discriminate against the success of individuals or groups of pupils’. 11 
Inspection of religious education and collective worship [From the Ofsted 
Handbook 201612  
 
2.5 Schools with a religious character  
If a voluntary or foundation school is designated as having a denominational 
religious character (‘a school with a religious character’), then denominational 
religious education, the school ethos and the content of collective worship are 
inspected under section 48 of the Education Act 2005. An academy designated as 
having a religious character by the Secretary of State is inspected in an equivalent 
way by virtue of a provision in the academy’s funding agreement. The inspectors 
who conduct section 48 inspections are appointed by the school’s governing body or 
the foundation governors in a voluntary controlled school, having consulted with 
person(s) prescribed in regulations (normally the appropriate religious authority) 

                                            
8 Ofsted School Inspection Handbook, Ofsted (2016), p.37, para 141, bullet 8 
9
 Ofsted School Inspection Handbook, Ofsted (2016), p.38, para 141, bullet 4 

10
 Ofsted School inspection Handbook, Ofsted (2016), p.44, para 155, bullet 8 

11 Ofsted School Inspection Handbook, Ofsted (2016), p.49, para 163 
12

 Ofsted School Inspection Handbook, Ofsted, (2016), p.69-71 

Page 152



 

 51 

where applicable. The inspectors are normally drawn from the relevant faith group’s 
section 48 inspection service, although not all faith groups have their own inspectors 
organised in this way. Regulations specify that section 48 inspections must be 
conducted within five school years from the end of the school year in which the last 

section 48 inspection took place.
13

 In schools with a religious character, section 5 
inspectors must not comment on the content of religious worship or on 
denominational religious education (RE). Inspectors may visit lessons and 
assemblies in order to help them evaluate how those contribute to pupils’ spiritual, 
moral, social and cultural development and their personal development, behaviour 
and welfare.  
The relationship between section 5 and section 48 inspections is governed by a 
protocol between Ofsted and signatory faith group inspectorates.  

Ofsted’s lead inspector should check the section 48 arrangements and:  

 if a section 48 inspection is occurring at the same time, the section 5 report, in 
the section on ‘information about this school’, should mention that a section 48 
inspection also took place; the section 5 report should not use evidence from 
the section 48 inspection 

 if a section 48 inspection has been carried out since the previous section 5 or 
short inspection, inspectors should inform themselves of any key issues raised 
but should not use its evidence in their own inspection 

 if no section 48 inspection by a suitable person has taken place, the lead 
inspector should check the arrangements; if the governors have not arranged 
for a section 48 inspection, inspectors should conclude that they have failed to 
carry out a statutory responsibility and refer to this in the section 5 inspection 
report.  

 
2.6 Schools without a religious character  
In the case of other maintained schools and academies where religious education 
(RE) is being provided in line with the legislation that underpins the locally agreed 
syllabus, RE is inspected under section 5 of the Education Act 2005.  
These schools must conform to the legal requirements for non-faith schools:  

 RE in maintained schools (except voluntary aided schools, those with specific 
trust requirements and voluntary controlled/foundation schools whose parents 
request denominational RE) should be based on the locally agreed syllabus 
prepared by the Agreed Syllabus Conference (ASC). The RE curriculum 
should reflect the fact that the religious traditions in Britain are, in the main, 
Christian while taking account of the teaching and practices of the other 
principal religions represented in Britain. It also means that a school or 
academy without a religious designation must not provide an RE syllabus (or 
any other) to pupils by means of any catechism or formulary that is distinctive 
of any particular religious denomination. 

 Academies may, but are not required to, follow the locally agreed RE syllabus. 
Alternatively, they can devise their own syllabus, but it must be in line with the 

                                            
13

 Regulation 4 of The Education (School Inspection) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2009.  

 

Page 153



 

 52 

legislation that underpins the locally agreed syllabus as mentioned above. 
Academies without a defined religious character must provide collective 
worship that is ‘wholly or mainly of a broadly Christian character’. Inspectors 

should note any requirements of the academy’s funding agreement.   
 
2.7 What do the Ofsted requirements mean for schools? 
RE clearly has a contribution to make to the provision for SMSC and British values 
but headteachers, senior leaders and governors need to be sure that these areas 
are regarded as whole school responsibilities. Carrying out an audit of provision 
across subjects and other school activities may be useful but it is the impact that is 
most significant. 
 

RE subject leaders need to consider the role the subject plays in preparing pupils for 

adult life, employment and lifelong learning. Exploring the concepts of religion and 

belief alongside SMSC has the potential to raise pupils’ moral awareness alongside 

social and cultural understanding. 

 
 
  

Page 154



 

 53 

Appendix 3 

Church schools: Statement of Entitlement  
[Used with permission] 
 

 

 RELIGIOUS EDUCATION IN CHURCH OF ENGLAND SCHOOLS  

A Statement of Entitlement from the Board of Education/National Society Council14  

This statement is intended as a guide for all involved in church schools and 
academies ensuring the teaching and learning of Religious Education (RE) is treated 
with the importance and delivered with the excellence it deserves. It includes aims, 
outcomes, teaching and learning about Christianity, teaching and learning about 
other faiths and world views, curriculum balance, curriculum time, staff and 
outcomes for pupils. These areas raise important issues for policy making for 
schools and dioceses. They can be used with parents and staff to promote 
understanding of the value of RE as well as to support curriculum development and 
syllabus writing where appropriate.  

A high quality religious education (RE) curriculum is essential to meet the statutory 
requirement for all maintained schools to teach a broad and balanced curriculum. At 
the heart of RE in church schools is the teaching of Christianity, rooted in the person 
and work of Jesus Christ. There is a clear expectation that as inclusive communities, 
church schools encourage learning about other religions and world views* fostering 
respect for them. Although there is not a National Curriculum for RE, all maintained 
schools have a statutory duty to teach it. This is equally applicable to academies and 
free schools as it is to maintained schools. In foundation and voluntary controlled 
schools with a religious character, RE must be taught according to the Locally 
Agreed Syllabus unless parents request RE in accordance with the trust deed of the 
school; and, in voluntary aided schools RE must be taught in accordance with the 
trust deed.  

In Church of England schools the students and their families can expect a religious 
education curriculum that is rich and varied, enabling learners to acquire a thorough 
knowledge and understanding of the Christian faith: for example, through the 
Understanding Christianity resource. Church schools should provide a wide range of 
opportunities for learners to understand and to make links between the beliefs, 
practices and value systems of the range of faiths and world views studied. Church 
schools should use some form of enquiry approach that engages with, for example 
biblical text, and helps develop religious and theological literacy. Links with the 

                                            
14 
https://www.churchofengland.org/media/1384868/statement%20of%20entitlement%20to%20re%20in
%20ce%20schools%20(3).pdf 
 

Page 155

https://www.churchofengland.org/media/1384868/statement%20of%20entitlement%20to%20re%20in%20ce%20schools%20(3).pdf
https://www.churchofengland.org/media/1384868/statement%20of%20entitlement%20to%20re%20in%20ce%20schools%20(3).pdf


 

 54 

Christian values of the school and spiritual, moral, social and cultural development 
are intrinsic to the RE curriculum and should have a significant impact on learners.  

RE must have a very high profile within the church school curriculum and learning 
activities should provide fully for the needs of all learners. Learners should be 
inspired by the subject and develop a wide range of higher level skills such as 
enquiry, analysis, interpretation, evaluation and reflection to deepen their 
understanding of the impact of religion on the world. Attainment should be high and 
progress significant in developing an understanding of Christianity and a broad range 
of religions and world views.  

The effectiveness of denominational education in Church of England schools is 
evaluated during the statutory section 48 (SIAMS) inspection. The Evaluation 
Schedule assesses the way RE contributes to a church school’s Christian character. 
It highlights the responsibility of church school leaders to support and resource RE, 
and those teaching it. In voluntary aided schools, a judgement on standards in 
teaching and learning in RE is included in the SIAMS report. This judgement is made 

against the expectations set out in this document.  
 
Religious Education 
The aims of Religious Education are: 

 To enable pupils to know about and understand Christianity as a living faith 
that influences the lives of people worldwide and as the religion that has most 
shaped British culture and heritage.  

 To enable pupils to know and understand about other major world religions 
and world views*, their impact on society, culture and the wider world, 

enabling pupils to express ideas and insights.   

 To contribute to the development of pupils’ own spiritual/philosophical 
convictions, exploring and enriching their own beliefs and values.  

Appropriate to age at the end of their education in Church schools the expectation is 
that all pupils are religiously literate and as a minimum are able to: 

 Give a theologically informed and thoughtful account of Christianity as a living 
and diverse faith. 

 Show an informed and respectful attitude to religions and world views in their 
search for God and meaning. 

 Engage in meaningful and informed dialogue with those of other faiths and 
none. 

 Reflect critically and responsibly on their own spiritual, philosophical and 

ethical convictions.   
   
Effective Teaching and Learning about Religions and World Views 
Church schools have a duty to provide accurate knowledge and understanding of 
religions and world views*. They should provide:  
 

 A challenging and robust curriculum based on an accurate theological 
framework. 

 An assessment process which has rigour and demonstrates progression 

Page 156



 

 55 

based on knowledge  and understanding of core religious concepts. 

 A curriculum that draws on the richness and diversity of religious experience 
worldwide. 

 A pedagogy that instils respect for different views and interpretations and 
where real dialogue and theological enquiry takes place. 

 The opportunity for pupils to deepen their understanding of the religion and 
world views as lived by believers. 

 RE that makes a positive contribution to SMSC development.   

*The phrase world views is used here and throughout the document to refer to the variety of smaller 
religious communities represented in Britain e.g. Baha’i and to non-religious world views such as 
Atheism and Humanism 

Curriculum balance   
Christianity should be the majority study in RE in every school. In Church schools 
that should be clearly adhered to.  

 KS 1 – 3 at least two thirds Christianity15. 

 KS 4 the study of Christianity will be a significant and substantial part of any 
Religious Studies qualification. 

 KS 5 continue the study of religion and world views within the provision of 
core RE in an appropriate format for all students. 

 

Curriculum time   
Sufficient dedicated curriculum time, meeting explicitly RE objectives, however 

organised, should be committed to the delivery of RE. This should aim to be close to 

10% but must be no less than 5%.  
NB: The RE entitlement is totally separate from requirements for Collective Worship.  
 
Developing staff expertise  
To demonstrate the subject’s comparable status with other core curriculum areas in 
both staffing and resourcing, it should be a priority in Church schools to build up staff 
expertise in RE specifically but not exclusively, working towards:  

 At least one member of staff having specialist RE training or qualifications. 

 All staff teaching RE having access to appropriate professional development. 

 All teaching staff and governors having an understanding of the distinctive 
role and purpose of RE within church schools. 

 A governing body which monitors standards in RE effectively.   
 

Expected academic outcomes for pupils   
Pupil achievement in RE should equal or be better than comparable subjects, and all 
pupils should take a recognised and appropriate qualification at KS 4.  
 

                                            
15 Where schools follow an Agreed Syllabus which requires less than 2/3rd Christianity, they should 

enrich their Christianity input e.g. with additional whole-school days on underlying concepts and 
beliefs of Christian festivals  

 

Page 157



 

 56 

The role of the Diocesan Boards of Education  
One function of Diocesan Boards of Boards of Education (DBEs) as set out in the 
DBE measure is to promote, or assist in the promotion of, RE in schools in the 
diocese. This can be fulfilled by: 

 Monitoring the quality of RE in church schools. 

 Offering high quality training to all schools throughout the diocese so that 

provision for RE is effective and promotes religious literacy.   
 

Support for effective and outstanding RE   
RE teachers belong to a wider educational and church community. They should 
expect positive support in providing effective and outstanding RE from:  

 Their senior management team. 

 Their governing body, especially Foundation governors. 

 Their local Diocesan Board of Education, including a Schools’ Adviser with 
an appropriate RE background. 

 Clergy. 

 The Church of England Education Office (see Making a Difference p.31 
no.4).  

 The Church of England representatives on their local SACRE.   

 
  

Page 158



 

 57 

Appendix 4 

Teaching about non-religious worldviews 

 
The 2011 census shows an increase in the number of people identifying as having 
no religion. It is therefore important that RE is delivered in an inclusive way and 
takes into account the views of those who do not have religious beliefs. The term 
‘non-religious world views’ covers a wide range of life stances but the most visible in 
terms of the RE curriculum is Humanism. 
 
Humanism 

It is important than Humanism is not presented as a religion or faith. This sometimes 
happens because the beliefs that pupils learn about are usually religious and 
Humanism is often the only example of a non-religious worldview, philosophy or 
‘belief’. However, pupils should be made aware that under normal definitions of the 
words ‘religion’ and ‘faith’, Humanism is not included. Humanists do not rely on any 
claims about supernatural or transcendent beings or forces, as religions do, and it is 
implicit in Humanism that there is no reliance on faith for knowledge but only on 
reason, evidence and experience. The most important Humanist beliefs are that that 
people can live good lives without religion or a belief in God, and that knowledge 
about what is good is found by using reason, experience and empathy with others, 
not by reference to religious rules and traditions. In summary, most people who call 
themselves humanists: 

 do not believe in God: they may be agnostic or atheist 

 believe that the world and what is true is best understood though experience 
and reason 

 believe that people, whatever their backgrounds, have much in common - that 
many, perhaps most, of our moral values are shared because they are based 
on shared human nature and needs, and what works best when people have 
to live together 

 believe that this life is all there is – there is no afterlife and that the rewards 
and punishments for the way people live our lives are here and now; so 
everyone should make the best use they can of their lives 

Humanist beliefs are often arrived at independently, by evaluating the beliefs around 
one and thinking about how well they relate to the real world and one’s own 
understanding. There are no obligatory practices for Humanists. They may choose to 
join a Humanist organisation such as Humanists UK or seek out other humanists for 
comradeship and support – or not; they may choose Humanist ceremonies for rites 
of passage, or opt for civil ceremonies or none at all.  

 
With this in mind, teaching must not exclude Humanist and other non-religious 
pupils, for example, by: 

 assuming that all pupils belong to a religion or believe in an afterlife, or 
that the existence of God is a given fact 

 confusing ‘moral’ and ‘religious’, and omitting non-religious ethical 
perspectives on moral issues 

 using language or tasks that exclude, e.g. that involve making up prayers 

 confusing story or myth with historic or scientific fact 

Page 159



 

 58 

 omitting humanist ceremonies when teaching about rites of passage - so 
that pupils remain ignorant of ceremonies for the non-religious 

 omitting humanist perspectives on the fundamental questions of life, such 
as death or the purpose of life. 
[Adapted from The RE CPD Handbook16 and RE:Online17] 

 
What could be taught? 
A study of Humanism might include: 

 An exploration of Humanist beliefs and values 

 A study of historical and contemporary Humanists 

 Humanist ceremonies 
 
The Humanists UK has made copies of the book ‘What is Humanism?’, by Michael 
Rosen and Annemarie Young, available for free to schools. ‘Understanding 
Humanism’ is a useful website which includes resources for different key stages: 
www.understandinghumanism.org.uk. 
 
High Court ruling on RE18 
In November 2015 a judge in the High Court ruled in favour of the three Humanist 
parents and their children who challenged the Government’s relegation of non-
religious worldviews in the latest subject content for GCSE Religious Studies. In his 
decision, Mr Justice Warby stated that the Government had made an ‘error of law’ in 
leaving non-religious worldviews such as Humanism out of the GCSE, amounting to 
‘a breach of the duty to take care that information or knowledge included in the 
curriculum is conveyed in a pluralistic manner.’ While the Government will not be 
immediately compelled to change the GSCE requirements, locally agreed RE 
syllabuses will now have to include non-religious worldviews such as Humanism and 
pupils taking a GCSE will also have to learn about non-religious worldviews 
alongside the course. 

 

  

                                            
16 The RE CPD Handbook, Section 2: Religious Traditions and Beliefs – Humanism 

 
17 http://www.reonline.org.uk/knowing/what-re/humanism/ 

 
18 http://religiouseducationcouncil.org.uk/educators/high-court-ruling-on-non-religious-worldviews-in-

re 
 

Page 160

http://www.understandinghumanism.org.uk/
http://www.reonline.org.uk/knowing/what-re/humanism/
http://religiouseducationcouncil.org.uk/educators/high-court-ruling-on-non-religious-worldviews-in-re
http://religiouseducationcouncil.org.uk/educators/high-court-ruling-on-non-religious-worldviews-in-re


 

 59 

Appendix 5 

RE in Special Schools 

 

Pupils in Special Schools have the same entitlement to RE as pupils in mainstream 
schools. The 1993 Education Act states that RE should be taught in special schools, 
‘as far as is practicable’ but there are few guidelines on how to do this. The Religious 
Education Council provides a case study of good practice in a Special School in the 
London Borough of Redbridge: ‘An inclusive approach to Religious Education in a 
Special School: Little Heath.’19 The introduction states, ‘This good practice resource 
offers a tried and tested way of planning and teaching RE for pupils with special 
needs. It addresses many of the concerns expressed by teachers of RE in special 
schools, about how best to create an approach to RE which meets these pupils’ 
distinctive needs and values their personal experiences.’ RE was described in Little 
Heath’s Ofsted report as one of the strengths of the school and the pupils’ spiritual 
awareness was praised. In this case study the RE Subject Leader explores a new 
form of creative RE for pupils with special needs that values their powerful life 
experiences rather than a traditional deficit model based on their limited literacy. She 
found that teachers working with children with special needs in RE value clear 
guidance and a vision about what should be taught, and there are few examples of 
effective practice available to help them. Adapting schemes of work from mainstream 
schools can be challenging for teachers as there is complex content to cover.  

See also ‘Addressing Special Educational Needs and Disability in the Classroom: 
Religious Education’, Dilwyn Hunt, Routledge, 2017. 

 
  

                                            

19
 http://religiouseducationcouncil.org.uk/media/file/Little_Heath_School_-_Good_practice_.pdf 

 

Page 161

http://religiouseducationcouncil.org.uk/media/file/Little_Heath_School_-_Good_practice_.pdf


 

 60 

Appendix 6 

Assessment 

 

Why do we need new guidance? 

We have now moved beyond levels. The Review of National Curriculum (2010-

2014), led by Professor Tim Oates, was highly critical of the previous levels-based 

system.  Levels have now been removed nationally to encourage new assessment 

models, where pupils should learn fewer things in greater depth. The removal of 

levels has left something of an assessment vacuum, which is currently being filled by 

a variety of new models and frameworks.  A general lack of guidance means there is 

no consistency in whole school approaches and RE is not always compatible with 

the commercially produced systems that some use. 

 

6.1 What should assessment do? 

Assessment should show:  

 how well the pupils are doing  

 what they need to do next to make progress  

 the effectiveness of the curriculum and teaching 

 

6.2 Key terms 

Attainment: a measure of actual outcomes relating to what pupils know, understand 

and do.  

Achievement: the extent of a pupil's achievement over time, relative to attainment 

measures and to the pupil's starting point.  

Expectations: a statement of the expected outcomes related to what pupils should 

know, understand and be able to do.  

Progression: curriculum design where content is arranged so that ideas and 

processes become more challenging over time.  

 

6.3 Two current models 

Knowledge-Based Models:  these prioritise the assessment of key ideas or concepts 

in religions and belief, e.g. the Understanding Christianity resource - 

http://www.understandingchristianity.org.uk/. 

Skills-Based Models: these prioritise pupils’ ability to develop the skills needed to 

handle ‘religious’ materials, e.g. ‘Learn, Teach, Lead RE’, based around Bloom’s 

Taxonomy and mastery - http://ltlre.org/. 

 

What is mastery learning? 

 It is based on the belief that the main difference between pupils is the speed 

at which they learn rather than ability. 

Page 162

http://www.understandingchristianity.org.uk/
http://ltlre.org/


 

 61 

 This means that the essential purpose of assessment is to check that pupils 

have grasped what they have been taught rather than comparing them 

against each other as in formative assessment. 

 The premise is that nearly all pupils can achieve 'mastery' of a subject. 

Mastery is not the highest standard that can be reached but the standard 

that can be reached by most pupils.  

 Teachers do not move on to new work until all pupils have 'mastered' or 

reached the expected standard on the present one. 

 Pupils who complete the work to ‘mastery’ are given work at greater depth. 

 

Which approach is best? 

Ideally, one that combines both models to form the following focuses for 

assessment: 

 Knowledge and understanding of religious and non-religious worldviews; 

 Critical analysis and evaluation of important questions and experiences of life 

in relation to religious and non-religious worldviews. 

  

6.4 How to make assessment manageable 

 Teach and assess fewer things in greater depth. 

 Conduct interviews with a sample of pupils representing different ability levels 

to assess their learning over a period of time. 

 Ensure that learning objectives are clear in advance of each assessment 

activity, so that pupils’ responses can be easily related to those objectives. 

 Be very focused on what it is that is being assessed, e.g. by limiting the 

number of objectives to be assessed. 

 Be flexible about classroom organisation, e.g. the majority of the class may be 

working while a small group or individual pupils are being assessed. 

 Make use of peer and self assessment. 

 Rather than recording every pupil’s achievement, record only those which fail 

to meet or which exceeded the expectation. 

 Be aware that pupils can demonstrate their skills, knowledge and 

understanding in a variety of ways. 

 

Assessment should inform planning, not be a ‘bolt on.’ There is a close relationship 

between content and assessment. RE subject leaders need to be specific about 

what is to be taught, using plain language, clearly identifying core knowledge. The 

compulsory units in this syllabus will help with this. 

Some useful guidance can be found on the reonline website: 

http://www.reonline.org.uk/assessing/. 

 

Further support material is to be developed to use with this syllabus. This will 

include input from teachers once the syllabus is properly embedded. 

  

Page 163

http://www.reonline.org.uk/assessing/


 

 62 

Appendix 7 

Religious Education Quality Mark (REQM) 

The REQM20 is a national award which acknowledges and celebrates achievement 
in RE. If schools are providing good RE, the REQM will provide recognition for this. 
The REQM recognises that RE makes a powerful contribution to learning, providing 
pupils with the opportunity to explore the big ideas of religion and belief and to think 
about what matters in their own lives. 
The REQM has two purposes: it recognises good practice in RE and also provides a 
powerful tool for development. Schools that have applied for the award have found 
that it affirms the work they are already doing, raises the profile of the subject and 
gives them ideas and confidence for developing their practice even further. 
 
Why have an RE Quality Mark? 
It is the chance to celebrate great RE. When RE is taught well it enables learners to 
engage with the big ideas about being human. They get the chance to explore their 
own and others’ beliefs, their values and ways of living, which are important to them. 
The REQM was set up to: 

 raise the profile of RE in schools 

 celebrate a commitment to excellence in RE 

 enable dissemination of quality RE through networking 

 provide a framework for measuring, planning and developing the quality of RE 
teaching and learning 

 encourage schools to increase the range and quality of teaching and learning 
in RE to improve standards 

 develop pedagogies which have impact on whole school improvement 

 provide a structure and framework for dioceses and SACREs to map high 
quality RE 

 
There are three levels of award: bronze, silver and gold. 
 
School and Learner Evidence 
 
School evidence 
The criteria and exemplar in the REQM School Evidence Form help teachers to 
determine the award level they meet. These criteria are divided into five sections: 

 Learners and Learning 

 Teachers and Teaching 

 Curriculum 

 Subject Leadership 

 Continuing Professional Development (CPD) 
 

This information is freely accessible on the REQM website. 
 

 

                                            
20 www.reqm.org.uk  

 

Page 164

http://www.reqm.org.uk/


 

 63 

Appendix 8 

Visiting places of worship/ the role of visitors in school 
 

8.1 Why visit places of worship? 

Visits can provide excellent support for RE but must be managed in a thoughtful and 
sensitive way. They can enrich pupils’ learning process by: 

 providing experiences which involve the senses of touch, smell, taste, hearing 
and sight 

 providing opportunities to meet and talk to people within faith communities 
within an appropriate setting 

 developing their understanding of sensitive and respectful behaviour 

 enabling them to experience the atmosphere of a place of worship which 
cannot be simulated in the classroom 

 providing first hand experiences of sacred places, objects, etc. – many 
artefacts and some scriptures can only be seen in the place where they are 
used 

 building up their positive attitudes towards different faiths and cultures. 
 
In addition, visits can contribute to the self-esteem of pupils whose place of worship 
is being visited and can facilitate school and community links. Some places of 
worship facilitate pupils’ exploration of rites of passage (birth, coming of age, 
marriage, etc.) Visits can contribute to the provision for pupils’ spiritual, moral, social 
and cultural development. 
 
8.2 The context 
A visit to a place of worship is only one aspect of RE. Any visit should be seen in the 
broader context of classroom activities rather than as a ‘one off’, self-contained 
exercise. Thought needs to be given to the age and ability of pupils as well as 
preparation and follow up work. 
 
8.3 Types of visits or trails to places of worship 
A study visit to one place of worship can provide a clear and sharp focus for pupils’ 
learning. Comparing two places of worship from the same or different faith traditions 
can help learners to explore diversity within and between faith traditions.  
 
8.4 Preparation 
 
Initial planning - Teachers must consider the following: 

 The purpose of the proposed visit – the precise aims, in terms of the 
development of knowledge, understanding, skills, etc. in relation to RE and 
the agreed syllabus. 

 The appropriateness for the ages and abilities of pupils. 

 Practical procedures – e.g. risk assessments, travel, timing, expenses. 

 The right of refusal – parents have this right but if possible discuss concerns 
as refusals are often based on misunderstandings. A letter should be sent 
home making clear that the visit is educational and that pupils will observe, 
not participate in, worship. It may be a good idea to ask parents to accompany 

Page 165



 

 64 

the visit. Guidance should be provided about possible dress requirements 
such as covering the head, etc. 

 Giving of gifts, etc. Many places of worship offer food and refreshments to 
visitors. It is important to prepare pupils and adults for this as refusing to 
accept may cause offence. In a Hindu mandir it is likely to be prashad which 
may take form of crystal sugar, almonds, sweets or snack  food. This is not 
considered sacred and can be eaten on the spot. In a gurdwara it may be 
karah prashad (a semi-solid cold food made from butter, semolina, sugar and 
milk) – again, this is not considered sacred. 

 
Preliminary visit 

 It is essential that teachers make contact with the host beforehand and 
arrange a preliminary visit. This enables him/her to discuss possibilities with 
the host and check the appropriateness of the building. It is important to give 
clear information about the age and ability of the pupils so that any talk given 
can be pitched at the correct level. Teachers must not assume that hosts will 
be familiar with jargon, e.g. key stages, learning objectives, levels, etc. 

 It is extremely important to stress that the visit is educational and about 
learning through observation and talking – pupils must not be expected to 
engage in worship, even if they are members of the religion represented. 

 
The host at the place of worship will need to be told: 

 the specific aim of the visit 

 the age and gender of pupils 

 the approximate number of pupils and teachers 

 the ability range 

 the range of religious/non-religious backgrounds 

 the pupils’ level of knowledge about the religion concerned 

 what the school would like the pupils to be able to do during the visit 

 what time the party will arrive and leave 

 the appropriate length of time for any talk which may be given by a member of 
the community – again, it cannot be stressed enough how important it is to 
ensure that the talk is pitched at the correct level. 

 
The host will need to be asked the following questions: 

 Are there special requirements regarding clothing, head coverings, etc. and 
how do these apply to both sexes? 

 What are the requirements regarding general behaviour, e.g. where or how 
pupils should sit? 

 Are any activities prohibited, such as the taking of photographs? 

 Is it best to visit on a particular day or at a particular time? It may be worth 
considering whether the building is likely to be in use or empty when pupils 
visit. 

 Are there any topics the host can talk about to pupils which may be of 
particular interest, e.g. for those studying at examination level? 

 Are there toilet facilities and specific facilities for those with disabilities? 

 Is there somewhere for pupils to eat their own food and will they be offered 
food (if so, what – parents may need to be informed)? 

 Is there a charge or requirement for a donation? 

Page 166



 

 65 

 

References 

Religious Education: The Teacher’s Guide – RE Today Services 
NATRE – ‘Voices of Faith and Belief in Schools: Guidance and a Code of Conduct’ - 
https://www.natre.org.uk/uploads/Free%20Resources/Voices%20of%20faith%20and
%20belief%20in%20schools.pdf 
 
 
8.5 Guidance for visiting specific places of worship and suggested venues 

 

Visiting a gurdwara 

 Visitors should remove shoes before entering. 

 Clothing should be modest – females should cover their legs and everyone 

should cover their heads. 

 Tobacco and alcohol must not be brought into gurdwaras. 

 Visitors may be invited to wash their hands as a sign of purification. 

 Visitors may be offered karah prashad (holy food). 

 Visitors should avoid sitting with their feet pointing towards the Guru Granth 

Sahib 

 

Visiting a Hindu mandir 

 Visitors should remove shoes before entering shrine room – racks are usually 

provided. 

 Females may be asked to cover their heads. 

 Visitors may approach but not enter shrines and may make an offering if they 

wish, but teachers should check beforehand. 

 Visitors will usually be offered prashad (or prasada – food which may have 

been offered to murtis). This could be sweets, fruit or food on a tray. 

 Visitors may be offered the aarti lamp to pass their hands over the flame and 

then over the eyes, forehead and head in one movement. These are rites for 

Hindus and have religious significance. Visitors should avoid sitting with their 

feet pointed towards a shrine or pointing their fingers at a shrine. 

 If visitors are unable to sit on the floor they may request a seat. 

 If the visit takes place during the day, particularly the morning, there will be 

worshippers present. A bell is rung when worship is about to begin. 

 ‘Namaste’ is the customary courtesy greeting 

 

Visiting a mosque (masjid) 

 Visitors should remove shoes before entering. 

 Clothing should be modest for males and females. Females should cover their 

head, arms and legs and avoid tight fitting clothes 

 Males should cover heads with covering of a suitable nature as a token of 

respect. 

Page 167

https://www.natre.org.uk/uploads/Free%20Resources/Voices%20of%20faith%20and%20belief%20in%20schools.pdf
https://www.natre.org.uk/uploads/Free%20Resources/Voices%20of%20faith%20and%20belief%20in%20schools.pdf


 

 66 

 If prayers are being said the female visitors may be separated from the male 

visitors as this is the accepted practice in a mosque though normally the 

segregation is not applied to visitors. 

 It is considered disrespectful to sit with feet pointing towards the qibla wall, so 

preferable to sit with feet tucked underneath or to the side. 

 The Qur’an should not be handled by anyone who has not recently washed 

their hands. 

 Visitors may be greeted with the Arabic, ‘As salaam-u-‘alaikam’ (‘peace be 

upon you’) and the correct response is, ‘Wa’ alaikam-us-u-salaam’ (‘peace be 

upon you too’). 

 

Visiting an Orthodox Jewish synagogue: 

 Male visitors are usually required to cover their heads – kippurs may be 

provided by the host. 

 In general, dress should be modest. 

 Respect should be shown when viewing the Torah scrolls. 

 

 

 
8.6 Places of worship in Lincolnshire and Peterborough 
 
Bharat Hindu Samaj (mandir) 
Unit 6 new England Complex 
Rock Road 
Peterborough 
PE1 3BU 
Telephone: 01733 315241/347188 
Website: http://bharathindusamaj.co.uk 
Email: info@bharathindusamaj.co.uk 
 
Grimsby Islamic Cultural Centre 
79a Weelsby Road 
Grimsby 
NE Lincs 
DN32 0PY 
Email: Administrator@gicconline.com 
 
Lincoln Mosque and Islamic Association  
Orchard Street, Lincoln, Lincolnshire 
Postcode: LN1 1XX 

Telephone: 01522 543103 
Website: www.lincolnmosque.com 
Email:admin@lincolnmosque.com 
 
Masjid Ghousia 
406 Gladstone Street 
Peterborough 

Page 168

http://bharathindusamaj.co.uk/
mailto:info@bharathindusamaj.co.uk
mailto:Administrator@gicconline.com
http://www.lincolnmosque.com/


 

 67 

PE1 2BY 
Telephone: 01733 566658 
Email: admon@masjidghousia.or 
 
 
Lincoln Cathedral 
The Cathedral offers a range of guided tours and self-guided trails for schools, 
including Maths (EYFS/KS1), RE (KS2/3), Science (KS1), History (KS3/4) and Art 
(EYFS-KS4). Schools can visit between 9am and 4pm. They need to note that 
regular services take place (e.g. communion at 12.30pm every day), which may 
affect access to certain areas at certain times of the day.  
 
Peterborough Cathedral 
Cathedral Office 
Minster Precincts 
Peterborough 
PE1 1XS 
Telephone: 01733 355315 
Email: info@peterborough-cathedral.org.uk 
 
Other places of interest 
 
The Jews House Lincoln 
This is one of the earliest extant town houses in England, situated on Steep Hill, 
immediately below The Jews Court. The house has traditionally been associated 
with the thriving Jewish community in Medieval Lincoln. The building has remained 
continuously occupied to the present day. Since about 1973 it has been used as 
a restaurant and previously, an antiques shop. The Jews court is a three-storey 
limestone building dating back to the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. Some 
traditions hold it be a twelfth century synagogue, with a niche in the east wall 
considered to be the ark; documentary sources confirm that there was a synagogue 
against the Jews House, but it may have been located to the rear. 
 

Places of worship in Leicester 

 
Hinduism 
Shri Sanatan Mandir 
84 Weymouth Street 
Leicester 
LE4 6FP 
Contact Name 
President: Mr. Ramanbhai Barber MBE 
For visits: Contact Riataben – (0116) 266 1402 
Telephone: 0116 266 1402 
Website: www.sanatanmandirleicester.com 
Email: sanatanmandir1@gmail.com 
 
Background Information 
Shree Sanatan Mandir was one of the first Hindu Temples in Leicester. It was 
originally a Baptist Church. 

Page 169

mailto:info@peterborough-cathedral.org.uk
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Town_house
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/England
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Steep_Hill
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Jewish
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Restaurant
http://www.sanatanmandirleicester.com/
mailto:sanatanmandir1@gmail.com


 

 68 

 
Shri Swaminarayan Mandir 
135 Gypsy Lane 
Leicester 
LE4 6RH 
Contact Name: Dipak Kalyan 
Telephone: 0116 262 3791 
Website: www.baps.org/leicester 
Email: info.leicester@uk.baps.org 
Background Information 
Officially inaugurated in October 2011, the mandir houses a beautiful central shrine, 
well resourced classrooms and activity rooms, a dining hall and a café/shop. 
 

Islam 

Masjid Umar Evington Muslim Centre 
1-3 Evington Drive 
Leicester 
LE5 5PF 
Contact name: Gulam Hussein 
Telephone: 0116 273 5529 
Website: www.masjid-umar.org 
Email: info@masjid-umar.org 
Background Information: 
This mosque was previously two residential properties, which were used as a 
mosque and madrasah. In 1999 the properties were demolished and a purpose built 
mosque was built. The construction funds were donated entirely by the Muslim 
community with over 90% raised from local Muslims in Leicester. 
 
The Leicester Central Mosque 
Conduit Street 
Leicester 
LE2 0JN 
Contact name: Haji Bashir Ahmed (Treasurer) 
Telephone: 0116 254 3359 
Website: www.islamicentre.org 
Background Information 
Pakistani Muslims in Leicester initiated this masjid project in 1968. They had 
previously worshipped at a private house in Leicester. It was the first purpose built 
mosque in Leicester and was opened in 1988. There is prayer accommodation for 
1500 male worshippers and 300 female worshippers. This mosque has traditionally 
welcomed visitors interested in Islam. 
 
Judaism 
Leicester Hebrew Congregation 
Highfield Street 
Leicester 
LE2 1WZ 
Contact name: Howard Freeman 
Telephone: 0116 270 6622 
Website: www.jewish-leicester.co.uk 

Page 170

http://www.baps.org/leicester
mailto:info.leicester@uk.baps.org
http://www.masjid-umar.org/
mailto:info@masjid-umar.org
http://www.islamicentre.org/
http://www.jewish-leicester.co.uk/


 

 69 

Email: rabbipink@btinternet.com 
Background Information 
The synagogue was purpose built and opened in 1896 and is a listed building. It is 
very experienced at managing school visits and is in the process of extending its 
facilities to become an educational resource centre. 
 
Sikhism 
Guru Nanak Gurdwara 
9 Holy Bones 
Leicester 
LE1 4LJ 
Telephone 
0116 262 8606 
Website: www.gurananakgurdwara.org.uk 
Email: info@gurunakgurdwara.org.uk 
Background Information 
This gurdwara was founded in the 1960s in New Walk Leicester and dedicated to 
Guru Nanak (1469-1538), the first Guru and founder of the Sikh religion. It moved to 
the current building in 1987 and is thought to be the largest gurdwara in the 
Midlands.It has a good tradition of schools’ study visits. 
 
Guru Tegh Bahadur Gurdwara 
106 East Park Road 
Highfields 
Leicester 
LE5 4QB 
Contact name: Harpreet Kaur 
Telephone: 0116 274 2453 (gurdwara number), 0116 276 9297 (to arrange school 
visits) 
Website: www.leicestergurdwara.com 
Email: sikhcommunitycentre@hotmail.co.uk 
 
  

Page 171

mailto:rabbipink@btinternet.com
http://www.gurananakgurdwara.org.uk/
mailto:info@gurunakgurdwara.org.uk
http://www.leicestergurdwara.com/


 

 70 

Appendix 9 

Guidance about using visitors in school 
Learning can be enriched by welcoming visitors from local religious and non-religious 
communities into school. This should be part of the RE curriculum, not an ‘add on’ 
activity. It needs to be made clear to visitors that they should: 

 be prepared to share their personal experiences, beliefs and insights but not 
impose them on pupils or criticise the beliefs or life stances of others  

 be familiar with the aims, ethos and policies of the school 

 actively engage pupils and ensure that the content is pitched at the 
appropriate level for their age and ability 

 explain clearly to pupils who they are and their role in relation to the 
community they are representing 

 respect the faith and beliefs of pupils when it is different to their own 

 avoid any suggestion of attempting to convert pupils 
 
NATRE’s helpful guidance21 suggests that there are three main contexts in which 
visitors from communities of religion and belief might participate in school life. These 
are collective worship, the curriculum and voluntary/extra-curricular groups.  
 
Collective worship 
Visitors could present ideas and experiences from their faith, making clear the value 
of these ideas and experiences within the community, and asking pupils to think 
about them from their own point of view. If prayers are involved, no assumptions 
should be made about the commitments of the pupils and pupils should be offered 
opportunities to pray but not be compelled to. 

 

In lessons, including RE 

Visitors from faith communities can authenticity to learning into the classroom. 

Visitors need to think about the educational aims of the session(s) or contributions 

that they offer.  

 

Voluntary, extra-curricular groups 

Some pupils may wish to share their beliefs through a regular meeting or club 

outside curriculum time. Pupils, teachers, parents or visitors may take a lead in 

organising this. Such groups need to be clear about their purpose and open in their 

                                            
21 ‘Voices of Faith and Belief in Schools: Guidance and a Code of Conduct’, NATRE: NATRE – 

‘Voices of Faith and Belief in Schools: Guidance and a Code of Conduct’ - 

https://www.natre.org.uk/uploads/Free%20Resources/Voices%20of%20faith%20and%20belief%20in

%20schools.pdf 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 172

https://www.natre.org.uk/uploads/Free%20Resources/Voices%20of%20faith%20and%20belief%20in%20schools.pdf
https://www.natre.org.uk/uploads/Free%20Resources/Voices%20of%20faith%20and%20belief%20in%20schools.pdf


 

 71 

agenda. It is good practice to ask parents for permission for their children to take part 

in these activities. 
 
Lincolnshire SACRE is comprised of four committees which include members of a 
range of faith communities. Members willing to offer their services to schools:  
 
Christianity: Salvation Army 
Neville McFarlane email: chrisnev@care4free.net 
 
Hinduism 
Mrs Swathi Sreenivasan at ‘Indian Cultural Aspects’ – email: culasp@yahoo.co.uk  
tel: 01522 595996. Swathi is very experienced and has supported numerous schools 
in Lincolnshire. 
 

If you require further information or need help regarding other faiths, please contact 
the Clerk to SACRE, Steve Blagg - steve.blagg@lincolnshire.gov.uk 
 
Further support 
Teaching about Hinduism 
Sunita Patel, ‘The Indian Experience’ – email: theindianexperience@hotmail.com 
Tel: 07968 381786.Sunita is a very experienced trainer and well known to many 
Lincolnshire schools. 
 
General 
For advice about visiting places in Leicester:  contact Riaz Ravat at the St 
Philip’s Centre, 2A Stoughton Drive North, Leicester, LE5 5UB. Tel: 0116 273 3459 –
Email: admin@stphilipscentre.co.uk Website:  www.stphilipscentre.co.uk Tel: 0116 
273 3459 
 
Three Faiths Forum: The 3FF builds good relations between people of all faiths and 
beliefs. They run education, engagement and action programmes that bring diverse 
communities together. Email: info@3ff.org.uk Website: http://www.3ff.org.uk 
Tel:0207 482 9549 
Generic Safeguarding issues 
The following is taken from the ‘education against hate’ website - 
http://educateagainsthate.com. 
 
9.1 Hosting Speakers on School Premises  
Through hosting external speakers, schools provide a safe space for students to 
engage with a variety of issues and hear and debate different perspectives. Schools 
have a responsibility to ensure that the people they invite to speak are suitable and 
that all safeguarding procedures are followed. When inviting speakers, schools are 
reminded of the following:  

 Keeping children safe in education is statutory guidance that all schools 
must have regard to when carrying out their duties to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of children. When inviting speakers, schools should be conscious 
of the safeguarding requirements in the guidance. 

 The statutory guidance on the Prevent duty makes clear that as part of their 
safeguarding policies, schools should ‘set out clear protocols for ensuring that 

Page 173

mailto:culasp@yahoo.co.uk
mailto:steve.blagg@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:theindianexperience@hotmail.com
mailto:admin@stphilipscentre.co.uk
http://www.stphilipscentre.co.uk/
mailto:info@3ff.org.uk
http://www.3ff.org.uk/
http://educateagainsthate.com/


 

 72 

any visiting speakers, whether invited by staff or pupils themselves are 
suitable and appropriately supervised’. 

 The DfE has issued advice to independent schools (including academies and 
free schools) on improving the spiritual, moral, social and cultural (SMSC) 
development of pupils which states that: ‘schools should consider ‘vetting’ 
visiting speakers if they may hold views which are inconsistent with the 
requirements of any part of the SMSC standard, and if still used ensure that 
the content of their presentation is agreed beforehand’. 

 The Ofsted guidance for inspectors on safeguarding states that: ‘inspectors 
should also check the setting’s policy and procedures for ensuring that visitors 
to the school are suitable and checked and monitored as appropriate, for 

example, external speakers at school assemblies’.   

 All schools are subject to requirements that forbid political indoctrination and 
secure a balanced treatment of political issues. This extends to extra-
curricular activities which are provided or organised for registered pupils at the 
school by or on behalf of the school.22 

 Schools which are charities should have regard to guidance from the Charity 
Commission, which includes some examples of steps that trustees can take to 
help them manage the risk around hosting speakers. Other schools may find it 
helpful to refer to these general principles. 

 Teaching misconduct guidance states that staff are ‘likely to face prohibition if 
they deliberately allow exposure of pupils to such actions that undermine 
fundamental British values including promoting political or religious extremism 
by inviting individuals to speak in schools’. Schools play an important role 
within the community and will often let their premises to external 
organisations. This can also be a means of generating additional income for 
the benefit of the school. The following principles apply in relation both to 
speakers visiting during normal school hours and to organisations and 
individuals using the premises outside school hours. 

 Schools are encouraged to consider having a policy on hosting speakers 
which includes hosting during school hours and outside of school hours. 
Having a policy allows schools to set their own standard on hosting speakers 
beyond the minimum requirements set out in the advice and guidance 
referred to above and might make clear, for example, that the school will only 
let its premises to organisations and individuals whose conduct is in 
accordance with the ethos of the school. It might ask speakers to sign up to a 
particular code of conduct before permission is given to use the venue. 
Having a formal policy in place can also make it easier for a school to justify 
refusing to host a particular organisation or individual about which there are 
concerns. Similar considerations may apply to hosting speakers outside of 
school hours as during school hours if students are likely to attend these 
event. 

 Schools that are under a duty to promote community cohesion must be 
satisfied that any speakers they invite will not undermine that duty. 

 Schools should be mindful of the way in which their land is held, and who 
holds it, as this may in some cases limit or prohibit land being used for certain 
purposes. 

                                            
22 Section 406 and 407 of the Education Act 1996 and standard 5c of the Independent School 

Standards 

Page 174



 

 73 

 Schools must ensure, in making any decisions about whether to host an 
external speaker, that they comply with the public sector equality duty and 
that they are not discriminating by reference to protected characteristics. 
Schools which outsource their letting arrangements to a third party are 
advised to ensure that the third party carries out vetting in line with the 
school’s policy and any guidance from government.  

9.2 Practical Guidance 
When hosting a speaker (either during or outside of school hours), schools may 
wish to consider carrying out the following research before agreeing to host:  

 The topic of the event (including the purpose of the speaker’s visit and the 
appropriateness for the audience). 

 The speaker’s reputation and who may be prompted to attend, particularly 
whether the speaker or members from the organisation they represent have a 
reputation for causing disruption at venues.  

 Any risks to the school’s reputation and ethos.   

 The status of the speaker, including their previous comments, by carrying out 
checks on internet search engines and across social media sites. When 
carrying out internet searches, it is good practice to look beyond the first page 
of results. 

 Whether you consider there to be potential for speakers to use language 
intended to stir up hatred or incite violence. 

 The views of the Community safety team/ local police/ LA Prevent co-
ordinator if you have any concerns. Schools should consider these steps for 

every event that they host.   

 

9.3 For more information: The equalities guidance for schools contains advice on 

ensuring that the public sector equalities duty is fulfilled (see chapter 5). See 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance 

 

 

  

Page 175

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance


 

 74 

Appendix 10 

Teaching about religions: guidance 

Useful guidance can be found in the following publications and websites: 

 

1. http://www.reonline.org.uk/knowing/what-re/ 

 

2. The Religious Education CPD Handbook - http://www.re-handbook.org.uk 

This is an invaluable resource for RE subject leaders. For information about 

different religions, see Section 2, Religious Traditions and Beliefs. 

 

3. RE Today and NATRE (National Association of RE teachers) have a wide 

range of resources to support high quality teaching and learning in RE. See 

www.retoday.org.uk/resources  and https://www.natre.org. 

 

Page 176

http://www.reonline.org.uk/knowing/what-re/
http://www.re-handbook.org.uk/
http://www.retoday.org.uk/resources


 

 75 

 

Appendix 10: Compulsory Programmes of study by religion 

 

This section sets out what is to be taught about each religion.  
 

Compulsory elements: Christianity 
Please note: Schools using the ‘Understanding Christianity’ resource are not required to follow this section of the syllabus. 
 

 

1. God: Key question - What do people believe about God?  

Key stage 1: Story Key stage 2: Symbol Key stage 3: Beliefs about God 
 

What do Christians learn/understand 
about God through Old Testament Bible 
stories? 
 God’s encounters with people in the Old 

Testament e.g. Moses, Abraham, Noah  

 God as a guide 

 God as faithful 

 God as protector 

 God has a plan 

 
What do stories in the New Testament 
tell Christians about Jesus? 
  His life and teachings (parables) 

 Miracles 

 His followers 

 

How do symbols in the Bible help a 
Christian to relate to God? 
 The Trinity: Father (Creator), Son (God 

Incarnate) and Holy Spirit (Sustainer) 

 
What do the symbols in the story of the 
baptism of Jesus reveal about the nature 
of God? 
 Symbolism of the dove – Holy Spirit 

 Symbolism of water – cleansing, purity 

 
What visual symbols and symbolic acts 
are evident in a Christian church? 
 Holy Communion (symbolism in the Last 

Supper) -  patterns of prayer, giving and acts of 
service 

 Artefacts and visual symbols, stained glass 
windows, altar, communion table, pulpit, cross, 
etc. 

What do Christians believe are the 
key attributes of God? 
 Omniscience 

 Omnipresence 

 Omnibenevolence 

 Omnipotence 

 Immanence 

 Transcendence 

 Language about God – issues of 
gender, power, etc. 

 
How do Christians reason about 
the existence of God? 
 Arguments for the existence of God, 

e.g. first cause, design 

 Religious experience, e.g. prayer, 
miracles 

 
What do Christians believe about 

P
age 177



 

 76 

 Symbols in worship – sign of the cross, Holy 
Communion, expressions of worship 

 
How might language within worship 
express Christian belief? 
 Psalms, liturgy, the Lord’s Prayer, worship 
songs/hymns, creeds 

 

God’s relationship with/to 
humanity? 
 Humans created by God  

 Role of human beings – stewardship 
and responsibility 

 Covenant 

 Incarnation 

 Salvation 

 Crucifixion and resurrection 

 
What sources of authority do 
Christians use to inform their 
beliefs about God? 
 The Bible - use and interpretation of 

texts 

 Creeds 

 
In what diverse ways do Christians 
demonstrate their beliefs about 
God? 
 Christianity as a diverse world religion 

with diverse ways of expressing beliefs 
about God’s nature 

 

2. Being human: Key question - How does faith and belief affect the way people live their lives? 

 

Key stage 1: Faith in everyday life Key stage 2: Faith and belief in action Key stage 3: Faith and belief in a 
wider context 

What does the Bible say about how 
Christians should treat others/live their 
lives?  
 Parables (e.g. the Good Samaritan), 

In what way does the Bible teach 
Christians to treat others? 
 Ten commandments (Exodus 20:1-17, 

Deuteronomy 5: 6-21) 

What core Christian 
beliefs/teachings influence 
Christian action in the world? 
 God’s relationship with people, shown 

P
age 178



 

 77 

Creation Story (people should look after 
what God has made) 

 Adam and Eve – making choices 

 Humans are created equal and special 

 Jesus’ teaching – treat each other as special 
and equal, e.g. the Greatest Commandment 
(Mark 12:30-31), the Golden Rule (Matthew 
7:12) 

 
How can Christian faith and beliefs be 
seen in the actions of inspirational 
Christians? 
 Examples from the Bible, e.g. Daniel, Noah, 

David, Esther, Jonah, Mary, the disciples 

 

 The Beatitudes (Matthew 5: 1-12) 

 The Sermon on the Mount (Matthew 5-7) 

 The Greatest Commandment Mark 12:30-31) 

 
How is this expressed in practice? 
 Personal and corporate action – agencies, 

charities, e.g. Christian Aid, Tear Fund, 
CAFOD – link to Jesus’ teachings 

 Impact of the faith and actions of inspirational 
people, e.g. Jackie Pullinger, Archbishop Justin 
Welby, Mother Theresa, Gladys Aylward, 
Christians Against Poverty, Street Pastors 

 
 
 
 
 
 

through Jesus’ death and resurrection 

 Incarnation – Jesus as God in the 
flesh 

 The Sermon on the Mount (Matthew 5-
7) 

 The Beatitudes (Matthew 5: 1-12) 

 The Greatest Commandment (e.g. 
Mark 12:30-31, Deuteronomy 6:4-5, 
Leviticus 19:18) 

 
How and why do Christians engage 
in social action? 
 Contemporary/social and political 

issues, values, relationship between 
the State and the Church of England. 

 
What is the role of Christian 
missionaries and evangelists in the 
twenty-first century? 
 Definition of evangelism and mission 

 The role of missionaries/evangelists in 
the 21st  century, e.g. Pioneer Mission, 
Global Connections 

 

3. Community, worship and celebration: Key question - How do people express their religion and beliefs? 
 

Key stage 1: Personal expression Key stage 2: Community expression Key stage 3: Identity and 
expression 
 

What do Christians do to express their 
beliefs?  
 Through developing a sense of community 

with other Christians, e.g. by attending 

How is Christian belief expressed 
collectively? 
 Worship in different Christian denominations, 

e.g. Quaker, Methodist, Evangelical, 

What kind of different Christian 
experiences are there? 
 Young people’s experience of faith, 

nationally and globally, e.g. Taizé, 

P
age 179



 

 78 

church, taking part in prayer events  

 Through worship - different types of 
churches, styles of worship 

 Through personal devotion – commitment to 
God shown through prayer, actions, e.g. 
baptism, confirmation 

 Through everyday actions and behaviour 
towards other people 

 
 
Which celebrations are important to 
Christians? 

 Key festivals such as Christmas and Easter 
– what happens and why 

Pentecostal and globally, e.g. use of silence, 
music, actions, cultural traditions  

 Buildings, artefacts, symbols and their links to 
worship, rituals and ceremonies 

 Koinonia – one body of faith, the idea of 
fellowship 

 
How does Christian worship and 
celebration build a sense of community? 
 The role of communal celebration during 

worship and festivals, e.g. Holy Communion, 
Pentecost – what happens and why 

 Importance of worshipping together – singing, 
praying, sharing key life events such as birth 
and marriage 

 
 
 
 

Greenbelt, Spring Harvest, One Event  

 Expressions of Christianity and different 
cultural communities, e.g. Pentecostal 
Christianity, Roman Catholicism, 
churches serving a range of cultural 
groups 

 
What range of Christian 
denominations are there in the UK 
and what are the 
similarities/differences in their 
expression of faith? 
 Religious communities, e.g. 

Benedictines, Franciscans, Community 
of St Anselm 

 Growth and decline of different 
denominations - Orthodox, Roman 
Catholic, Protestant, new churches, 
e.g. Alive, Vineyard 

 
How does a person become a 
Christian? 
 Concepts of conversion, conversion vs 

‘born into’  in different denominations 

 

4. Life journey, rites of passage: Key question - How do people mark important events in life? 
 

Key stage 1: Beginning and belonging Key stage 2: Expressions of belonging Key stage 3: Cycle of life 
 

What do Christians do to celebrate 
birth?  
 Birth (christening, dedication), meaning of 

actions and symbols 

How do Christians show they belong? 
 Outward signs of belonging -  baptism, 

confirmation, dedication, believers’ baptism, 
marriage - promises and vows made during 

How do Christian beliefs about 
creation and humanity relate to 
their understanding of human 
relationships? 

P
age 180



 

 79 

 
What does it mean and why does it 
matter to belong? 
 What belonging means to individual 

Christians in the locality 

 The church’s role in bringing people 
together, e.g. during key festivals such as 
Christmas and Easter 

 
 

these events  

 Symbols or actions that are an expression of 
belonging to the Christian faith, e.g. cross, 
ichthus (fish) 

 References to human relationships in 
Genesis 2:23-24 

 Genesis 1:26-27 – how Christians 
understand the relationship between 
God and human beings 

 
How do symbols in the Christian 
marriage service reflect beliefs in 
God and humanity? 
 Exchanging rings, making promises 

before God and the community, 
commitment 

 
How and why might Christians 
differ in their understanding of the 
purpose of relationships, marriage, 
sexuality and gender? 
 Diverse views about divorce, same sex 

marriage, having children, contraception 

 Ordination of women priests/Bishops, 
LGBT issues, roles of men and women 
in the church, interpretations of the 
Bible 

 
How do Christians understand 
death and dying? 
 End of life issues, e.g. role of hospices; 

euthanasia, cryonics 

 Beliefs about life after death, Jesus’ 
death and resurrection 

 Funeral services 
 
 

P
age 181



 

 80 

Compulsory elements: Hinduism/Sanatana Dharma (‘Eternal Way’) – this must be studied at key stages 2 and 3 
 

 

Key stage 2: Story and Symbol Key stage 3: Belief about God/Bhagwan 
 

How are deities and key figures described in Hindu sacred 
texts and stories? 
 Key scriptures - Vedas, Bhagavad Gita, Ramayana, Mahabharata 

 Key themes in the Mahabharata – doing the right thing, making ethical 
choices 

 Creation stories and stories about deities and key figures 

 Concept of Trimurti – Brahma, Vishnu, Shiva. Other deities, e.g. 
Ganesh, Lakshmi, Pavati 

 
What might Hindus understand about the Divine through 
these stories? 
 Sanatana Dharma (Eternal Way) – to find one’s path to Brahman, 

being a right human being 

 One God (Brahman), Ultimate Reality, symbolised in diverse 
forms/formless, male and female, with different images and names, 
e.g. Rama and Sita, Krishna, Shiva, Ganesha 

 
What is the purpose of visual symbols in the mandir? 
 Key symbols: Om/Aum, swastika, lingam, Nandi, Ganesh, lotus flower, 

murtis 

 Puja tray: symbolic items include water, a bell, food and incense 

What do Hindus believe about Brahman? 
 Ultimate reality, Supreme Truth, Unchanging Principle, cause 

of existence 

 Connected to humans via the soul (atman) 

 
What is the significance of murtis? 
 Representation or ‘embodiment’ of God/Bhagwan 

 
What do Hindus believe about the relationship between 
individual deities and Brahman? 
 Brahman – eternal origin, the cause and foundation of all 

existence 

 Representation of Brahman through deities, an aid to devotion 
and worship 

 Avatars - representatives of deities in human form, e.g. 
Krishna, an avatar of Vishnu 

 
In what way is the Hindu belief about the cyclical 
nature of the universe reflected by belief in the 
Trimurti? 

 The Trimurti - aspects or functions of the same divinity – every 
created thing in the universe has a beginning, an existence, 
and an ending 
 

Key stage 2: Faith and belief in action Key stage 3: Faith and belief in a wider context 
 

How do Hindus reflect their faith in the way they live? What affects Hindu beliefs and attitudes towards 

P
age 182



 

 81 

 Devotion to Brahman; respect for mother and mother earth; respect 
for father, ancestors and family; respect and care for all living things; 
truthfulness and honesty 

 Rituals in the home, e.g. puja, aarti, devotion shown to personal 
deities 

 Dharma (moral values) – including duty towards self, deities, fellow 
human beings, other living beings, society 

 Satsang – togetherness and strength of family/community 

 

What is karma and how does it drive the cycle of samsara? 

 Karma – 'action', every action has an equal reaction either immediately 
or in the future 

 Samsara – process of reincarnation 

 Moksha – freedom from samsara 

 
How might a Hindu seek to achieve moksha? 
 Do their duty, respect all, aim for liberation 

 Through yoga, meditation and renunciation 

 Live without committing harm 

 
 

others and the environment? 
 Ahimsa (non-violence) - the greatest dharma. Ahimsa to the 

earth improves karma. 

 Responsibility towards animals - vegetarianism 

 Earth/universe seen as manifestation of Brahman 

 
In what ways do the four varnas (social classes) impact 
upon Hindu society? 
 Four varnas: shudras, vaishyas, khatriyas and brahmins 

 Changing attitudes to the caste system 

 
How and why do Hindus engage in social action? 
 Importance of four virtues (yamas): ahimsa (non-violence), 

daya (compassion), dama (self-control and restraint), dana 
(generosity and giving)  

 Dharma e.g. eternal law, duty, conduct, behaviour, morality 
and righteousness 

 
What are the four paths (margas)? 
 Four yogas: jnana (knowledge), karma (action, service), bhakti 

(devotion), astanga/raja (mind and meditation) 

 

Key stage 2: Community expression Key stage 3: Identity and expression 

How is Hindu worship expressed personally and collectively? 
 Individual rather than collective, e.g. home shrines, personal 

gods/goddesses 

 In the mandir – puja, bhajan, aarti ceremony, prahshad, murtis 

 Artefacts used in worship, e.g. bell, puja tray 

 Importance of the family and puja in the home 

 Home shrines, rituals, family worship 

 
How does Hindu worship and celebration build a sense of 
community? 

Why might some Hindus choose to pursue the path of 
renunciation (sannyasa)? 
 To achieve moksha – involves giving up worldly life and 

material possession 

 
What practical implications do some Hindu practices 
have for life in modern Britain? 
 Animal rights, diet 

 Funeral practices, e.g. debate about open air cremation and 
its symbolism 

P
age 183



 

 82 

 Festivals, e.g. Diwali, Holi - stories, practices, food, worship, diversity, 
shared experiences 

 Raksha Bandan (Rakhi ceremony) 

 Pilgrimage, sacred places , e.g. River Ganges, Varanasi, Ayodhya and 
associated stories 

 

 
What is the significance of the Kumbh Mela? 
 Reflection of diversity of Hindu expression 

 

Key stage 2: Expressions of belonging Key stage 3: Cycle of life 

How do Hindus show they belong? 
 Samskaras (passage of life) 

 Birth - namkarna (naming ceremony), jatakarma (welcoming the baby 
into the family) 

 Ear piercing (karnavedha) and first haircut (mundan) 

 Upananyana or sacred thread ceremony 

 

What are the stages of life in Hindu belief and how are 
they reflected in Hindu practice? 
 Four different stages of life (ashramas) and duties for those in 

the top varnas, castes, jatis 

 
What are the keyfeatures of a Hindu marriage 
ceremony and how do they reflect Hindu beliefs about 
human relationships? 
 Vivah sanskar – wedding sacraments 

 Main stages – Jayamaala, Madhu-Parka, Gau Daan and 
Kanya Pratigrahan 

 Vivaha-homa – sacred fire, sacred mantras 

 Paanigrahan – sacred vows 

 Sapta-Padi – main and legal part of ceremony 

 Ashirvada – blessings 

 
Does sexuality and gender matter in Hinduism? 
 Role of males, e.g. priesthood, during key festivals and 

ceremonies 

  Shaktism, the Devi 

 Expectation of heterosexual marriage, seen as important duty, 
linked to reproduction 

 Same sex relationships – diverse views among Hindus and 
within scriptures 

 

P
age 184



 

 83 

What do Hindus believe about euthanasia and suicide? 
 Diversity of viewpoints about euthanasia 

 Suicide generally seen as unacceptable - exceptions include 
prayopavesa (fasting to death) in certain circumstances 

 
What do Hindus believe about death and dying? 

 Re-birth of atman (reincarnation), karma, samsara, moksha  
 
 

Compulsory elements: Islam – this must be studied at key stage 1, 2 and 3 

 

1. God: Key question – What do people believe about God? 
 

Key stage 1: Story Key stage 2: Symbol 
 

Key stage 3: Beliefs about God 
 

How is Allah described in the Qur’an? 
 Tawhid (Oneness of Allah), Creator, 

provider of all good things 

 99 names of Allah 

 
What do Muslims learn about Allah 
and their faith through the Qur’an? 
 The Qur’an and why it is special - the 

revealed book for Muslims 

 Stories about Muhammed and other 
Prophets, e.g. Ibrahim 

 Stories which help Muslims understand 
the power of God, e.g. the Night of Power, 
creation story 

 Examples of stories and teaching, e.g. 
Abdullah, the Servant of God 

 
 

What do the main concepts in Islam 
reveal about the nature of Allah? 
 Tawhid (Oneness of Allah), Iman (faith), Ibadah 

(worship/belief in action, includes Five Pillars), 
akhlaq (behaviour, morality) 

 Shahadah – statement of faith 

 Allah’s attributes in the Qur’an, signs of Allah’s 
creation through nature, human beings as the 
best of Allah’s creation, Allah’s guidance 
through messengers and books 

 
What is the purpose of visual symbols in 
a mosque? 
 Masjid, ‘place of prostration’ 

 Symbolism in Islamic art as expression of faith, 
Islamic calligraphy 

 Features of a mosque, e.g. dome, minaret, 
mimbar, prayer mats, qiblah, mihrab 

How do Muslim beliefs connect 
with the Muslim understanding of 
Allah? 
 99 names of Allah 

 Six articles of faith: belief in Allah as 
the one and only God, belief in angels; 
belief in the holy books; belief in the 
Prophets, e.g. 
Adam, Ibrahim (Abraham), Musa  
(Moses), Dawud (David), Isa (Jesus), 
belief in Muhammed as the final 
prophet 

 
What sources of authority do 
Muslims use to inform their beliefs 
about Allah? 
 Sources of authority – Qur’an, 

Sunnah, Hadith 

P
age 185

http://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/p003k9gf
http://www.bbc.co.uk/religion/religions/islam/texts/quran_1.shtml
http://www.bbc.co.uk/religion/religions/islam/history/ibrahim.shtml
http://www.bbc.co.uk/religion/religions/islam/history/musa.shtml


 

 84 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In what diverse ways do Muslims 
demonstrate their beliefs about 
Allah? 
 Different branches of Islam: Sunni, 

Shi’a -origins, divisions, differences 

 Sufi (Tasawwuf) 

 Significance of Islamic art for Muslims 
through Islamic art 

 

2. Being human: Key question – How does faith and belief affect the way people live their lives? 

Key stage 1: Faith in everyday life Key stage 2: Faith and belief in action Key stage 3: Faith and belief in a 
wider context 

P
age 186



 

 85 

What does the Qur’an say about how 
Muslims should live their lives and 
treat others? 
 Imam (Faith), Sha’adah (statement of 

faith) 

 Akhlaq (character, moral conduct) 

 Serving others, supporting the poor, e.g. 
Zakah, almsgiving 

 
What do Muslims learn about Allah 
and their faith through the Qur’an? 
 The Qur’an and why it is special – the   

revealed book for Muslims 

 Stories which help Muslims understand the 
power of Allah, e.g. the Night of power, 
creation story 

What does the Qur’an teach Muslims 
about how they should treat others? 
 Five Pillars of Islam - keeps things as Allah 

intends them to be; binds the global Muslim 
community together 

 Following the straight path 

 Family life, roles and responsibilities 

 Features of living in a Muslim family, e.g. prayer 
life, facilities for wudu, salah and dietary 
arrangements 

 
How do Muslim teachings guide the way 
Muslims act in the world? 
 Hadith – how to treat people; living Islamically 

 Personal and corporate action 

 Agencies, charities, e.g. Islamic Aid 

 
How are Muslim beliefs expressed in 
practice? 

 Through inspirational contemporary people, 
e.g. Amir Khan, Salma Yaqoob, Yusaf Islam, 
Nadiya Hussain, Zayn Malik, Mo Farah 

What core Muslim 
beliefs/teachings influence Muslim 
action in the world? 
 Submission to the will of Allah 

 Importance of following the straight 
path 

 Belief in the importance of observing 
the Five Pillars/Ten Obligatory Acts 

 
How and why do Muslims engage 
in social action? 
 Zakat – individual and communal; 

systematic giving – 2.5% of disposable 
income 

 Work of Muslim Hands UK, Islamic 
Relief, Human Appeal 

 
Why do Muslims understand 
struggle/effort (jihad) to be a key 
feature of their faith? 
 Greater/lesser jihads 

 Spiritual and physical aspects of jihad 

 
 
 
 

3. Community, worship and celebration: Key question – How do people express their religion and beliefs? 
 

Key Stage 1: Personal expression Key Stage 2: Community expression Key Stage 3: Identity and 
expression 
 

What do Muslims do to express their 
beliefs? 

How is Muslim worship expressed 
collectively? 

How diverse is Islam in the UK and 
how important is this concept in 

P
age 187



 

 86 

 Ibadah (worship and belief in action) -use 
of significant objects, e.g. prayer beads, 
prayer mats, compass 

 Worship in the home 

 Respect for teachers and elders 

 
Which celebrations are important to 
Muslims? 
 Festivals: the importance of Eid-ul-Fitr (end 

of Ramadan) and  Eid-ul-Adha (Ibrahim’s 
test of faith) 

 

 Role of the mosque and community – social, 
religious, educational, welfare centre 

 Ummah – the global community of Muslims 

 Sawm (Ramadan) – significance of fasting; 
reasons/benefits 

 Hajj/Umrah – significance of this journey 

 Wudu (ablution) 

 Prayer/Salat in the mosque – symbolic actions 
and meaning, prayer beads (subha), Friday 
prayers (Jumu’ah) 

 
How does Muslim worship and 
celebration build a sense of community? 
 Eid – how families and communities prepare 

for and celebrate the festivals 

 

the context of the Ummah (global 
Muslim community)?  
 Use of census data and Pew Research 

– www.pewresearch.org 

 Different identities in parts of the UK - 
key similarities and differences 
between groups  

 Diverse interpretation of gender roles 

 Difference of expression, e.g. dress – 
niqab, hijab, burka, chador, shalwar 
kameez, thobe, kuffiyeh 

 
What practical implications do 
some Muslim practices have for 
life in modern Britain? 
 Hajj/Umrah, including practical 

implications – environment 

 Ramadan 

 Prayer spaces 

 Diet, e.g. halal/haram 

 Sharia law – divine guidance 

 
 
 
 
 
 

4. Life journey, rites of passage: Key question – How do people mark important events in life? 
 

Key stage 1: Beginning and belonging Key stage 2: Expressions of belonging Key stage 3: Cycle of life 
 

What do Muslims do to celebrate 
birth? 

How do Muslims show they belong? 
 Birth – choice of names, the qualities or 

How do Muslim beliefs about Allah 
and humanity relate to an 

P
age 188

http://www.pewresearch.org/


 

 87 

 Birth of a baby as a blessing – aqiqah 
ceremony, why belonging is special 

 Call to prayer (Adhaan) into baby’s ear 
and taste of something sweet 

 Shaving of head, weighing of hair  

 

people associated with certain names 

 Role of madrasahs, e.g. training to become 
Hafez 

 
 
 

understanding of human 
relationships? 
 Marriage designed by Allah to ensure 

the preservation of human life 

 
What are the key features and 
purposes of a Muslim marriage 
ceremony? 
 Variations in practice – mixture of 

cultural/religious practices, e.g. mahr, 
nikah, walimah 

 Social contract, rights and obligations 

 Celibacy generally seen as 
unacceptable 

 
How might Muslims differ in their 
views about relationships, 
marriage, divorce, sexuality and 
gender? 
 Views on polygamy, LBGT issues, 
including same sex marriage 

 Entitlement to divorce 

 Different interpretations of the role of 
women – religious and cultural 

 Same sex relationships generally 
forbidden  

 
How do Muslim beliefs about 
death and the afterlife affect the 
way Muslims live their lives? 
 Diversity within ceremonies 

 Death and akhirah, belief in an afterlife 

 Euthanasia and suicide forbidden 

P
age 189



 

 88 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 190



 

 89 

 

Page 191



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Policy and Scrutiny 
 

Open Report on behalf of Richard Wills, the Director responsible for 
Democratic Services 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 09 March 2018 

Subject: Pupil Exclusions – Proposal for a Working Group  

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This report sets out a proposal to establish a working group to look into the work 
being undertaken by officers and schools to reduce pupil exclusions in 
Lincolnshire. 

 
 

Actions Required: 

 
The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is invited to  
 

1. Approve the establishment of a working group to look into the work being 
undertaken by officers and schools to reduce pupil exclusions in 
Lincolnshire. 

2. Agree the membership for the working group. 
 

 
1. Background 
 
At the meeting of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee on 19 
January 2018, the Committee considered a report on the Inclusive Lincolnshire 
Strategy – Policy Review.  
 
Subsequent to the meeting, the Chairman of the Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee, Councillor Robert Foulkes, has suggested that it might be 
useful to establish a working group to look in more detail at the work being 
undertaken by officers and schools to reduce pupil exclusions in Lincolnshire's 
primary and secondary schools.  
 
Establishment of a working group 
 
Scrutiny Committees may appoint working groups to undertake specific tasks in 
relation to a matter within the remit of the Committee, provided that each 
Committee has no more than two working groups in operation at any one time.  
 
A working group is time limited and can meet up to three times. If a working group 
proposes to meet on more than three occasions, the Committee will need to seek 
approval from the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board.   

Page 193

Agenda Item 10



Tasks undertaken by a working group could include research, analysis, supporting 
officers writing reports, information gathering, and interviewing experts or 
witnesses. A Scrutiny Committee must have regard to the level of officer support 
and other resources required when appointing a working group. 
 
The outcomes of each working group will be reported to the relevant Scrutiny 
Committee for consideration and approval, where approval is required. 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
The proposed terms of reference for the Pupil Exclusions Working Group are: 
 
1. To examine with officers the current levels of pupil exclusions in primary and 

secondary schools in Lincolnshire.  
2. To examine with officers the Inclusive Lincolnshire Strategy and the usage 

of the Strategy within Lincolnshire's schools. 
3. To examine with officers the strategies used in primary and secondary 

schools which have successfully reduced pupil exclusions, in particular 
those in socially disadvantaged areas. 

4. To report back to the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee on the 
outcomes from the working group and any recommendations on how pupil 
exclusions in Lincolnshire could be addressed. 

 
 
2. Conclusion
 
So that members can have an input into the work that officers are undertaking 
on pupil exclusions, it is proposed that the Committee establishes a working 
group to work collaboratively with officers, with a suggestion that this would 
comprise of three members of the Committee. 
 

 
3. Consultation 
 

a)  Have Risks and Impact Analysis been carried out? 

No 

b)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

N/A 
 

4. Background Papers 
 

No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
This report was written by Tracy Johnson, who can be contacted on 01522 
552164 or Tracy.Johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk. 
 

Page 194

mailto:Tracy.Johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk


 
Policy and Scrutiny 

 

Open Report on behalf of Debbie Barnes, Executive Director of Children's 
Services 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 09 March 2018 

Subject: Performance - Quarter 3 2017/18  

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

The accompanying appendices to this report provide key performance 
information for Quarter 3 2017/18 that is relevant to the work of the Children 
and Young People Scrutiny Committee. 

 
 

Actions Required: 

The Committee is invited to consider and comment on the performance 
information contained in the appendices of this report and recommend any 
actions or changes to the Executive Councillor for Adult Care, Health and 
Children's Services. 

 

 
1. Background 
 
Performance Indicators 
 
Appendix A provides a full and detailed report that covers only the Council 
Business Plan indicators used by Children's Services. This is available for 
questions. 
 
Complaints and compliments 
 
Appendix B covers complaints and compliments.   
 
Status of schools 
 
Appendix C gives an overview of the Ofsted status of schools in Lincolnshire, 
including specific details of schools judged to be inadequate. 
 
Performance Monitoring of Contracts (EXEMPT)  
 
Appendix D gives an overview of the performance management of contracts.   
 
 

Page 195

Agenda Item 11



2. Conclusion 
 
This report summarises the Quarter 3 performance for Children and Young People, 
and the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is asked to raise any 
questions on the content of the report. 

 
3. Consultation 

 
 
 

 

 
 

a)  Have Risks and Impact Analysis been carried out? 

No 

b)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

N/A 
 

 
4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Council Business Plan Measures 

Appendix B Complaint and compliments report 

Appendix C Ofsted school status report 

Appendix D Peformance Monitoring of Contracts - Exempt Paper 

 
 

5. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
This report was written by Sally Savage, who can be contacted on 01522 553204 
or sally.savage@lincolnshire.gov.uk.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 196

mailto:sally.savage@lincolnshire.gov.uk


265
First time offenders

July 2016 to June 2017

203
First time offenders

Target for July 2016 to June 

2017

About the latest performance

The most recent published FTE (first time entrants) figure for Lincolnshire is 265 actual young people 

for the period of July 2016 to June 2017; this is higher than the target figure of 203, however, there are 

no expectations that this figure is likely to rise sharply in the near future. In June 2017 we launched a 

new diversionary project in Lincolnshire in conjunction with Lincolnshire Police. Although it was 

previously thought that the impact from this project would be seen in Quarter 3, it is likely that results 

will be seen in Q4's reporting figures.

15

Communities are safe and protected

Reduce the number of young people committing a crime

Juvenile first time offenders

The First Time Entrant (FTE) measure is a rate per 100,000 of 10-17 population in Lincolnshire. 

However, for this purpose we are reporting the actual number of young people, rather than the rate. 

Data is reported with a 6 month lag and a rolling 12 month period, for example July 2016 - June 2017 

data is reported in Q3 2017/2018. 

The number of young people entering the criminal justice system for the first time is mostly controlled by 

external influences such as Police policies. 

A lower number of young people entering the criminal justice system for the first time indicates a better 

performance.

Not achieved

Jan 2016 -
Dec 2016

Apr 2016 -
Mar 2017

Jul 2016 -
Jun 2017

Oct 2016 -
Sep 2017

Offenders 268 283 265

Target 203 203 203

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

First time 
offenders 

Juvenile first time offenders 

Page 197



About the target

Our target is based on the average performance of Youth Offending Services within the Midlands Youth 

Justice Board region. The target is set by Lincolnshire County Council, the Youth Justice Board monitor 

and challenge progress.

Further details

About the target range

Target ranges are difficult to define as external factors can have a major influence on the numbers of 

young people entering the criminal justice system for the first time, for example arrests made by the 

Police and decisions whether to prosecute or not. It has been agreed that +/-20 First Time Entrants is a 

reasonable target range.

Page 198



About benchmarking

Data from the Ministry of Justice is used to benchmark First Time Entrant per 100,000 population. 

The Youth Offending Team (YOT) comparators in this instance are Cambridgeshire, Cornwall, Devon, 

Gloucestershire, Leicestershire, Norfolk, North Yorkshire, Somerset, and West Mercia.

NOTE: The original analysis used in calculating the YOT families (based on socio-economic factors) is 

now around 10 years old. In that time, the demographics and socio-economic factors of the local areas 

will have changed. Therefore, it is advised caution be used when using these YOTs families.

Lincolnshire County Council provides performance reports to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 

and Accountancy (CIPFA) which facilitates benchmarking services to enable performance to be 

monitored against other local authorities. We benchmark against other Local Authorities within our 

CIPFA Group of 16 authorities. The CIPFA comparators in this instance are Cumbria, Derbyshire, 

Gloucestershire, Norfolk, Nottinghamshire, Somerset, Staffordshire, Suffolk, and Warwickshire.

NOTE: The comparators are taken from the CIPFA website and use the default options for selecting 

Councils similar to Lincolnshire.

Page 199



35.9
%

October 2015-December 2015

39.8
%

Target for Quarter 3 December 

2015

About the latest performance

The Ministry of Justice has changed the methodology for measuring reoffending. There has been a 

move to a three month cohort rather than a 12 month cohort. The cohort will still be tracked over 12 

months. Changing from 12 month cohorts to the 3 month cohorts results in a greater proportion of 

prolific offenders and hence higher reoffending rates, though both measures show similar trends over 

time at a national level. 

Currently Lincolnshire is performing better than both the Regional rate of 38.7% and the National rate 

of 41.4%. As the cohort will be measured over a 3 month period, instead of a 12 month period, it is 

unclear as to how this will affect future performance figures. For example, seasons can affect re-

offending rates; historically re-offending rates have increased during summer months, therefore it 

remains to be seen how the change in methodology to a 3 month cohort will affect performance and 

trends moving forward.

108

Communities are safe and protected

Improve public safety by the reduction in drugs and alcohol misuse, 

focussed on town centre alcohol fuelled violence and anti-social 

behaviour, young people and drug misuse 

Juvenile Re-offending

The number of young people aged 10 to 17 who commit a proven offence in a 12 month period 

following previous involvement with Lincolnshire Youth Offending Service. This measure now takes 

cases from a 3 month period having previously measured a 12 month cohort. As from Q3 2017/18, this 

measure will only review a 3 month cohort due to methodology changes from the Ministry of Justice. 

However, offenders will still be monitored for 12 months after the follow-up offence has been 

committed. Data will be reported with a 2 year lag. 

Achieved

Oct 2015-Dec 2015 Jan 2016-Mar 2016

Percentage 35.9

Target 39.8

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

% 

Juvenile re-offending 

Page 200



About the target range

The target range of +/-2% reflects the fall in number of the young people the service works with who 

remain difficult to engage with.

About benchmarking

Data from the Ministry of Justice is used to benchmark First Time Entrant per 100,000 population. * The 

YOT comparators in this instance are Cambridgeshire, Cornwall, Devon, Gloucestershire, 

Leicestershire, Norfolk, North Yorkshire, Somerset, and West Mercia.

NOTE: The original analysis used in calculating the YOT families (based on socio-economic factors) is 

now around 10 years old. In that time, the demographics and socio-economic factors of the local areas 

will have changed. Therefore, it is advised caution be used when using these YOTs families.

Lincolnshire County Council provides performance reports to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 

and Accountancy (CIPFA) which facilitates benchmarking services to enable performance to be 

monitored against other local authorities. We benchmark against other Local Authorities within our 

CIPFA Group of 16 authorities.* The CIPFA comparators in this instance are Cumbria, Derbyshire, 

Gloucestershire, Norfolk, Nottinghamshire, Somerset, Staffordshire, Suffolk, and Warwickshire.

NOTE: The comparators are taken from the CIPFA website and use the default options for selecting 

Councils similar to Lincolnshire.

Our target is based on the average performance of Youth Offending Services within the Midlands Youth 

Justice Board region.

Further details

The definition for this measure was revised in Q3 of the 2017/18 reporting period, therefore data prior 

to this is not available for comparison.

About the target

Page 201



Achieved

Children are safe and healthy

Looked after children

Looked after children per 10,000 population aged under 18. There are a number of reasons why a child 

may be ‘looked after’ by the local authority. Most often it is because the child’s parents or the people 

who have parental responsibilities and rights to look after the child are unable to care for the child, have 

been neglecting the child or the child has committed an offence. The local authority has specific 

responsibilities and duties towards a child who is being looked after or who has been looked after. 

This measure is reported taking a snapshot in time. So for example Q2 is performance as at 30th 

September.

A lower rate of children looked after by the Local Authority indicates a better performance. 

23

Communities are safe and protected

47.4
Per 10,000 children

Quarter 3 December 2017

48
Per 10,000 children

Target for Quarter 3 December 

2017

About the latest performance

There was a rise in the number of children looked after in the first quarter of the year.  The last two 

quarters have seen a slight but steady decrease in the number of children who are looked after.   The 

senior management team continue to undertake a number of strategies to both understand what 

caused this increase and to assure themselves that the children that are coming into care are 

appropriate and that there are robust exit strategies. It is anticipated that continued robust management 

in these areas should result in a further decrease in the numbers of children who are looked after.

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Rate 48.7 47.9 47.4

Target 48 48 48

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Per 10,000 
children 

Looked after children 

Page 202



The target has been revised in Quarter 1 of 2017/18. This is to reflect national increases in rates of 

Looked After Children, but Lincolnshire remain below the rate of national and statistical neighbours. 

Further details

About the target

About the target range

The target range allows for the rate of Looked After Children to vary between 46 and 50 per 10,000 

population. This equates to a range of 654 to 711 children.

About benchmarking

We benchmark nationally and with similar Local Authorities. Benchmarking data is sourced from the 

national LAIT (Local Authority Interactive Tool).

Page 203



329
Children

Quarter 3 December 2017

340
Children

Target for Quarter 3 December 

2017

About the latest performance

The target is 24 per 10,000 population which equates to 340 children. Over Quarter 3, the rate of 

registrations per 10,000 population has dropped by 2.6, bringing Quarter 3's rate of 22.9 per 10,000 

population within the tolerance range.  Robust management of child protection plans enhanced by 

safety planning with families has contributed to this. 

Children are safe and healthy

Children who are subject to a child protection plan

A child protection plan is a plan drawn up by the local authority. It sets out how the child can be kept 

safe, how things can be made better for the family and what support they will need.

This measure is reported taking a snapshot in time. So for example Q2 is performance as at 30th 

September.

A lower number of children who are subject to a child protection plan indicates a better performance.

24

Communities are safe and protected

Achieved

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Number 363 362 329

Target 340 340 340

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Children 

Children who are subject to a child 
protection plan 

Page 204



About the target range

The target range is set  to vary between 21 and 25.  This equates to a range of 320 to 380 children.

About benchmarking

We benchmark nationally and with similar local authorities.  Benchmarking data is sourced from the 

national LAIT (Local Authority Interactive Tool).

The target remains the same as the previous year reflecting work around early help, which is the 

intervention and support put in place to help children and their family before a child enters local 

authority care. 

Further details

About the target

Page 205



Achieved

Children are safe and healthy

Average time taken to move a child from care to an adoptive family

Average number of days between the child entering care and moving in with their adoptive family. 

A lower number of days taken to move a child from care into an adoptive family indicates a better 

performance. 

25

Communities are safe and protected

364
Days

Quarter 3 December 2017

430
Days

Target for Quarter 3 December 

2017

About the latest performance

The third quarter for the year demonstrates a further decrease in the amount of time it has taken for 

children to move in with their adoptive carers.  This is due to a number of factors including the fact that 

cases are tracked from an early stage; twin tracking is a process in which the adoption team work to 

find a match to a family, at the same time as the court work being undertaken by the social worker. This 

means that delays are reduced due to the fact work has been carried out simultaneously, thereby 

reducing the waiting time for a match to be found for the child. There is clear management oversight in 

order to ensure that workers are meeting expectations. Lincolnshire has continued to perform very well 

when compared with both statistical neighbours and also nationally.  The adoption team continues to 

work hard to reduce the amount of time a child waits until they are placed with their adoptive family.

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Days 375 374 364

Target 430 430 430

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Days 

Average time taken to move a child from 
care to an adoptive family 

Page 206



The target has been set to 430 days. To aspire to this should mean performance situated in the top 

quartile.

Further details

About the target

About the target range

The value has been set to an upper level of 520 days and a lower level of 430 days which should still 

retain our positon in the top quartile.

About benchmarking

We benchmark nationally and with similar local authorities.  Benchmarking data is sourced from the 

national LAIT (Local Authority Interactive Tool).

Page 207



Achieved

Children are safe and healthy

Average time taken to match a child to an adoptive family

Average number of days between the local authority receiving the court order to place a child and the 

local authority deciding on a match to an adoptive family.

A lower number of days taken to match a child to an adoptive family indicates a better performance.

26

Communities are safe and protected

154
Days

Quarter 3 December 2017

200
Days

Target for Quarter 3 December 

2017

About the latest performance

Lincolnshire continues to do well in terms of the time it takes to match children to their adoptive families.  

This is due to the fact that the recruitment and assessment of adoptive families is an area which is 

prioritised by the team. This leads to a high level of adopters which maximises the potential for a match. 

All workers are aware of expectations through clear messages from managers and effective 

supervision.

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Days 167 167 154

Target 200 200 200

0

50

100

150

200

250

Days 

Average time taken to match a child to an 
adoptive family 

Page 208



The target remains the same as the previous year, there are potential cases coming through with 

notably higher timescales.

Further details

About the target

About the target range

Both upper and lower target ranges have been set to 10 days. 

About benchmarking

We can compare ourselves to our statistical neighbours through the Adoption Leadership Board Return 

which is available on a quarterly basis. 

Page 209



87.30
% participating in learning

Quarter 3 December 2017

80
% participating in learning

Target for Quarter 3 December 

2017

About the latest performance

The Virtual School Team continues to work effectively with our young people to ensure that they are 

motivated and engaged in learning. This is supported by quality of pastoral care in Further Education 

Colleges, which is generally good, with our designated teachers and the Virtual School Team working 

together with our young people and carers to ensure speedy admission, and the stability of educational 

placement. 

Young people are supported to reach their potential

16-17 year old Looked After Children participating in learning

This measures young people recorded as being Looked After Children participating in learning at the 

end of the reporting period and will not take into consideration the length of time that they have been in 

local authority care.

Numerator: Number of Looked After Children participating in learning at the end of the reporting period.

Denominator: Number of Looked After Children at the end of the reporting period.

The percentage is calculated as follows: Numerator divided by the denominator multiplied by 100.

The parameters of this measure were previously defined as recording 16-18 year old Looked After 

Children participating in learning. As of Q1 2017/18 onwards, the Department for Education no longer 

require monitoring of children aged 18, and so the measure has been amended accordingly, restricting 

data provision to 16-17 year old Looked After Children only. A higher percentage of Looked After 

Children participating in learning indicates a better performance.

45

Health and Wellbeing is improved

Achieved

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Percentage 88.64 61.07 87.30

Target 87 70 80

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

% participating 
in learning 

16-17 year old Looked After Children 
participating in learning 

Page 210



About the target range

The target range is set at a level to allow for 2 percentage points above the target and 5 percentage 

points below the target.

About benchmarking

Benchmarking for this measure is not currently available.

Lincolnshire County Council does not always have capacity to track and validate all new learners 

placements in the first month of their new setting, to coincide with Q2 reporting. Targets have been 

profiled from Q1 2017/18 to account for possible fluctuations in performance.

Further details

The definition of this measure was revised as of Q1 2017-18; data prior to this is unavailable as we are 

no longer able to compare it directly with current data.

About the target

Page 211



91.3
% 

Quarter 3 December 2017

92
% 

Target for Quarter 3 December 

2017

About the latest performance

This performance remains within target tolerance and maintains the stable levels of performance as 

seen over the last 3 years (see Further Details). It suggests that there are good housing options for the 

majority of care leavers and that they are supported to make positive housing choices. There remains a 

small group of young people who are considered to be in unsuitable accommodation, some are in 

custody or some have returned to families who were previously considered to be unsuitable.

Achieved

46

Health and Wellbeing is improved

Young people are supported to reach their potential

Care Leavers in suitable accommodation

A care leaver is a young person who reaches the age of 18 who had been in local authority care.

Numerator: Number of care leavers turning 19 years of age in the year who are living in accommodation 

deemed as "suitable".

Denominator: Number of care leavers turning 19 years of age in the year.

The percentage is calculated as follows: Numerator divided by the denominator multiplied by 100.

A higher percentage of care leavers in suitable accommodation indicates a better performance.

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Percentage 93.6 92.6 91.3

Target 92 92 92

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

%  

Care Leavers in suitable accommodation 

Page 212



About the target range

The target range for this measure allows for a -4 or +8 percentage point fluctuation against the target.

About benchmarking

We benchmark nationally and at similar authority level.  Benchmarking data is sourced from the national 

LAIT (Local Authority Interactive Tool).

In 2017/18 the target has increased to 92% from 90% in the 2016/17 reporting year. 

Further details

About the target

Page 213



This page is intentionally left blank



Customer Satisfaction Information  
Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee Q3  
Date range for report 1st October 2017 – 31st December 2017 
 

 
LCC Overview of compliments 
 
Overall Compliments 
The overall compliments received for Childrens and Young People shows no change this 
Quarter, with 14 compliments being received and 14 received last Quarter.  
 
 

Total number of compliments 
relating to Children and Young 
People Scrutiny Committee 

Current 
Q3 

Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 

14 14 7 5 13 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Total number of complaints 
received across all LCC service 
area.  

Current 
Q3 
17/18  

Q2 
17/18 

Q1 
17/18 

Q4 
16/17 

Q3 
16/17 

241 219 159 169 218 

Total number of complaints 
relating to Children and Young 
People Scrutiny Committee 

59 45 56 37 112 

Total Service Area Complaints 
broken down  

     

Statutory - Children’s Care 
Complaint areas  

37 39 47 36 33 

Corporate – Education & Schools  22 6 9 4 6 
Number of complaint escalations  2 8 2 2  
How many LCC Corporate 
complaints have not been 
resolved within service standard 

4 10 0 1 6 

Number of complaints referred to 
Ombudsman 

10 11 9 7 8 

LCC Overview of complaints 
The total number of LCC complaints received this Quarter (Q3) shows a 10% increase on the 
previous quarter (Q2). When comparing this Quarter with Q3 of 2016/17, there is an 11% 
increase when 218 (excluding school complaints figures) complaints were received.  
 

Children and Young People Compliments 
Children and Young People received 14 compliments this Quarter. The compliments were:  
1 x Adoption Programme praise 
1 x Liaise Team 
8 x Social Worker compliments – feedback from parents, Young People, Independent Chair & 
a member of staff from Addaction. 
3 x SEND staff compliments from families & school children for support 
1 x Staff member and Admissions Team via Karen Lee MP 

Page 215



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Education and School (Corporate) Complaints 
 
Education and School corporate complaints received 11 complaints this Quarter.  
There were 2 school admissions related complaints. Both complaints were found to be 
unsubstantiated. 
There was 1 Transport to School complaint; this was found to be unsubstantiated. 
There were 2 Children's Health service complaints.  One was substantiated and the other 
unsubstantiated. 
There were 3 Children's education related complaints. 2 were unsubstantiated and 1 
substantiated. 
2 were related to fixed penalty notices. 1 was unsubstantiated and 1 substantiated. 
1 was related to EHE Team and was partly substantiated. 
 
There were 11 Social Care related complaints (not statutory). 1 of which was substantiated. 
This was in relation to SW taking child from care of complainant. 
3 were partly substantiated, regarding a contact decision, the Chair of a CP Review and the 
conduct of a social worker. 7 were unsubstantiated. 
  
Children's Care (Statutory) Complaints 
Complaint receipts in Quarter 3 for Children’s Social Care have decreased by 2 complaints 
compared to last Quarter. From the 37 complaints received this quarter, 5 complaints were 
substantiated, 10 were partly substantiated and 21 were not substantiated. One complaint 
remains open with the team manager still in dialogue with the complainant. 
 
Nature of Substantiated complaints Improvements or changes implemented 

as a result of customers complaint 
Complaint in relation to a Leaving Care team 
member 

To be clear about conveying young people 
not open to the service 

Father's concerns regarding actions of SW - 
requests change of SW 

Written plans and invitations to be provided 
for CIN meetings 

Concerns from G'mother in relation to CS 
handling of case involving Grandson 

There was but staff have left 

Complaint in relation to delay in providing CS 
assessment to Father 

Delay in allocation and completion of 
specialist assessments. 

Complaint regarding SW contacting Mum 
inappropriately out of hours 

All staff to have work mobile and ensure 
these are charged 

 
 
Nature of Partly Substantiated complaints Improvements or changes implemented 

as a result of customers complaint 
complaint via solicitor in relation to SW As Social Worker involved has left the 

service – some case notes not recorded in 
full so difficult to evidence either way if some 
of Mother's concerns could be upheld or not 

Complaint from potential Foster carers after 
being turned down 

Revised the initial enquiry sheet to 
incorporate more comprehensive information

Complaint regarding children's SW Ensure feedback to non-resident parent & 2. 
Ensure multi-agency meetings held in timely 
manner 

Concerns for grandchildren and request for 
fostering assistance 

Within viability assessments sw teams must 
consider the environmental aspect to the 
assessment to ensure the accommodation is 
sufficient. 

Complaint in relation to being advised 
doesn’t meet criteria for CCA 

Clear pathway for request for assessment 

Complaint from Father in relation to conduct 
of SW 

Delay in referral and assessment of contact.  

 
 
 

Page 216



 
Nature of Partly Substantiated 
complaints 

Improvements or changes 
implemented as a result of customers 
complaint 

Complaint that paperwork not submitted 
by SW in to CIN / panel meeting 

None recorded 

Complaint regarding lack of support for 
young person currently being privately 
fostered 

None 

Foster carers concerns / comments 
regarding decision to reduce numbers  - 
costs per unit 

CWD STB contracts sent out but the 
changes to the scheme remain. The 
complainant wishes to continue with the 
old agreement which the Council have 
changed wef 12th June 2016 

Complaint regarding intervention from 
Children Services regarding domestic 
abuse and incorrect recording 

Discussion with IT to amend the record – 
Discussion with team about case 
recordings. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Father's complaint in relation to outcome 
letter 

None recorded 

Complaint in delay in receiving any 
assistance 

Ensure calls are returned and set 
expectations with family that if they phone it 
doesn't mean that someone will call back 
immediately also that at times it may be 
necessary for other person to call back or go 
to see them. 

Complaint in relation to SW & inaccuracies in 
report 

Ensure social worker proof reads dates and 
factual information. Ensure social worker 
does have voice mail on phone at all times 
and to ensure documents when calling back 
family member. 

Complaint regarding meeting at school 
whereby changing a court order discussed - 
one sided meeting in favour of Mother 

SW to ensure clearly outline reason for 
meetings and involvement. SW to ensure 
non-resident parent is involved 

 
 
Complaint escalations 
In Quarter 3 of 2017/18 there were a total of 32 complaint escalations for LCC. 
1 of which was taken forward as Statutory Childrens Stage 2 complaints with an agreed Terms 
of Reference signed in this period. 1 was a School administration complaint, this was 
unsubstantiated. 
 
Ombudsman Complaints 
In Quarter 3 of 2017/18, 10 LCC complaints were registered with the Ombudsman. 2 of these 
complaints were recorded against Children's Services.  
1 was in relation to school transport which was an active investigation and awaiting response 
from the Ombudsman. 
1 was in relation to Son's education which was deemed premature by the Ombudsman. 

Page 217



This page is intentionally left blank



Schools 

Outstanding 

or Good

312

Phase Good Phase

All-through 1 All-through

Free School 1 Free School

Nursery 2 Nursery

Primary 207 Primary

PRU 1 PRU

Secondary 23 Secondary

Special 10 Special

Total 245 Total

Phase Good Phase

All-through 1018 All-through

Free School 294 Free School

Nursery 135 Nursery

Primary 39919 Primary

PRU - PRU

Secondary 18397 Secondary

Special 985 Special

Total 60748 Total

Lincs National SN National SN National National National

60% 62% 39% 36% 4% 2% 0% 1%

15% 18% 71% 69% 8% 8% 1% 4%

- 16% 74% 63% 9% 9% 3% 9%

26% 22% 62% 52% 13% 14% 4% 9%

45% 37% 60% 52% 2% 5% 2% 5%

19% 20% 69% 65% 9% 9% 2% 5%

DfE Number

9256911

9256908

9253027

9252023

9252092

9254013

9254030

9255210

9255408

CS51

89.4%

Pupils in 

Outstanding 

or Good

CS50

88,024 86%

Outstanding

Requires 

Improvement Inadequate Total

- - - 1

- 1 - 2

3 - - 5

42 19 4 272

- - - 1

13 7 5 48

9 1 - 20

67 28 9 349

Outstanding Good

- 50%

15% 76%

Requires 

Improvement Inadequate

- 100% - -

50% -

60% 40% - -

7% 1%

- 100% - -

27% 48% 15% 10%

45% 50% 5% -

19% 70% 8% 3%

Outstanding

Requires 

Improvement Inadequate Total Outstanding Good

- - - 1018

- 205 - 499

278 - - 413

11567 3806 629 55921

- - -

14713 5618 4071 42799

718 60 - 1763

27276 9689 4700 102413

Requires 

Improvement Inadequate

- 100% - -

- 59% 41% -

67% 33% - -

21% 71% 7% 1%

- - - -

34% 43% 13% 10%

41% 56% 3% -

27% 59% 9% 5%

Outstanding Good Requires Improvement Inadequate Not tested

-

Phase SN Lincs Lincs Lincs SN

1%

Lincs SN

Nursery 57% 40% - - - -

5%

PRU 11% 100% - - 4% - 2%

Primary

13% 48% 16% 10% 6%

-14% 76% 7% 1%

7%

Special 30% 50% 5% - - - 8%

Secondary

School Name Academy Sponsor Status Time in Special Measures Number on Roll

Total 14% 70% 8% 3%

Skegness Academy Greenwood Dale Foundation Trust Inadequate 204 days 999

The Gainsborough Academy The Lincoln College Academy Trust Inadequate 373 days 680

West Grantham Academy St Johns West Grantham Academies Trust Inadequate 310 days 323

Weston St Mary CE Primary School - Inadequate 155 days 36

Holbeach Bank Primary School - Inadequate 163 days 67

Thomas Middlecott Academy - Inadequate N/a 483

Long Sutton The Peele Community College - Inadequate N/a 607

Chapel St Leonards Primary School - Inadequate 282 days 203

Lincoln Christs Hospital Academy - Inadequate 274 days 1302

Total 4700

Summary of most recent Mainstream Ofsted Inspections- breakdown of 

'Overall Effectiveness' judgement by school type as at 30/11/2017

Table 1a/1b: Schools/Pupils in Schools rated Outstanding or Good

Table 2a/2b: Count and percentage of schools by Phase and Overall Effectiveness Category

Table 3a/3b: Count and percentage of pupils by Phase and Overall Effectiveness Category

Table 4: Percentage of schools by Phase and Overall Effectiveness Category for Lincolnshire, Statistical 

Neighbours and Nationally

Table 5: Schools currently judged to be Inadequate and/or under an Interim Executive Board

6%2%

-

Page 219



DfE Number

9251111

9252018

9252027

9252036

9252040

9252042

9252043

9254018

9254035

9254039

9254041

9254042

Total: 

School Name Number on Roll

Springwell Lincoln City Academy 167

Castle Wood Academy 109

St Giles Academy 446

Hykeham Manor Farm Academy 59

Theddlethorpe Primary School 90

South Witham Community Primary School 104

Gosberton Academy 131

Somercotes Academy 350

Spalding Academy 902

Louth Academy 377

The Priory Pembroke Academy 170

Cordeaux Academy 527

3432

Region
Percentage of Schools 

Good or Outstanding

Lincolnshire 87.3%

Table 6: Schools not yet inspected

Table 7: Ofsted Statistical Neighbour Comparison as at 30/11/2017

Source Data: Monthly Management Information: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/monthly-management-information-ofsteds-school-inspections-outcomes

NB: May be slight deviation in figures between LA calculated data and Ofsted data, due to differences in reporting 

methodologies.

Statistical Neighbours 83.8%

National 85.2%

Page 220



Document is Restricted

Page 221

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Policy and Scrutiny 
 

Open Report on behalf of Richard Wills,  
Director responsible for Democratic Services 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 09 March 2018 

Subject: 
Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee Work 
Programme  

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This item enables the Committee to consider and comment on the content of its 
work programme to ensure that its scrutiny activity is focused where it can be of 
greatest benefit. Members are encouraged to highlight items that could be 
included for consideration in the work programme.  
 
 

Actions Required: 

Members of the Committee are invited to: 
 

1) Review and agree the Committee's work programme as set out in Appendix 
A to this report. 
 

2) Highlight for discussion any additional scrutiny activity which could be 
included for consideration in the work programme. 

 

 
1. Background 
 
Purpose of Scrutiny Activity 
 
Set out below are the definitions used to describe the types of scrutiny, relating to 
the items on the Committee Work Programme:  
 

Policy Development - The Committee is involved in the development of policy, 
usually at an early stage, where a range of options are being considered.  
 
Pre-Decision Scrutiny - The Committee is scrutinising a proposal, prior to a 
decision on the proposal by the Executive, the Executive Councillor or a senior 
officer. 
 
Policy Review - The Committee is reviewing the implementation of policy, to 
consider the success, impact, outcomes and performance.  
 
Performance Scrutiny - The Committee is scrutinising periodic performance, 
issue specific performance or external inspection reports.    

Page 223

Agenda Item 12



Consultation - The Committee is responding to (or making arrangements to) 
respond to a consultation, either formally or informally. This includes pre-
consultation engagement.   
 
Budget Scrutiny - The Committee is scrutinising the previous year’s budget, or 
the current year’s budget or proposals for the future year’s budget.  
 
Member Report – The Committee is reviewing the work of the Sub-Groups or 
Working Groups. 

 
Requests for specific items for information should be dealt with by other means, for 
instance briefing papers to members.  
 
The Committee's proposed work programme is attached at Appendix A.  A list of all 
upcoming Forward Plan decisions relating to the Committee is also attached at 
Appendix B. 
 
Members of the Committee are invited to review, consider and comment on the work 
programme as set out in Appendix A and highlight for discussion any additional 
scrutiny activity which could be included for consideration in the work programme. 
 
2. Conclusion
 
The Committee is invited to consider the content of its forthcoming work programme.   
 
3. Consultation 
 
a)  Have Risks and Impact Analysis been carried out? 
Not Applicable 
 
b)  Risks and Impact Analysis 
Not Applicable 
 
4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee – Work Programme 

Appendix B Forward Plan of Decisions relating to the Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee 

 
5. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were 
used in the preparation of this report. 
 
This report was written by Tracy Johnson, Senior Scrutiny Officer, who can be 
contacted on 01522 552164 or by e-mail at tracy.johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

Page 224

mailto:tracy.johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk


CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Chairman: Councillor Robert Foulkes
Vice Chairman: Councillor Robert Kendrick

9 March 2018
Item Contributor Purpose

Proposal to amend the 
age ranges of Grainthorpe 
Primary School and 
Marshchapel Primary 
School (Final Decision)

Matthew Clayton, 
Admissions and Education 
Provision Manager

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive Councillor 

Decision: 23 March 2018)

Annual Complaints Report 
2016-17

Carolyn Knight, Quality 
and Standards Manager Policy Review

Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Service

Jonas Gibson, 
Commissioning Manager

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive Councillor 

Decision: 16 March 2018)

Lincolnshire Safeguarding 
Boards Scrutiny 
Sub-Group Update 
(15 January 2018 minutes)

Cllr Sarah Dodds, 
Chairman of the 
Sub Group

Member Report

Lincolnshire Religious 
Education Agreed 
Syllabus

Jill Chandar-Nair
Inclusion and Attendance 
Manager

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive Councillor 

Decision: 19 March 2018)

Pupil Exclusions – 
Proposal for a Working 
Group

Tracy Johnson, Senior 
Scrutiny Officer Policy Review

Theme Performance: 
Quarter 3

Sally Savage, Chief 
Commissioning Officer – 
Children's

Performance Scrutiny

20 April 2018
Item Contributor Purpose

Prevent and the 
Implications for Children 
and Young People

Nicole Hilton, Community 
Assets and Resilience 
Commissioning Manager

Policy Development

Monks Abbey Primary 
School – Change to 
Planned Admission 
Number

Matthew Clayton, 
Admissions and Education 
Provision Manager

Pre-Decision Scrutiny
(Executive Councillor 

Decision – 8 May 2018)

Page 225



20 April 2018
Item Contributor Purpose

Proposed Post 16 
Transport Policy 
Statement 2018

David Robinson, 
Children's Services 
Manager

Teri Marshall, Senior 
Commissioning Officer
Transport Commissioning 
Team

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive Councillor 

Decision: 23 – 27 April 
2018)

Corporate Parenting 
Sub-Group Update 
(15 March 2018 minutes)

Cllr David Brailsford, 
Chairman of the Sub 
Group

Member Report

Lincolnshire Secure Unit – 
Ministry of Justice contract 
bid

Shannon Gaskell
Commissioning Officer – 
Commercial Services

Pre-Decision Scrutiny
(Executive Councillor 

Decision: 1 May 2018)

Supported 
Accommodation for 
Looked After Children

Janice Spencer, Assistant 
Director – Children's 
Safeguarding

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive Councillor 
Decision: Date to be 

determined)

8 June 2018
Item Contributor Purpose

Building Communities of 
Specialist Provision – A 
Collaborative Strategy for 
Children and Young 
People with Special 
Education Needs and 
Disabilities in Lincolnshire

Eileen McMorrow, Senior 
Project Officer SEND 
Review

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive Councillor 
Decision - Date to be 

confirmed)

Lincolnshire Local 
Authority School 
Performance 2016-17

Martin Smith, Children's 
Service Manager - School 
Standards

Performance Scrutiny

Lincolnshire Safeguarding 
Boards Scrutiny 
Sub-Group Update 
(16 April 2018 minutes)

Cllr Sarah Dodds, 
Chairman of the 
Sub-Group

Member Report

Theme Performance: 
Quarter 4

Sally Savage, Chief 
Commissioning Officer – 
Children's

Performance Scrutiny

Page 226



20 July 2018
Item Contributor Purpose

Restorative Panels Pilot Andy Cook, Youth 
Offending Manager Policy Review

Partners in Practice
Tara Jones, Children's 
Service Manager – 
Partners in Practice

Policy Review

Corporate Parenting 
Sub Group Update 
(14 June 2018 minutes)

Cllr David Brailsford, 
Chairman of the 
Sub-Group

Member Report

7 September 2018
Item Contributor Purpose

Lincolnshire Safeguarding 
Boards Scrutiny 
Sub-Group Update          
(9 July 2018 minutes)

Cllr Sarah Dodds, 
Chairman of the 
Sub-Group

Member Report

Theme Performance: 
Quarter 1

Sally Savage, Chief 
Commissioning Officer – 
Children's

Performance Scrutiny

19 October 2018
Item Contributor Purpose

Corporate Parenting 
Sub-Group Update (20 
September 2018 minutes)

Cllr David Brailsford, 
Chairman of the Sub 
Group

Member Report

30 November 2018
Item Contributor Purpose

Lincolnshire Safeguarding 
Boards Scrutiny 
Sub-Group Update (18 
October 2018 minutes)

Cllr Sarah Dodds, 
Chairman of the 
Sub-Group

Member Report

Theme Performance: 
Quarter 2

Sally Savage, Chief 
Commissioning Officer – 
Children's

Performance Scrutiny

Items to be programmed

Page 227



 Lincolnshire Learning Partnership (LLP) Strategic Plan and Impact Evaluation, 
including:
 
 educational policy updates and impact in Lincolnshire's schools;
 school improvement, including support for maintained schools and 

academies;
 small rural schools;
 monitoring the changing position and how the Local Authority is 

fulfilling its responsibilities;
 relationship with academies and Regional Schools Commissioner; and
 overview of academies and maintained schools.

 Home to School Transport Policy (The outcome of the scrutiny review in 2016 
on Grammar School Transport was to reconsider the current policy in two 
years' time; this item would include post 16 transport and grammar school 
transport.)

 Significant Place Planning and the Process for School Reorganisation 
 Safeguarding Children and Social Care Work (This item could be considered 

as a workshop.) 
 Inclusive Lincolnshire Strategy
 Funding for Special Educational Needs, and the process behind Education, 

Health and Care Plans
 Educational Progress of Looked After Children (LAC)
 Looked After Children Strategy 
 Post Adoption Support
 Support for Foster Carers

For more information about the work of this Committee please contact Tracy 
Johnson, Senior Scrutiny Officer, on 01522 552164 or by e-mail at 

tracy.johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Page 228

mailto:tracy.johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk


APPENDIX B

FORWARD PLAN OF DECISIONS RELATING TO CHILDREN’S SERVICES FROM 31 JANUARY 2018

DEC
REF

MATTERS
FOR DECISION

DATE OF
DECISION

DECISION
MAKER

PEOPLE/GROUPS
CONSULTED PRIOR 
TO DECISION

DOCUMENTS 
TO BE 
SUBMITTED
FOR 
DECISION

HOW TO COMMENT
ON THE DECISION 
BEFORE IT IS MADE 
AND THE DATE BY 
WHICH COMMENTS 
MUST BE RECEIVED

RESPONSIBLE 
PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER AND CHIEF 
OFFICER

KEY       
DECISION
YES/NO

  DIVISIONS 
AFFECTED

New! Child and 
Adolescent 
Mental Health 
Services 
(CAMHS) 

16 March 
2018 

Executive 
Councillor: 
Adult Care, 
Health and 
Children's 
Services 

Children and Young 
People Scrutiny 
Committee 

Report Jonas Gibson - Children's 
Commissioning Manager - 
Commercial Services Tel: 
01522 553258 e-mail: 
jonas.gibson@lincolnshire.gov
.uk 

Executive Councillor: 
Adult Care, Health 
and Children's 
Services and 
Executive Director of 
Children's Services 

Yes All Divisions 

P
age 229



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee held on 19 January 2018
	5 Proposal to amend the age ranges of Grainthorpe Primary School and Marshchapel Primary School (Final Decision)
	Appendix 1 - Exec Cllr Report
	Appendix A  - Consultation Responses
	Appendix B - Consultation Statutory Notice
	Appendix C - Complete Proposal
	Appendix D - Question and Answer Document

	6 Annual Complaints Report 2016-17
	Annual Complaints 2016-17 - Appendix A

	7 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service
	CAMHS Executive Councillor Report 090318 v 5

	8 Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub-Group - Update
	LSBSSG Update (Appendix A)

	9 Lincolnshire Religious Education Agreed Syllabus
	Appendix 1 - Lincolnshire Religious Education Agreed Syllabus Exec Cllr Report
	Lincolnshire Agreed Syllabus for Religious Education - Exec Cllr Report - Appendix A

	10 Pupil Exclusions - Proposal for a Working Group
	11 Performance - Quarter 3 2017/18
	Appendix A - Council Business Plan Measures
	c15
	c108
	c23
	c24
	c25
	c26
	c45
	c46

	Appendix B - Complaint and Compliments
	Appendix C - Ofsted School Report
	Appendix D - Contract Management (EXEMPT)

	12 Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee Work Programme
	CYPSC Work Programme Appendices


